
Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 1 

R E VI S E D AG E N D A 
( A D D E D  C O N T I N U E D  I T E M S  F R O M  M AR C H  1 2 ,  2 0 2 4 )  

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, March 19, 2024 

6:00 PM
SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM - 1231 ADDISON STREET, BERKELEY, CA 94702 

TELECONFERENCE LOCATION - ROSARITO BEACH HOTEL, BLVD. BENITO 
JUÁREZ 31, ZONA CENTRO, 22700 PLAYAS DE ROSARITO, B.C., MEXICO 

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 
Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – VACANT 
DISTRICT 4 – VACANT  DISTRICT 8 – MARK HUMBERT 

This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual participation. If you 
are feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 

Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet 
accessible video stream at http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244. 

Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom.  To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, 
Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL: https://cityofberkeley-
info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen.  To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 161 848 
4137. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be 
recognized by the Chair. Please be mindful that the meeting will be recorded. 

To submit a written communication for the City Council’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, email 
council@berkeleyca.gov. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect. Any member of the public may 
attend this meeting.  Questions regarding public participation may be addressed to the City Clerk Department 
(510) 981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda.

Pursuant to the City Council Rules of Procedure and State Law, the presiding officer may remove, or cause the 
removal of, an individual for disrupting the meeting. Prior to removing an individual, the presiding officer shall 
warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their failure to cease their behavior may 
result in their removal. The presiding officer may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease their 
disruptive behavior. “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative body that actually 
disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not 
limited to, a failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a legislative body, or engaging in 
behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force.  

Rev - 1

http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137
mailto:council@berkeleyca.gov


   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 2 

Preliminary Matters 
Roll Call:  

Land Acknowledgement Statement: The City of Berkeley recognizes that the community we 
live in was built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun (Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the 
Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the 
sovereign Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all 
of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we 
acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a 
vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside in 
the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s residents have and continue to benefit from the use and 
occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in 1878. As stewards of 
the laws regulating the City of Berkeley, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this land, but 
also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities 
today. The City of Berkeley will continue to build relationships with the Lisjan Tribe and to create 
meaningful actions that uphold the intention of this land acknowledgement. 

Ceremonial Matters: In addition to those items listed on the agenda, the Mayor may add additional 
ceremonial matters. 

1. Presentation: AC Transit Update on the Durant Quick Build Project 

City Manager Comments:  The City Manager may make announcements or provide information to 
the City Council in the form of an oral report.  The Council will not take action on such items but may 
request the City Manager place a report on a future agenda for discussion. 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: Persons will be selected to address matters not on 
the Council agenda.  If five or fewer persons wish to speak, each person selected will be allotted two 
minutes each.  If more than five persons wish to speak, up to ten persons will be selected to address 
matters not on the Council agenda and each person selected will be allotted one minute each. Persons 
attending the meeting in-person and wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Council 
agenda during the initial ten-minute period for such comment, must submit a speaker card to the City 
Clerk in person at the meeting location and prior to commencement of that meeting. The remainder of the 
speakers wishing to address the Council on non-agenda items will be heard at the end of the agenda. 

Public Comment by Employee Unions (first regular meeting of the month): This 
period of public comment is reserved for officially designated representatives of City of Berkeley 
employee unions, with five minutes allocated per union if representatives of three or fewer unions wish to 
speak and up to three minutes per union if representatives of four or more unions wish to speak

 
Consent Calendar 
 The Council will first determine whether to move items on the agenda for “Action” or “Information” to the 

“Consent Calendar”, or move “Consent Calendar” items to “Action.” Three members of the City Council 
must agree to pull an item from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar for it to move to Action. 
Items that remain on the “Consent Calendar” are voted on in one motion as a group. “Information” items 
are not discussed or acted upon at the Council meeting unless they are moved to “Action” or “Consent”. 
No additional items can be moved onto the Consent Calendar once public comment has commenced. At 
any time during, or immediately after, public comment on Information and Consent items, any 
Councilmember may move any Information or Consent item to “Action.” Following this, the Council will 
vote on the items remaining on the Consent Calendar in one motion.  
For items moved to the Action Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons 
who spoke on the item during the Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again at the time 
the matter is taken up during the Action Calendar. 

Rev - 2



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 3 

Public Comment on Consent Calendar and Information Items Only: The Council will 
take public comment on any items that are either on the amended Consent Calendar or the Information 
Calendar.  Speakers will be entitled to two minutes each to speak in opposition to or support of Consent 
Calendar and Information Items.  A speaker may only speak once during the period for public comment 
on Consent Calendar and Information items. 

Additional information regarding public comment by City of Berkeley employees and interns: Employees 
and interns of the City of Berkeley, although not required, are encouraged to identify themselves as such, 
the department in which they work and state whether they are speaking as an individual or in their official 
capacity when addressing the Council in open session or workshops. 
 

Consent Calendar – Continued Business 
 

A. Acquisition of Real Property Located at 1900 Fourth Street (Continued from 
March 12, 2024) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt second reading of Ordinance No. 7,899–N.S. authorizing 
the City to acquire the portion of the West Berkeley Shellmound located at 1900 
Fourth Street and also authorizing the City to transfer that property to the Sogorea 
Te Land Trust, thereby returning the land to the Ohlone people. 
First Reading Vote: All Ayes. 
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Farimah Brown, City Attorney, (510) 981-6950 

 

Consent Calendar 
 

1. Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible 
Issuance After Council Approval on March 19, 2024 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Approve the request for proposals or invitation for bids (attached 
to staff report) that will be, or are planned to be, issued upon final approval by the 
requesting department or division.  All contracts over the City Manager’s threshold 
will be returned to Council for final approval.  
Financial Implications: General Fund - $120,000 
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300 

 

2. Contract No. 32200150 Amendment: Range Maintenance Services LLC for 
Indoor Range Cleaning 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend 
Contract No. 32200150 with Range Maintenance Services LLC to perform indoor 
range cleaning services from $45,000 to an amount not to exceed $150,000 
extending from January 8, 2024 to December 1, 2028.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jennifer Louis, Police, (510) 981-5900 

 

Rev - 3



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 4 

3. Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. for Parking Management 
System, Parking Meter Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay 
Stations 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend 
Contract No. 108090-1 with IPS Group, Inc. to: -Extend the contract from June 30, 
2024 through June 30, 2026 for IPS Group, Inc. to continue servicing parking meters 
and providing replacement parts; - Provide 225 new multi-space pay-by-plate 
stations to replace the existing multi-space pay-and-display stations in the City; and -
Increase the contract amount by $3,865,300 for a total contract amount of 
$12,790,172.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

4. Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control  
Systems) for Extending Parking Access and Revenue Control System 
Maintenance Services and Warranties 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend 
Contract No. 115731-1 (Contract No. 10661B in FUND$) with SKIDATA, Inc. 
(formerly Sentry Control Systems) to provide critical maintenance services and 
warranties for parking access and revenue control system equipment nearing the 
end of its useful life in the City’s three parking garages -- Center Street, Oxford and 
Telegraph Channing -- extending the term by two years to June 30, 2026 and 
increasing the contract amount by $919,815 for a total not-to-exceed of $2,915,355.  
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

5. Grant Application: GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution: Authorizing the City Manager or their 
designee to submit a Grant application in response to the California Energy 
Commission’s solicitation GFO 23-606 Charging Infrastructure for Government 
Fleets Grant Program for City electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure projects; 
Authorizing the City Manager to sign a Letter of Commitment for the local matching 
funds; and Referring the required local match, 30% of the total project cost, to the FY 
2025-2026 Budget process for consideration of the City’s General Fund (Fund 011).  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

6. ***Item Removed by the City Manager*** Purchase Order Extension 
Authorizations for Critical Vendors of Equipment Maintenance Parts and 
Services for Multiple Departments 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Rev - 4



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 5 

7. Purchase Order: Owen Equipment Sales for One Combination Storm Sewer 
Cleaner 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution satisfying requirements of City Charter 
Article XI Section 67.2 allowing the City to participate in Sourcewell (formerly NJPA) 
Contract #101221-VTR and authorizing the City Manager to execute a purchase 
order for one (1) Combination Storm Sewer Cleaner with Owen Equipment Sales in 
an amount not to exceed $665,000.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

8. East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative 
Selection 
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author) 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution to appoint Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf as the 
City of Berkeley’s Representative Member to the East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention 
Coordinating Group, and Councilmember Mark Humbert as the Alternate.  
Financial Implications: None 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100 

 

Action Calendar 
 The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action. For items moved to the Action 

Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons who spoke on the item during the 
Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again during one of the Action Calendar public 
comment periods on the item. Public comment will occur for each Action item (excluding public hearings, 
appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters) in one of two comment periods, either 1) before the Action Calendar 
is discussed; or 2) when the item is taken up by the Council. 

A member of the public may only speak at one of the two public comment periods for any single Action 
item. 

The Presiding Officer will request that persons wishing to speak line up at the podium, or use the "raise 
hand" function in Zoom, to determine the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. Up to ten 
(10) speakers may speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the 
Presiding Officer may limit the public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are 
permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four 
minutes. The Presiding Officer may, with the consent of persons representing both sides of an issue, 
allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue. 

Action items may be reordered at the discretion of the Chair with the consent of Council. 
 

Action Calendar – Scheduled Public Comment Period 
 During this public comment period, the Presiding Officer will open and close a comment period for each 

Action item on this agenda (excluding any public hearings, appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters). The 
public may speak on each item. Those who speak on an item during this comment period may not speak a 
second time when the item is taken up by Council. 

  
 

Rev - 5



Action Calendar – New Business 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 6 

9. Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the Non-Exclusive 
Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications Facilities on City Owned and 
Maintained Streetlight Poles in the Public Right-of-Way 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution approving a Master License Agreement 
template for the non-exclusive installation of small cell telecommunication facilities 
(equipment) by private telecommunication companies on City owned and maintained 
streetlight poles in the public right-of-way.  
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Information Reports 
 

10. Audit Status Report Response: Code Enforcement Resources Significantly 
Constrained and Improvements Needed in Case Management and Oversight 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Peter Radu, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000 

 

11. LPO NOD:  2144 Shattuck Avenue/#LMSAP2023-0007 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

12. LPO NOD: 2274 Shattuck Avenue, #LMIN2023-0003 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

13. Audit Status Reports: Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions & Rocky Road: 
Berkeley Streets At Risk and Significantly Underfunded 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Public Comment – Items Not Listed on the Agenda 

Adjournment 
NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  
1) No lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of 
Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be 
barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use 
permit or variance, the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally 
or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Archived indexed video streams are available at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas. 

Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Rev - 6

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas


 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 7 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the City Clerk Department located on 
the first floor of City Hall located at 2180 Milvia Street as well as posted on the City's website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/. 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas 

and may be read at reference desks at the following locations: 

City Clerk Department - 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor 
Tel:  510-981-6900, TDD:  510-981-6903, Fax:  510-981-6901 

Email:  clerk@berkeleyca.gov 
 

Libraries: Main – 2090 Kittredge Street, 
Claremont Branch – 2940 Benvenue, West Branch – 1125 University, 

North Branch – 1170 The Alameda, Tarea Hall Pittman South Branch – 1901 Russell 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
 
Attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various scents, 
whether natural or manufactured, in products and materials.  Please help the City respect these needs. 
 

 
 

Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet.  In addition, assisted 
listening devices for the hearing impaired are available from the City Clerk prior to the meeting, and are to 
be returned before the end of the meeting. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Berkeley City Council was posted at the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin Luther 
King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on March 14, 2024. 

 

 

 

Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 

Rev - 7

https://berkeleyca.gov/
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
mailto:clerk@berkeleyca.gov


 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 8 

Communications 
Council rules limit action on Communications to referral to the City Manager and/or Boards and 
Commissions for investigation and/or recommendations. All communications submitted to Council are 
public record. Copies of individual communications are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department 
and through Records Online. 

 

Traffic Safety 
1. Jeannette MacMillan 
2. Ana Vasudeo 
3. Arun Dixit 
4. Cara Pine 
 
Train Noise 
5. David Lerman (2) 
6. Lino Ancheta, on behalf of City of Berkey’s Environmental Health 
 
Berkeley Landfill at Cesar Chavez Park 
7. Claudia Kawczynska 
 
Support for Adding Prohibiting Discrimination of the Basis of Family or 

Relationship Structure to BMC Code 13.22 
8. The Woodhull Freedom Foundation 
 
Bike Plans 
9. Walk Bike Berkeley 
 
Restoring Old City Hall and Veterans Buildings 
10. Berkeley Architectural Heritage Association 
 
Berkeley Measure H 
11. Barbara Gilbert 
 
Alta Bates Hospital 
12. Dorothea Dorenz 
13. Lisa Chow 
 
Surveillance Cameras 
14. Police Accountability Board 
 
North Berkeley BART Bonds 
15. David Lerman 
 
SB 330 and Downtown Theaters 
16. Virginia Warheit 
 

Rev - 8

https://records.cityofberkeley.info/


 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 REVISED AGENDA Page 9 

People’s Park 
17. Moni Law (2) 
 
Affordable and Middle Housing 
18. Kaden Nguyen 
19. Owen Thompson-Lastad 
 
Hate Crimes 
20. Atalea Jacob (2) 
 
Fire Alarm Issue at 2510 Bancroft Street 
21. Marlo De La Mora 
 
URL’s Only 
22. Vivian Warkentin 

 
Gaza and Israel 
23. Christina Harb 
24. Kaizen8forever@ 
25. James Mcfadden 
26. Hannah Schlacter 
27. Autumn Goldstein 
28. Barbara Erickson 

 

Supplemental Communications and Reports 
Items received by the deadlines for submission will be compiled and distributed as follows.  If no items 
are received by the deadline, no supplemental packet will be compiled for said deadline. 
 
• Supplemental Communications and Reports 1 

Available by 5:00 p.m. five days prior to the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 2 
Available by 5:00 p.m. the day before the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 3 
Available by 5:00 p.m. two days following the meeting. 

Rev - 9



Rev - 10



Ordinance No. 7,899-N.S. Page 1 of 2

ORDINANCE NO. 7,899-N.S.

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING ACQUISITION OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1900 
FOURTH STREET

BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of Berkeley, as follows:

Section 1. Purpose and Intent.
The purpose and intent of this Ordinance are to rematriate a portion of the historic West 
Berkeley Shellmound to the Ohlone people from whom the land was unjustly taken 
without compensation or consent prior to the founding of the City of Berkeley.

Section 2. Findings.
A. The Ohlone people, indigenous to the region now known as Berkeley, represent an 
enduring culture with deep connections to the land.  The Ohlone had a balanced rather 
than exploitative relationship with the land and lived in harmony with the natural 
environment.  

B. The Shellmound Site is one of the most significant and earliest known Ohlone 
settlements on the shores of San Francisco Bay, with a village dating back 5,700 years.  
It served as a burial and ceremonial ground, as well as a lookout and communications 
site, with the repository of shells, ritual objects, and artifacts forming an impressive 
mound.

C. In the late 19th Century and early 20th Century, shellmounds throughout the Bay Area, 
including the West Berkeley Shellmound, were desecrated.  Gold Rush settlers removed 
Shell material to fertilize farms and line streets.  UC Berkeley archeologists removed 
human burials and an estimated 3,400 artifacts in the 1950s, by which time the leveling 
of the site was complete.
 
D. The West Berkeley Shellmound is one of the few remaining shellmound sites that have 
not been completely destroyed; although it was leveled near the turn of the 20th Century, 
and UC Berkeley archeologists removed many artifacts and human remains from the site.  
The material beneath the current grade has not been excavated.

E. To preserve some of what little is left of the Ohlone people in Berkeley, in 2000 the 
City designated the Shellmound a Landmark and listed it on the California Register of 
Historical Resources.

F. The Sogorea Te Land Trust desires to rematriate the portion of the West Berkeley 
Shellmound that can be restored to the control of the Ohlone people. 

G. The City Council finds that the rematriation of this, the oldest and one of the largest 
shellmounds established in the Bay Area, could partially rectify a historic wrong 
committed by the ancestors of the people of Berkeley against the Ohlone people, while 
promoting historical and cultural understanding of the broader community.

Page 1 of 2

Rev - 11

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
A



Ordinance No. 7,899-N.S. Page 2 of 2

H. The City has not committed, and nothing in this Ordinance commits the City, to approve 
any changes in the land use designation, zoning, or uses currently permitted on the West 
Berkeley Shellmound.

Section 3. Exemption from Environmental Review. 
The City Council finds that rematriation of the Shellmound site to the Ohlone people does 
not commit the City to implement any public improvement or to take any action that may 
result in physical changes in the environment.  Under Section 21065 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) (Pub. Res. Code § 21065) and Section 15378 of the 
CEQA Guidelines (14 Cal. Code Regs. § 15378), the rematriation is not a “project” as 
defined in CEQA.  By approving this Ordinance and restoring title to the Shellmound site 
to the Ohlone people, the City has not, and is not, making any commitment to (a) issue a 
lease, permit, license, certificate, or other entitlement for use, or (b) develop, construct, 
or improve any facilities or cause any other physical changes in the environment. The 
rematriation of the Shellmound is further exempt from environmental review under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15061, paragraphs (b)(2) and (b)(3), and Sections 15301,15304, and 
15325.

Section 4. Acquisition and Transfer of Property. 
The City Manager is hereby authorized to acquire on behalf of the City of Berkeley, the 
real property located at 1900 Fourth Street, Berkeley, CA, APNs 057-2101-001-03 and 
057-2101-005-00 for the price of $27,000,000.00, and to execute all contracts and other 
documents necessary and any other necessary actions to complete the acquisition. The 
City Manager is also authorized to transfer the aforementioned real property to the 
Sogorea Te Land Trust and to execute all contracts and other documents necessary to 
complete the transfer. 

Section 5. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation. 

At a special meeting of the Council of the City of Berkeley held on March 12, 2024, 
this Ordinance was passed to print and ordered published by posting by the following 
vote:

Ayes: Bartlett, Hahn, Humbert, Kesarwani, Taplin, Wengraf, and Arreguin.

Noes: None.

Absent: None.

Page 2 of 2

Rev - 12



Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 1 

AG E N D A  

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 
6:00 PM 

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM - 1231 ADDISON STREET, BERKELEY, CA 94702 

TELECONFERENCE LOCATION - ROSARITO BEACH HOTEL, BLVD. BENITO 
JUÁREZ 31, ZONA CENTRO, 22700 PLAYAS DE ROSARITO, B.C., MEXICO 

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 

Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – VACANT 
DISTRICT 4 – VACANT  DISTRICT 8 – MARK HUMBERT 

This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual participation. If you 
are feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 

Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet 
accessible video stream at http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244. 

Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom.  To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, 
Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL: https://cityofberkeley-
info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen.  To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 (Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 161 848 
4137. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be 
recognized by the Chair. Please be mindful that the meeting will be recorded. 

To submit a written communication for the City Council’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, email 
council@berkeleyca.gov. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect. Any member of the public may 
attend this meeting.  Questions regarding public participation may be addressed to the City Clerk Department 
(510) 981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda.

Pursuant to the City Council Rules of Procedure and State Law, the presiding officer may remove, or cause the 
removal of, an individual for disrupting the meeting. Prior to removing an individual, the presiding officer shall 
warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their failure to cease their behavior may 
result in their removal. The presiding officer may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease their 
disruptive behavior. “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative body that actually 
disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not 
limited to, a failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a legislative body, or engaging in 
behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force.  

Page 1

http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1618484137
mailto:council@berkeleyca.gov


   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 2 

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  

Land Acknowledgement Statement: The City of Berkeley recognizes that the community we 

live in was built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun (Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the 
Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the 
sovereign Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all 
of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we 
acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a 
vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside in 
the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s residents have and continue to benefit from the use and 
occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in 1878. As stewards of 
the laws regulating the City of Berkeley, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this land, but 
also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities 
today. The City of Berkeley will continue to build relationships with the Lisjan Tribe and to create 
meaningful actions that uphold the intention of this land acknowledgement. 

Ceremonial Matters: In addition to those items listed on the agenda, the Mayor may add additional 

ceremonial matters. 

1. Presentation: AC Transit Update on the Durant Quick Build Project 

City Manager Comments:  The City Manager may make announcements or provide information to 

the City Council in the form of an oral report.  The Council will not take action on such items but may 
request the City Manager place a report on a future agenda for discussion. 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: Persons will be selected to address matters not on 

the Council agenda.  If five or fewer persons wish to speak, each person selected will be allotted two 
minutes each.  If more than five persons wish to speak, up to ten persons will be selected to address 
matters not on the Council agenda and each person selected will be allotted one minute each. Persons 
attending the meeting in-person and wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Council 
agenda during the initial ten-minute period for such comment, must submit a speaker card to the City 
Clerk in person at the meeting location and prior to commencement of that meeting. The remainder of the 
speakers wishing to address the Council on non-agenda items will be heard at the end of the agenda. 

Public Comment by Employee Unions (first regular meeting of the month): This 

period of public comment is reserved for officially designated representatives of City of Berkeley 
employee unions, with five minutes allocated per union if representatives of three or fewer unions wish to 
speak and up to three minutes per union if representatives of four or more unions wish to speak

 

Consent Calendar 

 The Council will first determine whether to move items on the agenda for “Action” or “Information” to the 
“Consent Calendar”, or move “Consent Calendar” items to “Action.” Three members of the City Council 
must agree to pull an item from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar for it to move to Action. 
Items that remain on the “Consent Calendar” are voted on in one motion as a group. “Information” items 
are not discussed or acted upon at the Council meeting unless they are moved to “Action” or “Consent”. 

No additional items can be moved onto the Consent Calendar once public comment has commenced. At 
any time during, or immediately after, public comment on Information and Consent items, any 
Councilmember may move any Information or Consent item to “Action.” Following this, the Council will 
vote on the items remaining on the Consent Calendar in one motion.  

For items moved to the Action Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons 
who spoke on the item during the Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again at the time 
the matter is taken up during the Action Calendar. 

Page 2



Consent Calendar  

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 3 

Public Comment on Consent Calendar and Information Items Only: The Council will 

take public comment on any items that are either on the amended Consent Calendar or the Information 
Calendar.  Speakers will be entitled to two minutes each to speak in opposition to or support of Consent 
Calendar and Information Items.  A speaker may only speak once during the period for public comment 
on Consent Calendar and Information items. 

Additional information regarding public comment by City of Berkeley employees and interns: Employees 
and interns of the City of Berkeley, although not required, are encouraged to identify themselves as such, 
the department in which they work and state whether they are speaking as an individual or in their official 
capacity when addressing the Council in open session or workshops. 

Consent Calendar 

1. Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible
Issuance After Council Approval on March 19, 2024
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Approve the request for proposals or invitation for bids (attached
to staff report) that will be, or are planned to be, issued upon final approval by the
requesting department or division.  All contracts over the City Manager’s threshold
will be returned to Council for final approval.
Financial Implications: General Fund - $120,000
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300

2. Contract No. 32200150 Amendment: Range Maintenance Services LLC for
Indoor Range Cleaning
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend
Contract No. 32200150 with Range Maintenance Services LLC to perform indoor
range cleaning services from $45,000 to an amount not to exceed $150,000
extending from January 8, 2024 to December 1, 2028.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Jennifer Louis, Police, (510) 981-5900

3. Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. for Parking Management
System, Parking Meter Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay
Stations
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend
Contract No. 108090-1 with IPS Group, Inc. to: -Extend the contract from June 30,
2024 through June 30, 2026 for IPS Group, Inc. to continue servicing parking meters
and providing replacement parts; - Provide 225 new multi-space pay-by-plate
stations to replace the existing multi-space pay-and-display stations in the City; and -
Increase the contract amount by $3,865,300 for a total contract amount of
$12,790,172.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300

Page 3



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 4 

4. Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control  
Systems) for Extending Parking Access and Revenue Control System 
Maintenance Services and Warranties 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend 
Contract No. 115731-1 (Contract No. 10661B in FUND$) with SKIDATA, Inc. 
(formerly Sentry Control Systems) to provide critical maintenance services and 
warranties for parking access and revenue control system equipment nearing the 
end of its useful life in the City’s three parking garages -- Center Street, Oxford and 
Telegraph Channing -- extending the term by two years to June 30, 2026 and 
increasing the contract amount by $919,815 for a total not-to-exceed of $2,915,355.  
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

5. Grant Application: GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution: Authorizing the City Manager or their 
designee to submit a Grant application in response to the California Energy 
Commission’s solicitation GFO 23-606 Charging Infrastructure for Government 
Fleets Grant Program for City electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure projects; 
Authorizing the City Manager to sign a Letter of Commitment for the local matching 
funds; and Referring the required local match, 30% of the total project cost, to the FY 
2025-2026 Budget process for consideration of the City’s General Fund (Fund 011).  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

6. ***Item Removed by the City Manager*** Purchase Order Extension 
Authorizations for Critical Vendors of Equipment Maintenance Parts and 
Services for Multiple Departments 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

7. Purchase Order: Owen Equipment Sales for One Combination Storm Sewer 
Cleaner 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution satisfying requirements of City Charter 
Article XI Section 67.2 allowing the City to participate in Sourcewell (formerly NJPA) 
Contract #101221-VTR and authorizing the City Manager to execute a purchase 
order for one (1) Combination Storm Sewer Cleaner with Owen Equipment Sales in 
an amount not to exceed $665,000.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Page 4



Council Consent Items

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 5 

8. East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative
Selection
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author)
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution to appoint Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf as the
City of Berkeley’s Representative Member to the East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention
Coordinating Group, and Councilmember Mark Humbert as the Alternate.
Financial Implications: None
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

Action Calendar 

The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action. For items moved to the Action 
Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons who spoke on the item during the 
Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again during one of the Action Calendar public 
comment periods on the item. Public comment will occur for each Action item (excluding public hearings, 
appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters) in one of two comment periods, either 1) before the Action Calendar 
is discussed; or 2) when the item is taken up by the Council. 

A member of the public may only speak at one of the two public comment periods for any single Action 
item. 

The Presiding Officer will request that persons wishing to speak line up at the podium, or use the "raise 
hand" function in Zoom, to determine the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. Up to ten 
(10) speakers may speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the
Presiding Officer may limit the public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are
permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four
minutes. The Presiding Officer may, with the consent of persons representing both sides of an issue,
allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue.

Action items may be reordered at the discretion of the Chair with the consent of Council. 

Action Calendar – Scheduled Public Comment Period 

During this public comment period, the Presiding Officer will open and close a comment period for each 
Action item on this agenda (excluding any public hearings, appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters). The 
public may speak on each item. Those who speak on an item during this comment period may not speak a 
second time when the item is taken up by Council. 

Action Calendar – New Business 

9. Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the Non-Exclusive
Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications Facilities on City Owned and
Maintained Streetlight Poles in the Public Right-of-Way
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution approving a Master License Agreement
template for the non-exclusive installation of small cell telecommunication facilities
(equipment) by private telecommunication companies on City owned and maintained
streetlight poles in the public right-of-way.
Financial Implications: See report.
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300

Page 5



Information Reports 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 6 

10. Audit Status Report Response: Code Enforcement Resources Significantly 
Constrained and Improvements Needed in Case Management and Oversight 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Peter Radu, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000 

 

11. LPO NOD:  2144 Shattuck Avenue/#LMSAP2023-0007 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

12. LPO NOD: 2274 Shattuck Avenue, #LMIN2023-0003 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

13. Audit Status Reports: Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions & Rocky Road: 
Berkeley Streets At Risk and Significantly Underfunded 
From: City Manager 
Contact: Andrew Murray, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Public Comment – Items Not Listed on the Agenda 

Adjournment 

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  
1) No lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of 
Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be 
barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use 
permit or variance, the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally 
or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Archived indexed video streams are available at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas. 

Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the City Clerk Department located on 
the first floor of City Hall located at 2180 Milvia Street as well as posted on the City's website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/. 

Page 6

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
https://berkeleyca.gov/


 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 7 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas 

and may be read at reference desks at the following locations: 

City Clerk Department - 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor 
Tel:  510-981-6900, TDD:  510-981-6903, Fax:  510-981-6901 

Email:  clerk@berkeleyca.gov 
 

Libraries: Main – 2090 Kittredge Street, 
Claremont Branch – 2940 Benvenue, West Branch – 1125 University, 

North Branch – 1170 The Alameda, Tarea Hall Pittman South Branch – 1901 Russell 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
 
Attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various scents, 
whether natural or manufactured, in products and materials.  Please help the City respect these needs. 
 

 
 

Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet.  In addition, assisted 
listening devices for the hearing impaired are available from the City Clerk prior to the meeting, and are to 
be returned before the end of the meeting. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Berkeley City Council was posted at the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin Luther 
King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on March 7, 2024. 

 

 

 

Mark Numainville, City Clerk 

 

Communications 

Council rules limit action on Communications to referral to the City Manager and/or Boards and 
Commissions for investigation and/or recommendations. All communications submitted to Council are 
public record. Copies of individual communications are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department 
and through Records Online. 

 

Traffic Safety 
1. Jeannette MacMillan 
2. Ana Vasudeo 
3. Arun Dixit 

Page 7

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
mailto:clerk@berkeleyca.gov
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/


 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 8 

4. Cara Pine 
 
Train Noise 
5. David Lerman (2) 
6. Lino Ancheta, on behalf of City of Berkey’s Environmental Health 
 
Berkeley Landfill at Cesar Chavez Park 
7. Claudia Kawczynska 
 
Support for Adding Prohibiting Discrimination of the Basis of Family or 

Relationship Structure to BMC Code 13.22 
8. The Woodhull Freedom Foundation 
 
Bike Plans 
9. Walk Bike Berkeley 
 
Restoring Old City Hall and Veterans Buildings 
10. Berkeley Architectural Heritage Association 
 
Berkeley Measure H 
11. Barbara Gilbert 
 
Alta Bates Hospital 
12. Dorothea Dorenz 
13. Lisa Chow 
 
Surveillance Cameras 
14. Police Accountability Board 
 
North Berkeley BART Bonds 
15. David Lerman 
 
SB 330 and Downtown Theaters 
16. Virginia Warheit 
 
People’s Park 
17. Moni Law (2) 
 
Affordable and Middle Housing 
18. Kaden Nguyen 
19. Owen Thompson-Lastad 
 
Hate Crimes 
20. Atalea Jacob (2) 

 
 

Page 8



 

Tuesday, March 19, 2024 AGENDA Page 9 

Fire Alarm Issue at 2510 Bancroft Street 
21. Marlo De La Mora 
 
URL’s Only 
22. Vivian Warkentin 

 
Gaza and Israel 
23. Christina Harb 
24. Kaizen8forever@ 
25. James Mcfadden 
26. Hannah Schlacter 
27. Autumn Goldstein 
28. Barbara Erickson 

 

Supplemental Communications and Reports 
Items received by the deadlines for submission will be compiled and distributed as follows.  If no items 
are received by the deadline, no supplemental packet will be compiled for said deadline. 

 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 1 
Available by 5:00 p.m. five days prior to the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 2 
Available by 5:00 p.m. the day before the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 3 
Available by 5:00 p.m. two days following the meeting. 

Page 9



Page 10



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by:       Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance 

Subject: Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible 
Issuance After Council Approval on March 19, 2024

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the request for proposals or invitation for bids (attached to staff report) that will 
be, or are planned to be, issued upon final approval by the requesting department or 
division.  All contracts over the City Manager’s threshold will be returned to Council for 
final approval.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Total estimated cost of items included in this report is $120,000

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On May, 6, 2008, Council adopted Ordinance No. 7,035-N.S. effective June 6, 2008, 
which increased the City Manager’s purchasing authority for services to $50,000.  As a 
result, this required report submitted by the City Manager to Council is now for those 
purchases in excess of $100,000 for goods; and $200,000 for playgrounds and 
construction; and $50,000 for services.  If Council does not object to these items being 
sent out for bid or proposal within one week of them appearing on the agenda, and 
upon final notice to proceed from the requesting department, the IFB (Invitation for Bid) 
or RFP (Request for Proposal) may be released to the public and notices sent to the 
potential bidder/respondent list.

PROJECT Fund Source Amount

Independent Third-Party 
Audit of Payroll Audit 
Division

011 General Fund $120,000

Total: $120,000

Page 1 of 3 01

Page 11

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager


  
Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals CONSENT CALENDAR
Scheduled for Possible Issuance After Council                   March 19, 2024
Approval on March 19, 2024

BACKGROUND
On May 6, 2008, Council adopted Ordinance No. 7,035-N.S., amending the City 
Manager’s purchasing authority for services.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The Finance Department reviews all formal bid and proposal solicitations to ensure that 
they include provisions for compliance with the City’s environmental policies.  For each 
contract that is subject to City Council authorization, staff will address environmental 
sustainability considerations in the associated staff report to City Council. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Need for the goods and/or services.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Darryl Sweet, General Services Manager, Finance, 510-981-7329

Attachments:  
1: Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible Issuance
    After Council Approval on March 19, 2024

a. Independent Third-Party Audit of Payroll Audit Division

Note:  Original of this attachment with live signature of authorizing personnel is on file in 
General Services.

Page 2 of 3

Page 12



NEXT 30 DAYS
DATE SUBMITTED: MARCH 19, 2024

   Attachment 1

SPECIFICATION
NO.

DESCRIPTION OF
GOODS /

SERVICES BEING
PURCHASED

APPROX.
RELEASE

DATE

APPROX. BID
OPENING DATE

INTENDED USE ESTIMATED COST BUDGET CODE TO BE
CHARGED

DEPT. / DIVISION CONTACT NAME
& PHONE

24-11660-C Independent Third-
Party Audit of Payroll
Audit Division

3/20/2024 4/19/2024 Independent Internal
Controls/Performance Audit of the
Payroll Audit Division to Generally
Accepted Government Standards
(GAGAS)

$120,000.00 PROF SVCS –
MISCELLANEOUS
011-12-122-000-0000-

000-411-612990-

City Auditor’s
Office/Performance
AuditCapital Projects

Erin Mullin
(510) 981-6756
x6432

DEPT. TOTAL
 

$ 120,000.00

TOTAL $ 120,000.00

1 of  1

Page 3 of 3

Page 13



Page 14



Office of the City Manager
CONSENT CALENDAR 
March 19, 2024 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council  

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager  

Submitted by: Jennifer Louis, Police Chief  

Subject: Contract No. 32200150 Amendment: Range Maintenance Services LLC 
for Indoor Range Cleaning 

RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend Contract No. 32200150 with 
Range Maintenance Services LLC to perform indoor range cleaning services from 
$45,000 to an amount not to exceed $150,000 extending from January 8, 2024 to 
December 1, 2028.   
  
FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION  
The recommended amendment will allocate an additional $105,000 to the existing 
Range Maintenance Services LLC contract. These funds will be sourced from the Police 
General Fund Budget. 
  
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS  
The current contract with Range Maintenance Services LLC has been effective in 
maintaining the cleanliness and functionality of the city’s indoor range, ensuring a safe 
environment for firearms training and State and City required firearms qualifications. 
The Department has worked with Range Maintenance Services since 2002. 

The department’s indoor range is in operation 24 hours per day, seven days per week 
and is only for use by Berkeley Police. The facilities' main purpose is to provide a 
climate controlled all-indoor range for the Department’s police officers who are required 
to complete periodic firearms trainings.  

It is imperative for the Department to keep its gun range facility clean and safe. The City 
must protect its employees from lead and gaseous pollutants, which are common 
dangers of an indoor gun range. In order to protect the health of all range users and the 
long-term health of the facility, BPD’s range will continue to undergo a series of 
maintenance services including preventative maintenance of the target system, 
preventative maintenance of the bullet trap, preventative maintenance of the air handler, 
and perform cleaning of the bullet trap, including filter replacement and hazardous 
waste disposal. 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Page 1 of 3 02

Page 15

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


  
CONSENT CALENDAR

MARCH 19, 2024
 

Page 2

  
The City of Berkeley Toxics Management Team inspects and regulates the range facility 
to ensure that the facility is safe for employees to use. 
 
BACKGROUND  
Due to the specialized nature of range cleaning services, the department has been 
challenged to find suitable providers to ensure the indoor range's property range 
maintenance and cleanliness. We contacted other vendors, and they either would not 
come to our range due to the small size or they would charge a significantly higher fee 
than what we would get with Range Maintenance Services. The existing contract with 
Range Maintenance Services LLC has proven effective in providing the needed 
services. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS  
Maintaining a clean range is important for the health and safety of range users and 
contributes to environmental sustainability. Proper cleaning and maintenance practices 
help to minimize the release of ammunition dust and other contaminants into the 
environment, reducing the potential health impact on the staff.   
 
RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION  
Maintaining a clean range is essential for the safety and well-being of range users and 
instructors. By continuing the contract with Range Maintenance Services LLC, the City 
will ensure that the indoor range remains clean, functional, and safe for firearms training 
and qualifications. This will contribute to the overall safety and experience of the range 
users while maintaining the City and police department’s commitment to public health 
and safety. 
 
ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED  
The alternative action considered was to continue searching for additional providers of 
range cleaning services through a competitive procurement process. However, Range 
Maintenance Services has been a trusted and reliable contractor for the Department for 
more than twenty years.  
 
CONTACT PERSON  
Jennifer Louis, Police Chief, (510) 981-5700  

Attachments:   
1: Resolution   
 
  
 

Page 2 of 3

Page 16



  
CONSENT CALENDAR-MARCH 19, 2024

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 32200150 AMENDMENT: RANGE MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES FOR RANGE CLEANING  

  
WHEREAS, Range Maintenance Services LLC is a reputable range cleaning service 
provider, and 

WHEREAS, maintaining a clean and safe range environment is crucial for the well-being 
of our employees and the community, and 

WHEREAS, Range Maintenance Services LLC has demonstrated expertise and 
efficiency in their range cleaning services, and 

WHEREAS, the City of Berkeley recognizes the importance of maintaining a clean and 
safe indoor range space, and 

WHEREAS, Range Maintenance Services LLC has been identified as a trusted partner 
in providing range cleaning services at reasonable prices.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to amend  Contract No. 32200150 with Range Maintenance 
Services LLC for range cleaning services extending through December 1, 2028, with a 
total contract value not to exceed $150,000. 

Page 3 of 3

Page 17

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Page 18



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@berkeleyca.gov  Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. for Parking Management 
System, Parking Meter Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay 
Stations

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend Contract No. 108090-1 with 
IPS Group, Inc. to:

 Extend the contract from June 30, 2024 through June 30, 2026 for IPS Group,
Inc. to continue servicing parking meters and providing replacement parts;

 Provide 225 new multi-space pay-by-plate stations to replace the existing multi-
space pay-and-display stations in the City; and

 Increase the contract amount by $3,865,300 for a total contract amount of
$12,790,172.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The contract amendment will increase IPS Group, Inc.’s total contract amount by 
$3,865,300 for a total contract amount not-to-exceed of $12,790,172. Funding is 
available in the Parking Meter Fund (Fund 631) in the amount of $3,029,075 for FY 
2025 and $836,225 for FY 2026. Below is a table of anticipated annual expenditures:

FY 2025 FY 2026
System Service, Equipment 
Maintenance and Parts $1,241,796 $836,225
Multi-space Pay Station Hardware $1,787,279 n/a

SUBTOTAL $3,029,075 $836,225
FY 25-26 

TOTAL $3,865,300

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City uses 2,032 single-space parking meters and 243 multi-space pay stations 
supplied by IPS Group, Inc. to manage public on-street parking in commercial districts 
throughout the City. IPS “smart” meters and pay stations accept coin and credit card 
payments and are equipped with T-Mobile and Verizon modems allowing them to 

Page 1 of 5 03

Page 19

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
https://berkeleyca.gov/


Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. CONSENT CALENDAR
for Parking Management System, Parking Meter March 19, 2024
Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay Stations

Page 2

connect to cellular networks for programming and to send transaction-related 
information. Staff retrieves transaction data and program meters via a web-based 
software operating system that is maintained by the vendor.

The City implemented the use of IPS smart single-space meters starting in the end of 
2010, and by the end of 2014, IPS smart meters were installed citywide. Subsequently, 
IPS multi-space pay-and-display stations were installed in 2015. The equipment has 
proven to be a cost-effective parking management mechanism, positively impacting 
operations by making it easier for customers to pay for parking while improving the 
integrity of parking data for staff. The City assumes a ten-year operable lifespan for 
single-space meters, and seven years for pay stations. Over eight years have elapsed 
since the pay-and-display stations were installed and therefore replacement is overdue.

IPS Group, Inc. will provide 225 multi-space pay-by-plate pay stations, replacement 
parts, supplies, wireless data connection fees, system licenses, and repair services to 
replace the existing pay stations and to continue servicing the single-space meters, 
which were replaced over the past several years. There are 243 IPS pay-and-display 
stations in the City, but only 225 new IPS pay-by-plate stations are needed. Thirteen 
pay-by-plate stations were previously installed as part of the SmartSpace Parking Pilot 
Program in 2022, and five pay-and-display stations were removed for construction of 
the Southside Complete Streets Project. Without replacement of the multi-space pay 
stations, which are past their operable lifespan, the equipment is prone to functionality 
issues that would impact all payment/revenue transaction, setting rates and time limits, 
and alerting staff to malfunctions. This amendment will replace 225 multi-space pay 
stations to ensure an operable equipment lifespan of seven more years, and maintain 
the City’s remaining parking meter equipment and system for two additional years.

Amending the contract supports the Strategic Plan Priority Project of advancing our goal 
of creating a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared city.

BACKGROUND
The City has used IPS “smart” coin and credit card meters since adopting Resolution 
No. 65,119-N.S. on December 7, 2010, when they were introduced in the grant-funded 
Berkeley Transportation Action Plan (B-TAP) to facilitate demand-responsive pricing 
and time limit adjustments. The B-TAP pilot project was later renamed the goBerkeley 
parking management program, and became a permanent baseline program in 2015.

In November 2015, the City entered into a contract with IPS Group, Inc. after adopting 
Resolution No. 67,093-N.S. The contract was extended via amendments authorized by 
Resolution No. 69,419-N.S. on May 26, 2020, and again after Resolution No. 70,237-
N.S. was adopted on February 22, 2022. The original contract and subsequent 
amendments provided funding for critical infrastructure upgrades for cellular network 
connectivity and extended the contract to June 30, 2024. These upgrades have not yet 

Page 2 of 5

Page 20



Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. CONSENT CALENDAR
for Parking Management System, Parking Meter March 19, 2024
Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay Stations

Page 3

been completed due to vacancies within Public Works, including the Parking Services 
Manager, the senior-most parking staff member.

Replacing pay-and-display with pay-by-plate pay stations comes with many benefits. 
Pay-by-plate gives the option to pay at any pay station on the block. If you pay for 
parking but leave prior to expiration, you may return to the same block and park without 
paying again, as long as you are within the original paid time. It streamlines 
enforcement, giving parking control officers more time to focus on safety issues like 
double-parking and neighborhood issues like residential permit parking enforcement.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Both parking meter types are powered by environmentally friendly solar panels and a 
combination rechargeable and back-up battery pack. The pay stations include sensors 
that conserve battery life from the LED lighting that is illuminated with detection of 
customer presence or when a transaction is initiated. Additionally, proximity sensors in 
pay stations will “awaken” a meter upon a customer’s arrival, maximizing efficiency.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The IPS parking meter system, including single-space meters and pay stations, the 
web-based meter programming software, replacement parts, and support services are 
required to maintain the City’s parking management operations, which generate 
revenue for the City. Currently the City has 225 multi-space pay stations that are past 
their operable lifespan and require replacement. Replacing the 225 pay stations in 2024 
will reduce the City’s expenses related to pay station maintenance over the next seven 
years (their operable lifespan). Other operational benefits of replacing existing pay-and-
display pay stations with pay-by-plate pay stations are described in “Background”. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Council could decide not to extend the term of the contract or extend it for one year 
instead of two. If Council were to decide not to extend the contract, meter and pay 
station software and hardware would not be serviced by IPS Group, Inc., leaving the 
City without a parking management system and no parking meter revenue. Extending 
the contract by one year instead of two would severely constrain the time available for 
staff to manage a complex procurement process for a new vendor to provide a 
replacement parking management system. Given current vacancies within Public 
Works’ Transportation Division, there is not sufficient staffing to undertake this effort in 
less than two years. Additionally, a two-year extension allows the City to lock in current 
parts and services costs, protecting against future vendor price increases.

Council could decide not to acquire 225 pay stations to replace existing pay stations in 
the City. However, since the existing pay stations are past their operable lifespan, the 
City would be obligated to service outdated machines and the cost for service would 
likely exceed the cost of replacement over the next seven years. 

Page 3 of 5

Page 21



Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment: IPS Group, Inc. CONSENT CALENDAR
for Parking Management System, Parking Meter March 19, 2024
Maintenance, and Conversion to Pay-by-Plate Pay Stations

Page 4

CONTACT PERSON
Kim Pham, Co-Acting Parking Services Manager (510) 981-6445
Noah Budnick, Co-Acting Parking Services Manager (510) 981-7069
Elliott Schwimmer, Senior Planner, Public Works, (510) 981-7066

Attachments: 
1: Resolution 

Page 4 of 5

Page 22



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 108090-1 AMENDMENT: IPS GROUP, INC. FOR PARKING 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, PARKING METER MAINTENANCE, AND CONVERSION TO 
PAY-BY-PLATE PAY STATIONS

WHEREAS, on June 23, 2015 by Resolution No.67,093-N.S. the Council authorized 
Contract No. 108090-1 with IPS Group, Inc. for multi-space and single space parking 
meters, parts, supplies, and fees for wireless data connections, system licenses, software 
escrow, and warranties; and

WHEREAS, IPS pay-by-plate pay stations accept coin and credit card payments, and 
were originally equipped with T-Mobile and Verizon 2G modems allowing them to connect 
to cellular networks to receive programming and send transaction-related information; 
and

WHEREAS, the City purchased and installed IPS single-space meters and multi-space 
pay stations from November 2015 to June 2017, for which the contract provides a data 
management system, replacement parts, support, fees, and licenses; and

WHEREAS, the current 225 multi-space pay stations have been used for eight years, 
which is past their operable lifespan of seven years; and

WHEREAS, the multi-space pay station replacement is needed to support all meter 
functionality, including: all payment/revenue transactions, setting rates and time limits, 
and alerting staff to malfunctions; and without the upgrades, these activities will not be 
possible; and

WHEREAS, the contract was last amended on February 22, 2022 following Council 
authorization via Resolution No. 70,237-N.S., and is set to expire June 30, 2024; and

WHEREAS, Council approval is needed to extend the contract through June 30, 2026, to 
ensure the existing meter system is upgraded and maintained; and

WHEREAS, the funding of $3,865,300 for the contract amendment is from the Parking 
Meter Fund (Fund 631) is subject to appropriation in FY 2025 and FY 2026; and

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to amend Contract No. 108090-1 with IPS Group, Inc. for a 
total amount not to exceed of $12,790,172 through June 30, 2026, for pay station 
replacements, replacement parts, system maintenance, fees, and licenses.

Page 5 of 5

Page 23



Page 24



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control 
Systems) for Extending Parking Access and Revenue Control System 
Maintenance Services and Warranties

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to amend Contract No. 115731-1 
(Contract No. 10661B in FUND$) with SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control 
Systems) to provide critical maintenance services and warranties for parking access 
and revenue control system equipment nearing the end of its useful life in the City’s 
three parking garages -- Center Street, Oxford and Telegraph Channing -- extending 
the term by two years to June 30, 2026 and increasing the contract amount by 
$919,815 for a total not-to-exceed of $2,915,355.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funding for the contract amendment of the SKIDATA Parking Access and Revenue 
Control System (PARCS) is available in the FY 2024 Off-Street Parking Fund (627) 
budget and is subject to appropriation in the Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 and FY 2026 
budgets.

Current contract amount ................................................................$ 1,995,540
Amended contract amount (through FY26)      $    919,815
Total NTE              $ 2,915,355

Below is a table of anticipated annual expenditures:

FY25 FY26 SUBTOTAL
Operations - IT Management 

Service, Software $215,691.90 $221,562.66 $437,254.57
Service, Equipment 

Maintenance and Parts $56,817.48 $56,817.48 $113,634.97
 Capital Improvements $368,924.77 n/a $368,924.77

FY25-26 TOTAL $919,814.30

Page 1 of 5 04

Page 25

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

Page 2

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City entered into its current contract with SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control 
Systems) on July 1, 2017, with Resolution No. 68,009-N.S. This contract provides 
preventative maintenance, parts, and software for the Parking Access and Revenue 
Control System (PARCS) and the parking guidance system (PGS) equipment at the 
City’s three public parking garages. On October 27, 2020, with Resolution No. 69,594-
N.S., Council authorized the current contract amendment to provide funding for 
warranty coverage of the Center Street Garage’s new parking guidance system. This 
current contract, including the warranties on much of the equipment, is currently set to 
expire June 30, 2024. SKIDATA is the core technology that powers the access control 
and payment systems at the City’s three garages.

To ensure professional operations and high-quality customer service at the Center 
Street, Oxford and Telegraph Channing garages, the City continuously maintains and 
invests in the systems that support our garages. Over the next two fiscal years, 
baseline service and operations for SKIDATA’s systems will cost approximately 
$225,000 a year. This includes software, IT support and maintenance.

The City needs to make capital improvements to the equipment that collects customer 
payments and controls access to the garages. This equipment has reached the end of 
its lifespan. In particular, the “Pay on Foot” (POF) kiosks, where customers pay for 
parking, need to be replaced. They are 13-years old (far exceeding their ten-year 
lifespan and warranty, which expires on June 30, 2024). This one-time capital expense 
totals approximately $275,000. The new kiosks will have a lifespan of approximately 
ten years. The City also needs to upgrade the security systems at the garages’ staff 
entrances; this will cost an estimated $50,000. In the City’s continuous effort to 
improve customer service, the new contract with SKIDATA will also invest $32,000 in 
digital signage for the Center Street Garage that will tell customers how many parking 
spaces are available. Together, these capital costs total approximately $370,000, 
including $10,000 in taxes.

Not replacing old equipment and upgrading related systems puts garage operations, 
customer service and revenue at risk. Old equipment is more likely to breakdown, 
become inoperable and require expensive parts and maintenance. Service, 
maintenance and repair costs will be cheaper over the recommended extended 
agreement length. Since vendor parts and service costs increase over time, staff seek 
to 'lock in' current rates for maintenance services in the contract. SKIDATA's warranty 
extension 'locks in' pricing on all of the City's equipment through FY 2026. 

Extending SKIDATA, Inc. Parking Access and Revenue Control System Maintenance 
Services and Warranties and making capital improvements are Strategic Plan Priority 
Projects, advancing our goal to provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, 
amenities, and facilities.

Page 2 of 5

Page 26



Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

Page 3

BACKGROUND
In March 2012, based on a recommendation from the City Auditor to fully automate the 
garage revenue system, the City purchased SKIDATA PARCS equipment for its three 
public parking garages: Center Street, Oxford and Telegraph Channing. Sentry Control 
Systems (now SKIDATA, Inc.) installed and currently maintains the revenue system, 
and provides periodic Payment Card Industry (PCI) compliance upgrades. SKIDATA 
has provided reliable access control and payment systems for the City’s garages, 
meeting public expectations for customer service and ensuring a revenue stream that 
helps meets the City’s bond obligation for the Center Street Garage, maintaining the 
credit rating of the City of Berkeley.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The City’s three parking garages are part of the City’s goBerkeley demand-responsive 
parking program and play an important role in improving parking turnover, which 
reduces the amount of time people drive to look for parking, thus reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions in the Downtown Berkeley and Southside/Telegraph areas.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Key pieces of the City’s garage access control and revenue systems are in need of 
replacement. Extending the contract term and increasing the contract amount will 
allow the City to cover needed costs in Fiscal Years 2025 and 2026 and to lock in 
lower service and maintenance costs and a new warranty, saving money over time. 
These costs will be paid for out of the self-supporting parking fund and do not have an 
impact on the City’s General Fund.

Much of the SKIDATA equipment the City installed in the three public parking garages 
has exceeded its ten-year lifespan. Maintenance and repair will become much more 
costly as this old equipment is less reliable and replacement parts are harder to obtain. 
This will erode the quality of customer service and puts garage revenue, the Center 
Street Garage bond and the City’s credit rating at risk. 
Well-running equipment allows the City to collect this revenue without service 
interruptions. This is critical for making bond payments on the Center Street Garage 
and maintaining the City’s bond rating. Additional revenue also supports the City’s 
current and future fiscal health.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
If this contract amendment is not approved, funding will be unavailable for critical 
maintenance and upgrades of the City’s garage access control and payment 
equipment. The effects of malfunctioning or inoperable equipment are far reaching. If 
equipment fails, the City may need to revert to processing payment transactions 
manually at parking facilities, resulting in higher contractor costs. Alternatively, the City 
would need to shut down any malfunctioning off-street parking facility entirely, resulting 
in loss of revenue that would risk the fiscal health of programs and bond payments 

Page 3 of 5

Page 27



Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment: SKIDATA, Inc CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

Page 4

reliant on this source of funding. It would also put the City of Berkeley’s credit rating at 
risk.

CONTACT PERSON
Hamid Mostowfi, Transportation Division Manager (510) 981-6403
Noah Budnick, Senior Management Analyst, Transportation and Engineering Divisions 
(510) 981-7069

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Page 4 of 5

Page 28



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 115731-1 AMENDMENT: SKIDATA, INC. (FORMERLY SENTRY 
CONTROL SYSTEMS) FOR MAINTENANCE AND WARRANTIES AND EXTENSION 
OF CONTRACT TERM

WHEREAS, the City owns and operates three public parking facilities with automated 
entry/exit and payment capabilities; and

WHEREAS, the City is currently under contract with SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry 
Control Systems) to install and maintain the Parking Access and Revenue Control System 
(PARCS) at the three facilities; and

WHEREAS, FUND$ Contract No.10661 was executed July 1, 2017 as authorized by 
Resolution No. 68,009-N.S., was subsequently amended on September 14, 2017 with the 
same Council authorization, to include maintenance and extended warranties, and will 
expire June 30, 2024; and

WHEREAS, the contract was amended on October 27, 2020, with Resolution No. 69,594-
N.S., to provide warranty coverage for the Center Street Garage’s new parking guidance 
system, but was scaled back in scope due to COVID-19 cost considerations; and 

WHEREAS, PARCS equipment in the City’s three public parking facilities is now thirteen 
years old and in need of routine parts replacement; and 

WHEREAS, extending the contract term an additional two years until June 30, 2026 will 
lock in lower cost warranty rates for all of the City’s PARCS equipment and allow staff 
adequate time to conduct an RFP process for replacement equipment; and 

WHEREAS, funding for extending maintenance and warranties for existing equipment 
through FY 2026 is subject to appropriation in each fiscal year of the contract term in the 
Off-Street Parking Fund (Fund 627). 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute an amendment to Contract No. 115731-1 with 
SKIDATA, Inc. (formerly Sentry Control Systems) to provide maintenance services and 
warranties for parking access and revenue control system equipment, increasing the 
contract amount by $919,815 for a total not-to-exceed amount of $2,915,355, and 
extending the contract term by two years to June 30, 2026.

. 

Page 5 of 5

Page 29



Page 30



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@berkeleyca.gov  Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Grant Application: GFO 23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government 
Fleets

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution:

 Authorizing the City Manager or their designee to submit a Grant application in
response to the California Energy Commission’s solicitation GFO 23-606 -
Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets Grant Program for City electric
vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure projects; and

 Authorizing the City Manager to sign a Letter of Commitment for the local
matching funds; and

 Referring the required local match, 30% of the total project cost, to the FY 2025-
2026 Budget process for consideration of the City’s General Fund (Fund 011).

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The City is transitioning its fleet from traditional fossil fuel vehicles to EVs in order to 
comply with City Council directives and State regulations. To support these new EVs, 
the City will need to expand its EV charging infrastructure. The City has not yet 
identified a source of funding to install the many new EV chargers that will be needed by 
the new fleet vehicles. The California Energy Commission (CEC) recently issued a 
solicitation for applications for the Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets Grant 
Program (Grant) for the planning, design, and installation of electric vehicle (EV) 
charging stations. If authorized, City Staff will submit an application in April 2024 in an 
amount up to $6 million, the maximum award, for this Grant. The Grant requires a local 
match of at least 30% of the total project cost, which could amount to a maximum of 
$2.5 million (30% of a total project budget of $8.5 million), which would be funded by the 
City’s General Fund (Fund 011) subject to approval by City Council and appropriation 
as part of the FY 2025 – 2026 Budget Development process and in future fiscal year 
budgets. The actual timing of when project expenses will be incurred and Grant and 
local funds would be used would be subject to the Project schedule. Per the Grant 
requirements, all work must be completed by June 30, 2028. 

Page 1 of 5 05

Page 31

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
https://berkeleyca.gov/


  
Grant Application: GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 2

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City does not have any future funding allocated for the installation of EV charging 
infrastructure required to support its goal of operating an all-electric fleet. The City’s 
goal is guided by City Council directive and State regulation. To support the 
implementation of the City's Climate Action Plan, members of City Council submitted a 
referral to the Energy and Transportation Commissions on June 12, 2018, to establish a 
date by which the City could commit to becoming a fossil fuel-free city, and further 
consider fleet electrification. Subsequently, based on the report issued from the Energy 
Commission, on June 25, 2019, City Council issued a directive (An Action Plan for 
Greening the City of Berkeley Fleet of Vehicles) for the Public Works Department and 
the City Manager to collaborate on an action plan to aggressively accelerate 
electrification of the City’s municipal fleet to eliminate fossil fuel use in municipal 
vehicles, where technically feasible, by 2030. On July 21, 2020, City Council adopted 
the Electric Mobility Roadmap (Resolution No. 69,504-N.S.), which outlined an action 
plan to electrify the City’s fleet. Staff is currently on track to purchase an estimated 30 
light-duty EVs by 2028. In addition, the California Air Resources Board’s (CARB’s) 
Advance Clean Fleet (ACF) regulation requires local municipalities to transition their 
medium- and heavy-duty fleet to zero-emission vehicles by 2045. The City will be 
required to purchase an estimated 30 medium- and heavy-duty EVs by 2029 to remain 
compliant.

The City currently owns and operates 27 fleet charging ports at two City locations. The 
City has 56 hybrid and all-electric light-duty vehicles either in service or planned to be 
delivered. In addition to these EVs, future fleet EVs would be domiciled across 24 City 
locations. EV operations will require EV charging infrastructure to be installed where 
EVs are domiciled. Without sufficient funding to implement an expansion of EV charging 
infrastructure, the City will not be able to operate its planned EV fleet in the next five 
years. The grant would allow the City to install at least 100 charging ports. A limited 
scope five-year EV charger project has been proposed for the installation of 40 charging 
ports. Staff have identified staffing resources to plan and design EV charging stations to 
meet minimum requirements for compliance with City directive and State regulation. 
Project funding, which is estimated at $3.5 million, has not yet been secured. Additional 
funding would also be required after Fiscal Year 2029 to continue the necessary EV 
charging infrastructure buildout. Funding provided by this grant opportunity would allow 
the City to install enough EV charging ports to accelerate the transition to an all-electric 
fleet. The deadline to submit the Grant application is April 5, 2024.

If the City successfully obtains and executes a Grant, the resulting Project would help 
the City meet its Strategic Goal of being a global leader in addressing climate change, 
advancing environmental justice, and protecting the environment. City of Berkeley’s 
current goal is to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050.

Page 2 of 5

Page 32



  
Grant Application: GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 3

BACKGROUND
On October 7, 2023, the State of California Assembly Bill 126 was enacted, which 
reauthorized the CEC’s Clean Transportation Program through July 1, 2035 and 
focused the program on zero-emission transportation. On December 21, 2023, the CEC 
released GFO-23-606, a solicitation for applications for the Charging Infrastructure for 
Government Fleets Grant Program, which opened the availability of up to $30 million in 
grant funds for projects that will provide electric vehicle charging infrastructure for 
government fleets. The purpose of the Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets 
Grant Program is to:

1. Support electrification of government fleets in California by providing reliable and 
readily accessible electric vehicle charging infrastructure dedicated for these 
fleets.

2. Support local government goals of sustainability and/or climate action plans.

3. Reduce vehicle emissions in disadvantaged and/or low-income communities.

The Clean Transportation Program would provide needed funding to meet the City’s 
fleet electrification goal. Funding provided by this Grant would expand the currently 
proposed EV charger project scope from 40 charging ports to at least 100 charging 
ports with no additional City funding request required. Rather than meeting minimum EV 
charging needs in the short-term, the expanded project scope would better position the 
City to execute a more comprehensive fleet electrification strategy in the long-term, thus 
facilitating the rapid transition to an electrified fleet. If selected for this Grant, such work 
would be performed shortly after executing a contract, which is anticipated in Quarter 3 
2024. Staff’s schedule for planning, design, and installation is feasible and in 
compliance with the grant project deadlines of June 30, 2028.

In FY 2023, the City allocated $1,150,000 in funding for a project to install fleet EV 
charging infrastructure at the Corporation Yard. The project, which will install 11 
charging ports, is expected to be complete by December 2023. Additional funding is 
needed to meet future EV charging needs.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
This Grant would support the City’s Climate Action Plan and its goal of becoming a 
Fossil Fuel Free city as established through the June 12, 2018 City Council referral. 
This grant would support the City’s goal of reducing its greenhouse gas emissions by 
80% by 2050, which would result in cleaner air for residents.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
In order to meet City Council directive and State regulation, the City must electrify its 
entire fleet. No funding is available to furnish sufficient EV chargers to support the 
existing and future electrified fleet. This Grant would provide the necessary funding for 

Page 3 of 5

Page 33



  
Grant Application: GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 4

comprehensive EV charging infrastructure buildout. The allocation of local match funds 
will allow the City to be eligible for this grant.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The City could choose not to pursue this funding opportunity. The City would forego up 
to $6 million that could be used to support its fleet electrification goals in alignment with 
City Council directive and State regulation. If the City chooses to pursue this funding 
opportunity and is not selected for funding, the City would still need to allocate a similar 
amount of local funding towards the more limited short-term EV charger project in order 
to operate current and future EVs.

CONTACT PERSON
Wahid Amiri, Deputy Director of Engineering and Transportation, 510-981-6396
Peni Basalusalu, Deputy Director of Operations, 510-981-6485
Joy Brown, Operations Manager, 510-981-6629
Leticia Jauregui, Zero Waste Operations Manager, 510-981-6362
Hamid Mostowfi, Transportation Manager 510-981-6403
Kenneth Jung, Supervising Civil Engineer 510-981-7028
Jen Sajor, Electric Mobility Coordinator, 510-981-7056

Attachments:
1: Resolution 

Page 4 of 5

Page 34



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

GRANT APPLICATION: GFO 23-606 – CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE FOR 
GOVERNMENT FLEETS

WHEREAS, On October 7, 2023, State of California AB 126 was enacted, which 
reauthorized the Clean Transportation Program through July 1, 2035 and focused the 
program on zero-emission transportation; and

WHEREAS, On June 25, 2019, City Council issued a directive (An Action Plan for 
Greening the City of Berkeley Fleet of Vehicles) for the Public Works Department and the 
City Manager to collaborate on an action plan to aggressively accelerate electrification of 
the City’s municipal fleet to eliminate fossil fuel use in municipal vehicles, where 
technically feasible, by 2030; and

WHEREAS, The City does not have funding allocated for the installation of electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure required to support its goal of operating an all-electric fleet; and

WHEREAS, The City does not have electric vehicle charging infrastructure to support the 
operation of fleet EVs anticipated to be purchased in the next five years.

WHEREAS, In April 2024, City staff plan to submit a grant application to the CEC 
Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets Grant Program for the planning, design, 
and installation of electric vehicle charging stations in the amount up to the maximum 
award of $6 million with a minimum 30% local match not to exceed $2.5 million using the 
City’s General Fund (Fund 011).

WHEREAS, the grant would fulfill the City’s need for electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure for existing and future fleet. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager or her designee is authorized to submit a Grant application in response to 
the California Energy Commission’s solicitation GFO 23-606, Charging Infrastructure for 
Government Fleets Grant Program, for City electric vehicle charging infrastructure 
projects in the amount of $6 million; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Council authorize the City Manager to sign a Letter of 
Commitment for the local matching funds; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Council refer the required local match of 30% of the 
total project cost to the FY 2025-2026 Budget process for consideration of the City’s 
General Fund (Fund 011). 

Page 5 of 5

Page 35



Page 36



Item Removed From
Agenda

This item has been removed from the agenda by the 
City Manager.

If you have questions regarding this report, please 
contact the person noted on the agenda.

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

The City of Berkeley, City Council’s Website
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council

Page 1 of 1 06

Page 37

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council


Page 38



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@berkeleyca.gov  Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Purchase Order: Owen Equipment Sales for One Combination Storm Sewer 
Cleaner 

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution satisfying requirements of City Charter Article XI Section 67.2 
allowing the City to participate in Sourcewell (formerly NJPA) Contract #101221-VTR 
and authorizing the City Manager to execute a purchase order for one (1) Combination 
Storm Sewer Cleaner with Owen Equipment Sales in an amount not to exceed 
$665,000.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The purchase of one Combination Storm Sewer Cleaner will not exceed $665,000 and 
includes delivery, in-service training, licensing, registration and sales tax. Funding will 
be appropriated as part of the Second Annual Appropriations Ordinance in the 
Equipment Replacement Fund 671. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
This purchase will replace unit 2319, a (2011) Class 8 Combination Storm Sewer 
Cleaner that has reached the end of its useful life.  Replacement vehicle will be utilized 
by Department of Public Works Streets & Utilities Division to perform required 
maintenance and cleaning of catch basins, inlets/outlets, storm infrastructure, and 
provided emergency support for the Sanitary Sewer Division.  

Additionally, the new Combination Sewer Cleaner will support the City’s compliance 
with the municipal stormwater permit and help prevent debris and trash from reaching 
the San Francisco Bay.

Purchasing new Combination Sewer Cleaner and retiring the existing vehicle supports 
the City’s Strategic Plan Goal of providing state-of-the-art, well-maintained 
infrastructure, amenities, and facilities and the goal of being a customer-focused 
organization that provides excellent, timely, easily-accessible service and information to 
the community. 

Page 1 of 4 07

Page 39

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
https://berkeleyca.gov/


  
Purchase Order: Owen Equipment Sales for CONSENT CALENDAR
One Combination Sewer Cleaner March 19, 2024

Page 2

BACKGROUND
Throughout the year, the Department of Public Works purchases equipment for City 
Departments paid through the Equipment Replacement Fund. If a purchase request 
exceeds $25,000 the Department of Finance General Services Division solicits or 
“piggybacks” off competitively bid contracts to ensure City Departments receive the best 
pricing. Each City Department pays a proportionate share into the Equipment 
Replacement Fund, and those funds are utilized to replace equipment at the end of its 
useful life.

The City of Berkeley is a member and participant of Sourcewell, formerly National Joint 
Powers Alliance (NJPA), a purchasing cooperative that clusters over 50,000 
government, education, and nonprofit organizations and performs over $3 billion in 
annual purchases through cooperative contracts. Sourcewell provides “Government-to 
Government” nationwide procurement services that strive to make the public 
procurement process leaner and more efficient by establishing competitively priced 
contracts for goods and services. Products offered through Sourcewell have been 
subjected to a nationwide public competitive bid process, and then made available to 
local governments and state agencies through Sourcewell.

On August 24, 2021 Sourcewell released Request for Proposal # 101221 for Sewer 
Vacuum, Hydro-Excavation, and Municipal Pumping Equipment with Related 
Accessories and Supplies.  The solicitation was published for approximately fifty days 
and twenty-two proposals were received.  Upon their review, the Sourcewell Proposal 
Evaluation Committee selected Vactor Manufacturing as the best most responsible and 
responsive proposer to meet the specifications, thusly awarding Contract No. 101221-
VTR.

The new Combination Sewer Cleaner will have a 2025 Freightliner 114SD Chassis and 
a 2100i Vactor body.

Federal Signal Corporation owns Vactor Manufacturing.  The Vactor Manufacturing 
factory authorized dealer for Northern California is Owen Equipment Sales.  Owen 
Equipment Sales will conduct a pre-deliver inspection and will deliver the unit to the 
City.
    
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The new Combination Sewer Cleaner truck will be powered by renewable diesel fuel 
designed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by up to 80%.

Consistent with the City Councils accepted Municipal Fleet Electrification Assessment, 
Public Works endeavors to procure the most fuel-efficient vehicles and equipment that 
are suitable for the required tasks. Industry contacts confirm there are no electric 
versions of this specialized truck available at this time. Present battery technology does 
not provide the power necessary to operate the sewer cleaning system adequately. 

Page 2 of 4

Page 40



  
Purchase Order: Owen Equipment Sales for CONSENT CALENDAR
One Combination Sewer Cleaner March 19, 2024

Page 3

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Equipment must be replaced to ensure the Public Works’ equipment operators can 
efficiently, safely, and effectively carry out their duties and minimize vehicle down time. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None. Keeping equipment longer than its useful life results in higher maintenance costs 
and excessive downtimes in order to keep operating in a safe and serviceable manner.

CONTACT PERSON
Greg Ellington, Equipment Superintendent (510) 981-6469 
Joy Brown, Operations Manager (510) 981-6629

Attachment: 
1: Resolution

Page 3 of 4

Page 41



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

PURCHASE ORDER: OWEN EQUIPMENT SALES FOR ONE COMBINATION SEWER 
CLEANER 

WHEREAS, one Combination Sewer Cleaner is needed by the City Sewer Maintenance 
Division Staff of the Department of Public Works to perform required maintenance and 
cleaning of catch basins, inlets/outlets, storm infrastructure, and provide emergency 
support for the Sewer Division; and

WHEREAS, equipment must be acquired to allow operators to efficiently and effectively 
carry out their duties; and

WHEREAS, City Charter XI Section 67.2 allows the City to purchase goods without 
undergoing a competitive bid process if the City uses pricing obtained by another entity 
through a competitive bid process; and

WHEREAS, on August 24,2021 Sourcewell (formerly NJPA) released Request for 
Proposal No. 101221 for Sewer Vacuum, Hydro-Excavation, and Municipal Pumping 
Equipment with Related Accessories and Supplies.  The solicitation was published for 
approximately fifty days and twenty-two proposals were received.  Upon their review the 
Sourcewell Proposal Evaluation Committee selected Vactor Manufacturing as the best 
most responsible and responsive proposer to meet the specifications, thusly awarding 
101221-VTR; and 

WHEREAS, Federal Signal Corporation owns Vactor Manufacturing.  The Vactor 
Manufacturing factory authorized dealer for Northern California Owen Equipment Sales.  
Owen Equipment Sales will conduct a pre-deliver inspection and will deliver the unit to 
the City; and

WHEREAS, Sourcewell contract bid procedures satisfy the procurement requirements of 
the City; and

WHEREAS, funds in the amount of $665,000 will be available in the Equipment 
Replacement Fund 671 pending approval of the Second Annual Appropriations 
Ordinance. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute a purchase order for one Combination Sewer 
Cleaner with Owen Equipment Sales in an amount not to exceed $665,000.

Page 4 of 4

Page 42



Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@berkeleyca.gov

CONSENT CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Members of the Berkeley City Council

From: Mayor Jesse Arreguín

Subject: East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution to appoint Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf as the City of Berkeley’s 
Representative Member to the East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group, 
and Councilmember Mark Humbert as the Alternate. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On November 21st 2023 Council adopted Resolution No. 71, 104-N.S. approving the 
Memorandum of Understanding for Coordination of Wildfire Prevention Activities to 
Protect the East Bay Hills in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties.

The Memorandum of Understanding calls for the formation of a Wildfire Prevention 
Coordinating Group (WPCG). This requires each Participating Agency to appoint one 
member and one alternate from its governing body to serve on the WPCG.

Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf has championed wildfire prevention and safety planning 
since her days as Chief of Staff to former Councilmember Betty Olds in the early 1990’s. 
Vice Mayor Wengraf has unofficially represented Berkeley as one of the original people 
involved in the formation of this group and attended every meeting since its inception. 

Councilmember Mark Humbert represents the district devastated by the 1991 Tunnel 
fire. The U.S. Forest Service called the Tunnel fire “one of the worst fires involving loss 
of life and property since the Great San Francisco Earthquake and Fire of 1906”, noting 
at the time, “Only those who fought the Chicago Fire last century and those who battled 
the Great Fire in San Francisco would be able to identify with this conflagration and 
firestorm.” Additionally, Councilmember Humbert represents the City’s only 
Environmental Safety-Residential (ES-R) district, the Panoramic Hill area, which is 
exceptionally vulnerable to severe damage or destruction from fire and earthquake 
hazards. 

Page 1 of 10 08

Page 43



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 2

BACKGROUND
On September 14, 2021, City Council unanimously approved Resolution No. 70,029-
N.S. Expressing Conceptual Support for the Formation of An East Bay Wildfire 
Prevention and Vegetation Management Joint Powers Agency (JPA). Ultimately the 
municipalities, counties and fire districts decided to establish a coordinating group via a 
Memorandum of Understanding as an alternate structure to a JPA. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Wildfire prevention aligns with the City’s strategic goal of addressing climate change.

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7160

Attachments: 
1: Resolution
2: Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

Page 2 of 10

Page 44



  

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@berkeleyca.gov 

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

WILDFIRE PREVENTION COORDINATING GROUP REPRESENTATIVE SELECTION

WHEREAS, on November 21st 2023 Council adopted Resolution No. 71, 104-N.S. 
approving the Memorandum of Understanding for Coordination of Wildfire Prevention 
Activities to Protect the East Bay Hills in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties; and

WHEREAS, The Memorandum of Understanding calls for the formation of a Wildfire 
Prevention Coordinating Group (WPCG). This requires each Participating Agency to 
appoint one member and one alternate from its governing body to serve on the WPCG; 
and

WHEREAS, Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf has championed wildfire prevention and safety 
planning since her days as Chief of Staff to former Councilmember Betty Olds in the 
early 1990’s. Vice Mayor Wengraf has unofficially represented Berkeley as one of the 
original people involved in the formation of this group and attended every meeting since 
its inception; and

WHEREAS, Councilmember Mark Humbert represents the district devastated by the 
1991 Tunnel fire, and the City’s only Environmental Safety-Residential (ES-R) district, 
the Panoramic Hill area, which is exceptionally vulnerable to severe damage or 
destruction from fire and earthquake hazards.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that it 
appoints Vice Mayor Susan Wengraf as Berkeley’s Representative Member to the 
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group (WPCG) and Councilmember Mark Humbert as 
the Alternate.

Page 3 of 10

Page 45



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 4

Page 4 of 10

Page 46



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 5

Page 5 of 10

Page 47



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 6

Page 6 of 10

Page 48



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 7

Page 7 of 10

Page 49



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 8

Page 8 of 10

Page 50



  
Wildfire Prevention Coordinating Group Representative Selection CONSENT CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 9

Page 9 of 10

Page 51



 

Page 10 of 10

Page 52



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@berkeleyca.gov  Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/

ACTION CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the Non-Exclusive 
Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications Facilities on City Owned and 
Maintained Streetlight Poles in the Public Right-of-Way

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution approving a Master License Agreement template for the non-
exclusive installation of small cell telecommunication facilities (equipment) by private 
telecommunication companies on City owned and maintained streetlight poles in the 
public right-of-way. 

SUMMARY  
Small cell telecommunication facilities are relatively low-power, short-range wireless 
communication systems that cover a more limited geographic range, typically for use by 
cellular phones. Private telecommunication companies such as AT&T or Verizon aspire 
to install these facilities throughout a community in order to enhance signal coverage. 
The companies prefer to install these facilities on utility poles. Utility poles in the City of 
Berkeley are owned and maintained by utility companies such as PG&E and AT&T. In 
the past, small cell facilities have primarily been installed on utility-owned wooden poles 
in parts of the City that have not been undergrounded as part of an underground utility 
district. In areas where overhead utilities have been placed underground, the poles that 
remain are typically street lights and traffic signals owned by the City. The proposed 
Master License Agreement Template (MLA) would create a framework for 
telecommunication companies to lease space from the City, on City owned streetlight 
poles, for installation of small cell cellular equipment.  

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
There will be an increase in revenue to the General Fund in the form of an annual 
licensing fee for each pole license issued. The amount is dependent upon the number 
of license agreements entered into and the number of pole licenses issued.  A one-time 
“Processing Fee” will be charged to each utility company that enters into an MLA to 
compensate the City for legal and other costs related to review and preparation of the 

Page 1 of 65 09

Page 53

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
https://berkeleyca.gov/


  
Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the 
Non-Exclusive Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications 
Facilities on City Owned and Maintained Streetlight Poles in 
the Public Right-of-Way ACTION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 2

agreements. Standard charges for permit fees and Staff review time will be collected 
during issuance of permits related to construction under the MLA.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) has historically determined that 
wireless providers are a utility and, therefore, have all the rights of use of the public 
right-of-way (PROW) as any other telecommunications utility under the Public Utilities 
Code section 7901. The PROW contains existing overhead infrastructure, such as utility 
poles, traffic signal poles, and streetlight poles that can support wireless 
telecommunication facilities. As an example, small cell facilities can be, and are being, 
installed on wooden poles owned by PG&E, and the City has limited discretion over 
such installations, outside of the City’s Aesthetic Guidelines.

Typically, the wireless equipment is attached to wooden utility poles in the PROW as 
part of an agreement with the entity that owns the pole. The usual instances where 
wireless telecommunication companies would request to attach their equipment to City 
owned streetlights are in underground utility districts where the wooden utility poles are 
not present. Rather than install a new pole specifically for mounting the small cell 
equipment, a wireless carrier would prefer to make use of existing streetlight poles.

A wireless carrier will likely apply for multiple locations in the City, with a short deadline, 
known commonly as “shot clocks,” by which Federal law requires the City to act on each 
permit application for wireless facilities. This shot clock, including permits and any 
contractual approvals, is 60 days for small cell installations on existing structures and 90 
days on new or replacement structures. It is not feasible to take a separate license 
agreement to the City Council for approval of each installation and meet the deadlines.

Since the City is the owner of the light poles, Staff has drafted the attached agreement 
template for use with the individual telecommunication companies in order to regulate 
the mounting of their equipment to the City owned streetlight poles. The template was 
prepared under direction of the City Council, and through consultation with the City 
Attorney’s office and through negotiation with a major cellular provider.

Establishing an MLA for installation of small cell wireless facilities on City owned 
streetlight poles is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, by advancing our goal to provide 
state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities. 

BACKGROUND
Small Cell Wireless Facilities (“Small Wireless Facilities”) are relatively low-power, 
short-range wireless communication systems that cover a more limited geographic 
range than traditional “macro” wireless facilities. Small Cell Wireless Facilities are 
designed to accommodate emerging technologies, which transmit higher volumes of 

Page 2 of 65

Page 54



  
Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the 
Non-Exclusive Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications 
Facilities on City Owned and Maintained Streetlight Poles in 
the Public Right-of-Way ACTION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 3

data at higher speed than existing networks. These facilities supplement, rather than 
replace, larger facilities. The word “small” in “small cell” refers to its service area, and 
because of the short range of these facilities, projected network buildouts require 
installation of Small Cell Wireless Facilities at more locations and closer in proximity to 
each other than is the case with traditional wireless facilities. 

On September 26, 2018, the FCC adopted its Declaratory Ruling and Third Report and 
Order (“Small Cell Order”) relating to small cell wireless technology, and the placement 
of small wireless facilities in the PROW. The rules adopted in the Report and Order 
interpret the federal Telecommunications Act of 1996. 

Existing federal and state law grant wireless providers certain rights to deploy small 
wireless communication facilities within the City’s PROW and the Small Cell Order 
places limitations on local jurisdictions’ ability to deny, condition, or restrict small 
wireless installations.

In response to the adoption of the Small Cell Order, on July 7, 2020, the City Council 
adopted Ordinance No.7,726-N.S. amending the language of the City's Wireless 
Telecommunications Ordinance and provisions applicable to telecommunications 
permits in the PROW (BMC Chapter 16.10 and the Aesthetic Guidelines for PROW 
Permits).

Amendments to the Aesthetic Guidelines for PROW Permits gave the City some control 
over the location and aesthetics of the wireless facilities installed in the PROW. The 
Guidelines set forth application requirements, a process for reviewing permit 
application, and standards for the placement and design of wireless facilities for PROW 
permits. These guidelines are currently being applied to installation of 
telecommunication equipment on utility company owned poles and will also be used for 
installations on City owned streetlight poles as contemplated with the proposed MLA.

On April 12, 2022, Council adopted Resolution No.70,297–N.S. directing Staff to 
prepare a draft Master License Agreement template for installation of small cell 
telecommunication facilities on City-owned and maintained streetlight polls in the public 
right-of-way. The attached draft of the Master License Agreement template is 
recommended for approval. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no anticipated environmental sustainability and climate impacts as a result of 
entering into agreements with the telecommunication utilities. Additionally, per the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, “No State or local government or instrumentality 
thereof may regulate the placement, construction, and modification of personal wireless 
service facilities on the basis of the environmental effects of radio frequency emissions 

Page 3 of 65

Page 55



  
Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template for the 
Non-Exclusive Installation of Small Cell Telecommunications 
Facilities on City Owned and Maintained Streetlight Poles in 
the Public Right-of-Way ACTION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 4

to the extent that such facilities comply with the Commission's regulations concerning 
such emissions.”

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The proposed MLA template would be used for entering into agreements with individual 
telecommunication companies for their use of City owned streetlight poles for mounting 
wireless communication equipment. 

Entering into a MLA with the telecommunication companies will have the benefit of 
allowing the City to have more control over the installation of small cells by mutual 
agreement with the utilities, it will be more efficient to enter into a master agreement 
instead of individual agreements for each installation, and entering into an agreement 
would reduce the potential for a lawsuit. 

Staff requests approval of the MLA template, attached to this report, and asks that the 
Council provide the City Manager delegated authority to approve minor carrier-specific 
changes to the template that do not significantly change the risks and rewards to the 
City (e.g., insurance provisions and certain definitions). The template includes standard 
term limits and renewal periods for the length of time that the agreements will be in 
effect.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
One alternative would be to negotiate a streetlight pole use agreement with utility 
companies on a case by case basis. Council could delegate blanket authority to the City 
Manager to enter into agreements with the individual companies for each location. 
However, due to the amount of applications that could potentially be submitted, there 
would still be a risk that the parties involved could not come to terms within the shot 
clock time that the FCC allows for permit approval.

Another alternative would be to permit the use of the poles without an agreement and 
only reference the BMC and the Aesthetic Guidelines. This would relinquish some 
control that the City could have over the installation, maintenance, and removal of the 
equipment on the streetlight poles.

CONTACT PERSON
Ronald Nevels, Manager of Engineering, Public Works, (510) 981-6439

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

Page 4 of 65

Page 56



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

ADOPTION OF A MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT TEMPLATE FOR THE NON-
EXCLUSIVE INSTALLATION OF SMALL CELL TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES 
ON CITY OWNED AND MAINTAINED STREETLIGHT POLES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-
OF-WAY

WHEREAS, existing federal and state law grant wireless providers certain rights to deploy 
small wireless communication facilities within the City’s right-of-way (PROW) and the 
Small Cell Order places limitations on local jurisdictions’ ability to deny, condition, or 
restrict small wireless installations; and

WHEREAS, on July 7, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No.7,726-N.S. 
amending the language of the City's Wireless Telecommunications Ordinance and 
provisions applicable to telecommunications permits in the public PROW (BMC Chapter 
16.10 and the Aesthetic Guidelines for PROW Permits); and

WHEREAS, amendments to the Aesthetic Guidelines for PROW Permits gave the City 
significant control over the location and aesthetics of the wireless facilities installed in the 
PROW, consistent with applicable state and federal law. These guidelines have been 
applied to installation of telecommunication equipment on utility company owned poles 
and are also to be used for installations on City owned streetlight poles; and

WHEREAS, Staff has been contacted by wireless telecommunication companies 
requesting that they be permitted to attach small cell equipment to City owned streetlight 
poles; and

WHEREAS, as the owner of the streetlight poles in the PROW the City is responsible for 
entering into license agreements with the wireless carriers in order for those carriers to 
mount equipment on the City’s streetlight poles; and

WHEREAS, due to the potential number of license agreements that will be necessary it 
is not feasible to take a separate license agreement to the Council for approval for each 
installation. Staff proposes that a Master License Agreement (MLA) template be used for 
entering into agreements with individual telecommunication companies for the use of City 
owned streetlight poles for mounting wireless communication equipment; and 

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2022, the City Council adopted Resolution No.70,297–N.S. 
directing staff to prepare a draft Master License Agreement template for installation of 
small cell telecommunication facilities on City-owned and maintained streetlight polls in 
the public right-of-way; and

WHEREAS, Staff requests approval of the MLA template, and fees as included in the 
attachment to the staff report, and asks that the Council provide the City Manager 

Page 5 of 65

Page 57



  
March 19, 2024

Page 2

delegated authority to approve minor carrier-specific changes to the template that do not 
significantly change the risks and rewards to the City (e.g., insurance provisions and 
certain definitions). The template includes fees. standard term limits, and renewal periods 
for the length of time that the agreements will be in effect.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
Master License Agreement template, attached to the staff report, is hereby adopted for 
use when wireless telecommunication equipment is to be mounted on City owned light 
poles.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is delegated authority to approve 
minor carrier-specific changes to the template that do not significantly change the risks 
and rewards to the City (e.g., insurance provisions and certain definitions).

Exhibits 
A: Master License Agreement

Page 6 of 65

Page 58



  

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT

FOR SMALL CELL POLE ATTACHMENT INSTALLATION ON CITY FACILITIES

between

City of Berkeley,

a municipal corporation

and

[Carrier]

Effective as of: Date

Page 7 of 65

Page 59



  

2

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT
FOR SMALL CELL POLE ATTACHMENT INSTALLATION ON CITY FACILITIES

This MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR SMALL CELL POLE ATTACHMENT 
INSTALLATION ON CITY FACILITIES (“Master License”), effective as of Date (the 
“Effective Date”), is made by and between the CITY OF BERKELEY, a municipal 
corporation (“City”), and [Carrier] (“Licensee”).

BACKGROUND

A. Licensee installs, maintains, operates and/or controls, in accordance with 
regulations promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) and the 
California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”), distributed antenna system and/or small 
wireless facilities in public rights-of-way (“ROW”), among other locations, in the State of 
California.

B. Licensee holds a valid Wireless ID Registration ([Number]) or Certificate of Public 
Convenience and Necessity (Utility ID ([Number])) issued by the CPUC.

C. City owns street light poles and other traffic control and safety poles in ROW in 
Berkeley, California, which Licensee believes are suitable sites for installing equipment 
to deliver personal wireless services.

D. Licensee desires to obtain from City, and City is willing to grant to Licensee, the 
right to use the portions of the City’s street light poles and other traffic control and safety 
poles in the ROW to install, operate, and maintain equipment in a manner consistent with 
the Berkeley Municipal Code (“BMC”), Berkeley Aesthetic Guidelines, and all other 
applicable “Laws” (as defined herein), and this Master License.

E. This Master License has been approved by the following City actions, all of which 
are now final and binding:

1. On April 12, 2022, the City Council authorized Staff to prepare a draft 
Master License Agreement Template for the non-exclusive installation of small cell 
telecommunications facilities on City owned and maintained streetlight poles in the public 
right-of-way 

2. (enter City Council MLA approval information here)

Page 8 of 65

Page 60



  

3

AGREEMENT

1. PURPOSE, DEFINITIONS AND BASIC LICENSE INFORMATION.

1.1 Purpose.

1.1.1 License. This Master License: (i) establishes the contractual 
framework under which Licensee may apply to City for and obtain a revocable (only in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Master License) license to use 
a License Area identified in Pole Licenses for the Permitted Use; (ii) governs the fees, 
charges, procedures, requirements, terms and conditions by which City will issue Pole 
Licenses to Licensee; and (iii) authorizes Licensee to engage in the Permitted Use only 
pursuant to individual Pole Licenses issued under this Master License.

1.1.2 Pole Licenses. Pole Licenses that the City issues under this Master 
License will: (i) authorize Licensee to engage in the Permitted Use; (ii) specify approved 
License Areas, any site constraints, and any additional installation, operation, access, 
and maintenance requirements specific to those License Areas; (iii) grant a license, but 
not a leasehold interest, to Licensee only as a part of and subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Master License; and (iv) not amend any term or condition of this Master 
License except that in the event that a provision of a Pole License conflicts with any 
provision of this Master License, then the terms of the Pole License will control. 

1.2 Definitions. Capitalized and other defined terms used in this Master License 
and all exhibits shall have the meanings given to them in this section or in the text where 
indicated below, subject to the rules of interpretation set forth in Section 28.6 
(Interpretation of Master License).

“Aesthetic Guidelines” is defined as the version of the “Administrative Guidelines for 
Issuance of Public Right-of-Way Permits Under Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 16.10 
adopted and in force at the time of the application for a Pole License. 

“Affiliate” means an entity that directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is under 
the Common Control with Licensee and has a net worth of at least Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000).

“Agents” when used with respect to either party includes the agents, employees, 
officers, contractors, subcontractors and representatives of that party in relation to this 
Master License, a Pole License and any License Area.

“Assignment” means any of the following: (a) a merger, acquisition or other transfer of 
a controlling interest in Licensee, voluntarily or by operation of Law; (b) Licensee’s sale, 
assignment, encumbrance, pledge or other transfer of any part of its interest in or rights 
with respect to a License Area; and (c) any action by Licensee to permit any portion of a 
License Area to be occupied by anyone other than itself, including a sublicense.

“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 

Page 9 of 65

Page 61



  

4

Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.).

“City Pole” is any street light pole or other traffic control and safety pole owned by City.  
The term includes Replacement Poles.

“Common Control” means two entities that are both Controlled by the same third entity.

“Control” or “Controlled” means: the power (directly or indirectly) to direct the 
management or policies of a person or entity, whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, by agency or otherwise.

“CPUC” means the California Public Utilities Commission.

“Decorative City Pole” means any City-owned pole that includes decorative or 
ornamental features, design elements and/or materials intended to enhance the 
appearance of the pole or the public rights-of-way in which the pole is located.

“Effective Date” means the date on which both parties have fully executed this Master 
License.

“Environmental Laws” means any Laws relating to industrial hygiene, environmental 
conditions or Hazardous Materials.

“Equipment” means antennas, radio units, ancillary fiber-optic cables, electrical wiring, 
inner duct, conduit, pedestals, pull boxes, conductors, Tesco panel and other material, 
infrastructure or equipment required for the Permitted Use or by any Regulatory Agency 
and approved in a Pole License, and any “like-kind” upgrades or replacements permitted 
by Section 7.1 of this Master License.

“Expiration Date” means the day before the 10th anniversary of the Effective Date, as 
extended by any applicable Renewal Term.

“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission.

“GIS” means Geographic Information System for mapping purposes.

“Hazardous Material” means any material that, because of its quantity, concentration or 
physical or chemical characteristics, is at any time now or hereafter deemed by any 
Regulatory Agency to pose a present or potential hazard to human health, welfare, or 
safety or to the environment.  Hazardous Material includes any material or substance 
defined as a “hazardous substance,” or “pollutant” or “contaminant” in CERCLA or 
Section 25316 of the California Health & Safety Code; and any “hazardous waste” listed 
in Section 25140 of the California Health & Safety Code; and petroleum, including crude 
oil or any fraction thereof, natural gas, or natural gas liquids.

“Indemnified Party” or “Indemnified Parties” means City, its Agents, employees, 
contractors, council members, commissioners, attorneys and their respective heirs, legal 
representatives, successors and assigns.

Page 10 of 65

Page 62



  

5

“Indemnify” means to indemnify, defend and hold harmless, including, the immediate 
defense duty, as described in Article 18 (Licensee’s Indemnity).

“Investigate and Remediate” means the undertaking of any activities to determine the 
nature and extent of Hazardous Material that may be located in, on, under or about a 
License Area or that has been, is being, or is in danger of being Released into the 
environment, and to clean up, remove, contain, treat, stabilize, monitor, or otherwise 
control such Hazardous Material.

“Invitees” when used with respect to Licensee means the  invited guests, tenants, 
subtenants, licensees, assignees and sublicensees of Licensee in relation to a License 
Area.

“Laws” means all present and future statutes, ordinances, codes, orders, including, 
without limitation, FCC Declaratory Ruling (FCC 18-133), regulations and implementing 
requirements and restrictions of federal, state, county and municipal authorities, whether 
foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary as well as extraordinary, as adopted or as amended at 
the time in question.

“License Area” means, individually and collectively, the portion of the City Poles 
approved for installation of Equipment, which may include pole tops, conduits housing the 
circuits delivering power to the City Poles and street light pull boxes and other City 
property necessary for access.

“Manager of Engineering” is defined to mean the manager of the Engineering Division 
of the City of Berkeley entitled Manger of Engineering/City Engineer, or designee.

“Master Fee Schedule” is defined to mean the City’s general fee schedule for the City 
of Berkeley, which is revised, updated, adopted and applied by the City Council in 
compliance with all applicable Laws; following any such update of the Master Fee 
Schedule, such updated version shall be deemed to mean the Master Fee Schedule, as 
referred to herein.

“Permitted Use” means Licensee’s installation, maintenance, repair, modification, 
upgrade, addition, removal and operation of Equipment on City Poles in License Areas, 
subject to the terms and conditions of this Master License, for the purpose of providing 
Service.

“Pole License” means the document in the form of Exhibit A that, when fully executed, 
incorporates the provisions of this Master License and authorizes Licensee to install, 
operate, and maintain Equipment for the Permitted Use on City Poles identified in the 
Pole License.

“PROW” means Public Rights-of-Way or ROW.

“PW Permit” means permits issued by the Engineering Division of the City of Berkeley 
Department of Public Works.

Page 11 of 65

Page 63



  

6

“Regulatory Approvals” means licenses, permits, and other approvals necessary for 
Licensee to install and operate Equipment on and in a License Area, other than the Pole 
License.

”Regulatory Agency” means the local, regional, state, or federal body with jurisdiction 
and responsibility for issuing Regulatory Approvals in accordance with applicable Laws.

“Release” when used with respect to Hazardous Material includes any actual or 
imminent spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, 
escaping, leaching, dumping or disposing on, under or about any License Area, other 
Property of City or the environment. 

“ROW” means public rights-of-way owned or controlled by the City.

“Service” means the transmission and reception of communications signals for the 
provision of personal wireless services, telecommunications services and mobile data 
services as defined in federal law.

“Street” means the public right of way, including landscape areas, sidewalk, curb, gutter, 
and pavement, dedicated for roadway purposes. 

“Subsidiary” means an entity controlled by Licensee that has a net worth of at least Five 
Million Dollars ($5,000,000).

1.3 Basic License Information

1.3.1 City Contact Information

[insert Berkeley notice address, email and telephone numbers]

1.3.2 Licensee Contact Information

For Notices:

[CARRIER’S CONTRACT INFORMATION]

2. SCOPE OF LICENSE.

2.1 License Areas.

2.1.1 Issuance of License. Subject to the terms, covenants and conditions 
set forth in this Master License, the City may issue to Licensee one or more Pole 
Licenses, each of which will be effective as of the Commencement Date specified in the 

Page 12 of 65

Page 64



  

7

Pole License.  Each Pole License will grant Licensee a contractual license to use the 
License Area specified in the Pole License and shall have as its subject a single License 
Area.

2.1.2 Limitation on Scope. This Master License applies only to City Poles 
subject to final, fully executed Pole Licenses.  This Master License does not authorize the 
Permitted Use on any other property, except the License Areas specified in any Pole 
License.

2.1.3 Prohibited City Owned Support Structures. Licensee acknowledges 
that the following are prohibited support structures for Equipment: 

(a) Decorative City Poles (including historic or ornamental 
streetlight poles)

(b) Traffic signal poles, mast arms, cabinets or related devices or 
structures

2.2 No Property Interest in Any License Area.

2.2.1 Limited Interest. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that this Master 
License does not create a lease, possessory interest, easement, franchise or any other 
real property interest in any part of any License Area.  Licensee further acknowledges 
and agrees that in the absence of a fully executed Pole License, as applicable, Licensee 
does not have the right to use any City Pole for any purpose.

2.2.2 Limited Rights. The license granted to Licensee under any Pole 
License grants only a nonpossessory, revocable (only in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Master License) license to enter onto and use the License Area 
for the Permitted Use, which means that:

(a) Licensee will have exclusive use of those limited designated 
portions of the City Poles where its Equipment has been approved for installation but 
otherwise will have only non-exclusive use of remaining portions of License Areas which 
may be shared or used by others such as the portion of the City Poles not designated for 
Licensee’s exclusive use, the conduits housing the circuits delivering power to the City 
Poles, street light pull boxes and other City property necessary for access; and

(b) City retains possession and control of all City Poles and all 
License Areas, which will at all times be superior to Licensee’s use of the License Areas; 
and

(c) City may terminate this Master License and any Pole License 
in whole or in part in accordance with the terms thereof; and

(d) except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master 
License, this Master License does not limit, restrict or prohibit City from entering into 
agreements with third parties regarding the use of City Poles and property; and

Page 13 of 65

Page 65



  

8

(e) this Master License does not create a partnership or joint 
venture between City and Licensee; and

(f) Pole Licenses shall not be sublicensed to other parties or 
entities (other than Licensee’s Affiliates) without prior approval by City under this Master 
License.  Pole Licenses may be sublicensed to Licensee’s Affiliates only with prior written 
notice to City.

2.2.3 No Impediment to Municipal Use. This Master License and any Pole 
License issued hereunder do not limit, alter or waive City’s right to use any part of any 
City Pole as infrastructure established and maintained for the benefit of City.  Licensee 
shall not interfere, or cause interference, with City’s use and operation of any portion of 
any City Pole or License Area or any other property for any purpose.

2.3 Signs and Advertising. Licensee agrees that its rights under this Pole 
Licenses issued under this Master License do not authorize Licensee to erect or maintain 
or permit to be erected or maintained by anyone under Licensee’s control, any signs, 
notices, graphics or advertising of any kind on any part of any License Area, except as 
notices or identification markers required by Law.

Page 14 of 65

Page 66



  

9

2.4 Light and Air. Licensee agrees that no diminution of light, air, or signal 
transmission by any structure (whether or not erected by City) will entitle Licensee to any 
reduction of any License Fees, Review Fee or Processing Fees, result in any liability of 
City to Licensee, or in any other way affect this Master License, any Pole License or 
Licensee’s obligations, except as specifically provided in this Master License.

2.5 As-ls Condition of each City Pole and License Area. Licensee’s attention is 
directed to the following:

2.5.1 As-ls Condition. Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees to 
enter onto and use each City Pole and License Area authorized by a Pole License in its 
“as-is, with all faults” condition.

2.5.2 Licensee Due Diligence. Licensee represents and warrants to City 
that Licensee has conducted or will conduct a reasonably diligent investigation, either 
independently or through Agents of Licensee’s choosing, of the condition of each City 
Pole and License Area and of the suitability of each City Pole and License Area for 
Licensee’s intended use, and Licensee is relying solely on its independent investigation.  
In addition to other due diligence to be undertaken by Licensee, if Licensee requests use 
of City’s existing conduit, Licensee shall be responsible for determining if the City’s 
existing conduit has sufficient space available for all City and Licensee uses.  Licensee 
further represents and warrants that its intended use of each City Pole and License Area 
is for the Permitted Use.

2.5.3 No City Representations or Warranties. Licensee agrees that neither 
City nor any of its Agents have made, and City disclaims, any representations or 
warranties, express or implied, with respect to the physical, structural, or environmental 
condition of any City Pole or License Area, the present or future suitability of any City 
Pole or License Area for the Permitted Use.

2.6 Permitted Use. Licensee shall use each License Area solely for the 
Permitted Use and for no other use, subject to all Laws and conditions of Regulatory 
Approvals.  Licensee shall maintain throughout the Term all Regulatory Approvals to use 
each License Area for the Permitted Use. 

2.7 No Illegal Uses or Nuisances. Licensee shall not use or occupy any License 
Area in any unlawful manner, for any illegal purpose or in any manner that constitutes a 
public nuisance under the Berkeley Municipal Code.  Licensee shall take all precautions 
to eliminate any nuisances or hazards in connection with its use of each License Area.

2.8 Additional Authority. This Master License is not an authorization to use the 
ROW.  Nothing in this Master License shall limit in any way, or is a substitute for, 
Licensee’s obligation to obtain any additional required franchises, authorizations, 
approvals or permits from any City department, board, commission, or other 
governmental agency that has authority over the Licensee’s activities involving use of the 
City Poles in the ROW or limit the City’s exercise of rights that it may have in connection 
with the grant or exercise of such franchises, authorizations, approvals or permits, 

Page 15 of 65

Page 67



  

10

whether or not such activities involve Services.  Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, City believes it may have the right to require a franchise and franchise fees 
under Cal. Const., art. XII, § 8, or franchise fees under Section 5840(q) of the Digital 
Infrastructure and Video Competition Act (as codified in Public Utilities Code section 5800 
et seq.) (“DIVCA”) or federal law, 47 U.S.C. § 542, and City does not intend by entering 
into this Master License to waive any of those rights or any legal arguments it might make 
to defend such rights.  Licensee by entering into this Agreement does not waive any rights 
or arguments it might have under state or federal law.  The Parties do not intend to resolve 
those disputes here nor do they intend to create uncertainty about what services can be 
offered under this Agreement.  If City demands a franchise or franchise fees pursuant to 
DIVCA or other state or federal law, or if there is a change of law or other legal 
development under which the services being provided by Licensee pursuant to this 
Master License are subject to a franchise or franchise fees under DIVCA or other state 
or federal law, the Parties will meet and confer in good faith for a period not to exceed 
one hundred and twenty (120) days (“the Negotiation Period”) to negotiate terms, 
including any compensation owed by Licensee to the City under DIVCA or other state or 
federal law.  If the Parties are not able to reach agreement during the Negotiation Period, 
the Parties may exercise any remedies that they may have.  However, the Parties agree 
that in no instance shall City seek to prevent Licensee from providing any such service 
under this Master License.

3. TERM. The term under this Master License will commence on the Effective Date 
and will continue for ten (10) years from the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”), unless 
earlier terminated in accordance with this Master License.  Unless City or Licensee 
provides written notice to the other at least six (6) months prior to the expiration of the 
Initial Term (or of the then current Renewal Term as defined herein) that it will not renew 
the Master License, the Master License will automatically renew for successive five (5) 
year periods, up to a maximum of twenty (20) years from the Effective Date (each such 
period after the Initial Term is a “Renewal Term”).  The Renewal Term will be subject to 
the same terms and conditions set forth in this Master License (subject to License Fee 
and License Fee escalators described herein).  The term of any Pole Licenses shall be 
coterminous with the Master License (the Initial Term and the Renewal Terms shall 
together constitute the “Term”).

4. LICENSE FEES AND OTHER CHARGES.

4.1 Commencement Date.

4.1.1 Definition. The term “Commencement Date” means the date each 
Pole License commences, which shall be specified in each such Pole License.

4.2 License Fees.

4.2.1 General. Licensee shall be solely responsible for the payment of all 
fees and costs in connection with Licensee’s performance under this Master License, 
including, but not limited to, those set forth herein. 

Page 16 of 65

Page 68



  

11

4.2.2 Annual Pole License Fees. Licensee shall pay to City for each Pole 
License an annual License Fee in the amount corresponding to the applicable year as 
specified in Exhibit B which Licensee acknowledges represents the “safe harbor” amount 
for cost-based compensation established by the FCC Declaratory Ruling (FCC 18-133) 
(the “License Fee”).  The License Fee in Exhibit B shall be paid unless and until 
substituted by a different amount under paragraph 4.2.4 or 4.2.5.  The License Fee must 
be delivered in the manner specified in Section 4.7.

4.2.3 Due Dates. The License Fee for each License Area shall be due and 
payable to City in advance without prior demand or any deduction, setoff or counterclaim 
within thirty (30) days of the Commencement Date for the first payment, and on January 1 
of each and every year following each such License Area’s Commencement Date.  The 
License Fee shall be prorated for the first year with a daily rate based on a three hundred 
sixty-day (360) year.  There shall be no refunds of License Fees paid due to the 
termination or expiration of the Pole License for any reason except termination due to 
(i) the City’s uncured Default under Section 17; (ii) RF or physical interference caused by 
the City or any Indemnified Party to Licensee’s operation of its Equipment which 
interference Licensee determines in good faith is not resolvable within ten (10) days from 
the commencement of such interference; and (iii) damage caused by the City or any 
Indemnified Party to Licensee’s Equipment and/or the City Pole subject to a Pole License.  
Receipt of any License Fees by City with knowledge of any breach of this Master License 
by Licensee, or of any default on the part of Licensee in the observance or performance 
of any of the conditions or covenants of this Master License or a Pole License, shall not 
be deemed a waiver of any provision of this Master License or Pole License. 

4.2.4 Cost Study Adjustments to License Fee. Licensee acknowledges 
that during any period in which the cost-based compensation requirement in FCC 18-133 
is in effect, City reserves the right to adjust the License Fee payable pursuant to 
paragraph 4.2.2 for all existing and future Pole Licenses if, based on a study of its actual 
and reasonable costs conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws, an adjusted 
recurring fee meets the cost-based compensation requirement (“Cost Study 
Adjustment”).  In the event City conducts a study hereunder in compliance with all 
applicable Laws, City must provide any study and a breakdown of actual and reasonable 
costs considered resulting in a Cost Study Adjustment and Licensee shall reimburse City 
for a proportional share of the costs of conducting such study, based on the number of 
the then-current licensees who will be subject to Cost Study Adjustment.  The License 
Fee established by the Cost Study Adjustment shall be subject to an annual escalation at 
three percent (3%) applied on January 1 of each and every year following implementation, 
unless the cost study provides a different escalation rate. 

4.2.5 Alternate License Fee. In the event the cost-based compensation 
requirement of FCC 18-133 ceases to be in effect, the Licensee shall automatically and 
immediately be obligated to pay the amount described in this paragraph.  For all existing 
and new Pole Licenses, Licensee shall pay to the Licensor an alternate license fee in the 
amount of One Thousand Three Hundred Dollars ($1,300) per calendar year for each 
License Area, subject to annual adjustment of three percent (3%) applied on January 1 
of each and every year following implementation (“Alternate License Fee”) and due and 

Page 17 of 65

Page 69



  

12

payable in accordance with paragraph 4.2.3.  No Alternate Licensee Fee shall be owed 
for any periods during which the cost-based compensation requirement of FCC 18-133 
was in effect.  However, if Licensee has paid License Fees pursuant to the provisions of 
paragraph 4.2.2 or 4.2.4 above for a calendar year, and the cost-based compensation 
requirement of FCC 18-133 ceases to be in effect during the same calendar year, the 
Licensee shall pay the difference between the License Fee and the Alternate License Fee 
for the period from the date the cost-based compensation requirement of FCC 18-133 
ceased to be in effect until December 31 of that calendar year (“License Fee 
Adjustment”).  Such License Fee Adjustment shall be paid to City on January 1.

4.3 Master License Processing Fee. Concurrent with Licensee’s delivery of an 
executed copy of this Master License, Licensee shall pay City a one-time, non-refundable 
processing fee (“Processing Fee”) of One Thousand dollars ($1,000) to compensate 
City for its legal and other costs in entering into this Master License.  Licensee 
acknowledges that the Processing Fee is not applicable against any License Fee or other 
charge or fee under this Master License.

4.4 Review Deposit and Fees. At the time of submission of each application 
related to a License Area and Pole License, as well as in the event that Licensee requires 
additional administrative services to amend, update, modify or change in any way this 
Master License, any Pole License, and/or License Area, Licensee shall pay an 
administrative processing deposit (“Review Deposit”) equal to five hours of Plan 
Checking and Engineering Fees to be applied to recover staff costs associated with the 
technical analysis, legal review and preparation of documents with respect thereto, in 
accordance with the hourly rate provided in the adopted Master Fee Schedule at the time 
of the application or other request, which may be adjusted by City from time-to-time and 
any out-of-pocket costs for consultants retained by the City.  If the City reasonably 
determines that the City’s costs will exceed the amount of the Review Deposit, the City 
shall notify Licensee in writing and provide the estimated additional amount that Licensee 
must deposit to replenish the Review Deposit.  Licensee will replenish the Review Deposit 
within fifteen (15) business days after Licensee’s receipt of such City written notice.  Once 
the City tasks for which the Review Deposit was made are completed, the City shall notify 
Licensee in writing of the surplus that will be reimbursed or shortfall that Licensee must 
pay.  Payment of any reimbursement or any shortfall shall occur within fifteen (15) 
business days after Licensee’s receipt of such City written notice unless otherwise 
provided in an applicable Pole License.  The Review Deposit is in addition to any fees 
required by other City departments for example, for other permits or inspections.  All fee 
amounts shall be assessed and administered consistent with standard City practice and 
fee schedule(s) as currently adopted and subsequently amended or replaced, in a 
manner consistent with applicable Law.

4.5 Unlawful Detainer Action. Only for the purposes of maintaining an unlawful 
detainer action, each License Fee and all other monetary obligations of Licensee under 
this License shall be considered “rent.”

4.6 Electricity Service Fees. City Poles are operated on an unmetered flat rate 
agreement with PG&E that does not cover the electricity consumption of the Equipment; 

Page 18 of 65

Page 70



  

13

Licensee shall establish a separate agreement with PG&E for the use of electricity to 
power the Equipment. 

4.7 Manner of Payment. Licensee shall pay License Fees, the Processing Fees, 
Review Fees and all other amounts payable to City under this Master License (i) in cash, 
(ii) by ACH electronic transfer only if the City informs Licensee in writing that payment by 
ACH electronic transfer is available, or (iii) other immediately available funds by check 
payable to the “City of Berkeley” and delivered to City at the address for payment specified 
in the Basic License Information, unless City directs otherwise by notice given in 
accordance with Section 28.1 (Notices).  A check that is dishonored will be deemed 
unpaid.

4.8 Interest. If Licensee fails to make any payment under this Master License 
when due, such amounts shall accrue interest, from the date such payment is due until 
paid, including accrued interest, at the lesser of the annual rate of ten percent (10%) or 
the highest percentage allowed by Law.

5. POLE LICENSE APPLICATIONS.

5.1 City Approval Required.

5.1.1 City Rights Superior. Licensee’s use of any part of a License Area 
for the Permitted Use is subject to City’s prior written approval through the issuance of a 
Pole License.  Subject to any limitations expressly provided in this Master License, City 
is not obligated to subordinate its municipal functions or proprietary interests in any way 
to Licensee’s interest.  In determining whether to approve Licensee’s application for a 
Pole License, City may consider any matter affecting its municipal obligations and 
proprietary interests; provided, however, the existence of banners and/or street signs on 
a City Pole shall not be automatic grounds for rejection of Licensee’s Pole License 
application.  Examples of municipal and proprietary concerns include, among others:

(a) the resulting total load on the City Pole if the Equipment is installed;

(b) the condition of the existing City Pole and foundation (including 
without limitation the structural integrity thereof to support the 
Equipment and/or suitability/feasibility thereof for shared or new 
conduits);

(c) the impact of the installation on City’s street light operations and 
maintenance, including whether the Equipment would compromise 
City street light circuit serving the City Pole;

(d) whether the installation complies with applicable electrical codes;

(e) whether the Equipment would create a hazardous or unsafe 
condition, including but not limited to shadows that negate the 
purpose of the street light;

Page 19 of 65

Page 71



  

14

(f) any impacts the Equipment would have in the vicinity of the City Pole, 
including size, materials, and visual clutter;

(g) aesthetic concerns;

(h) municipal plans for the City Pole; and

(i) other City goals and policies.

5.1.2 Department of Public Works Permits Required.  In addition to the 
approval of the Pole License, the Licensee shall obtain permits as required, including 
temporary permits, for the construction or maintenance of improvements in the Public 
ROW related to the approved License Area.  This potentially includes, but is not limited 
to, Engineering Permit, Miscellaneous PROW Utility Engineering Permit, and Temporary 
No Parking. 

5.2 Pole License Application. In connection with each License Area that 
Licensee desires to use for the Permitted Use, Licensee shall submit a Pole License 
application to City. 

5.2.1 Each application will consist of: (a) a description of the proposed 
License Area using the nearest address, nearest assessor parcel number, and mapped 
coordinates (by GIS or other method approved by City), describing in reasonable detail 
at the time of the initial Pole License application the type of City Pole included in the 
License Area, the proposed Equipment and method of installation, attachment and 
connection with utilities and the backhaul, and including a unique location identifier for the 
License Area for ease of future reference; (b) Licensee must submit proposed plans with 
each Pole License application; (c) the Review Fee as specified in Section 4.4 (Review 
Fee); (d) other documentation required for submittal per the version of the City of 
Berkeley’s Aesthetic Guidelines in use at the time of the application; and (e) any 
information needed for City to evaluate a request to use City circuits in accordance with 
Exhibit D. 

5.2.2 As a part of Licensee’s submission to the City’s Department of Public 
Works for approval of each Pole License, Licensee shall deliver to City structural and/or 
other analyses concerning the condition of the existing City Pole and/or foundation or 
other appurtenances, which analyses and/or required modifications shall be stamped by 
a structural engineer registered in the State of California, stating that the existing City 
Pole and/or foundation or other appurtenances (as modified or replaced in accordance 
with any recommendations contained therein) can support and will not be damaged by 
the proposed Equipment and the proposed Equipment will meet the installation guidelines 
(each, an “Integrity Analysis”).  Such Integrity Analysis shall be performed at the sole 
cost of Licensee. The results and recommendations of such Integrity Analyses, including 
without limitation any replacement or modification to the existing City Pole and/or 
foundation or other appurtenances (collectively, the “Replacement Pole”), if approved 
by the City’s Department of Public Works, shall be incorporated by Licensee into its work 
for the proposed License Area, and shall meet the requirements of the Regulatory 

Page 20 of 65

Page 72



  

15

Approvals, be capable of supporting the Equipment, and comply with all permits and other 
applicable Laws.

5.2.3 Upon City’s request, Licensee shall also promptly submit a copy of 
this fully-executed Master License. 

5.2.4 Each Pole License application shall address a single proposed 
License Area; however, Licensee may submit up to ten (10) Pole License applications 
together as a batched submission if each of such batched Pole License applications are 
for similar City Poles, wireless facilities, and technologies, and will be within reasonable 
proximity (collectively, a “Uniform Batch Application”).  Licensee may submit a Uniform 
Batch Application every two (2) weeks from the date each Uniform Batch Application 
becomes in its entirety a Complete Application (as defined below).

5.2.5 Batch Application Contractor. The limit on the number of Uniform 
Batch Applications and the timeframe for submitting the same as described in this 
Section 5.2 above, may not apply if: (a) the City and Licensee mutually approve in writing 
to use a third-party contractor, which Uniform Batch Application Contractor has been 
mutually pre-approved in writing by the City and Licensee (as approved, the “Batch 
Application Contractor”); (b) either: (i) the City engages the Uniform Batch Application 
Contractor, in which case the City shall require the Batch Application Contractor to review 
and approve Licensee’s Batch Applications to the City’s reasonable satisfaction, or 
(ii) Licensee engages the Batch Application Contractor, in which case the Licensee shall 
require the Batch Application Contractor to review and recommend approval, which 
recommendation shall be reviewed by the City to its reasonable satisfaction; and 
(c) Licensee pays the review fee charged by the Batch Application Contractor and all 
costs incurred by the City (all such costs to be cost-based) for review and approval of 
such Uniform Batch Application.

5.2.6 Licensee Access to City Poles. City understands that Licensee may 
need to inspect City Poles in order to submit applications or amendments for City’s review 
and approval.  Accordingly, City will make reasonable efforts to provide access and 
information to Licensee promptly following Licensee’s request.  On site investigations will 
be the responsibility of the Licensee and may require obtaining permits required to work 
in the ROW by City codes.  Licensee shall bear all costs associated with obtaining any 
permits and performing any investigation work.

5.3 License Application Review Process. City will review and process each Pole 
License application in the chronological order (date and time) in which applications 
satisfying the requirements in Sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 above are submitted or deemed 
submitted by City (each, a “Complete Application”) and will approve or deny each 
Complete Application within the time periods prescribed by then-applicable Laws, if any.  
Except as stated in the preceding sentence or as otherwise specified in this Master 
License, City will not give priority to any application or licensee over another application 
or licensee. 

Page 21 of 65

Page 73



  

16

5.3.1 Initial Screening/Optional Pre-Application Pole Reservation 
Request. Licensee may either deliver a Complete Application or a pre-Pole License 
application City Pole reservation request in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E (a “Pre-
Application Pole Reservation Request”) to Manager of Engineering for determination 
of whether or not the proposed Permitted Use is compatible with the type of City Pole and 
whether the proposed City Pole is available (not already in use or reserved by another 
carrier).  Licensee agrees that if it opts to submit a Pre-Application Pole Reservation 
Request, it does so voluntarily and knowing that it does not trigger any time periods or 
FCC shot clocks for action on a Pole License application, and Licensee expressly waives 
any and all such claims to the contrary.  Manager of Engineering will endeavor to issue a 
written determination (either denial pursuant to Section 5.3.1 or LOA pursuant to 
Sec. 5.3.2)  within ten (10) business days of Licensee’s submission of the Complete 
Application or Pre-Application Pole Reservation Request to City.  In the event that 
Manager of Engineering determines that the proposed Permitted Use is not compatible 
with the type of City Pole or that the proposed City Pole is not available, Manager of 
Engineering shall notify Licensee in writing of such determination, which determination 
shall constitute a denial of Licensee’s Complete Application or Pre-Application Pole 
Reservation Request; provided, however, that Licensee may elect to promptly resolve the 
identified issues and resubmit its Complete Application or Pre-Application Pole 
Reservation Request to Manager of Engineering.

5.3.2 Pole Application Review. In the event that Manager of Engineering 
determines pursuant to Section 5.3.1 that the proposed Permitted Use is compatible with 
the type of City Pole and the proposed City Pole is available, Manager of Engineering 
shall provide Licensee with a signed letter of authorization (each, an “LOA”), which LOA 
shall serve solely to evidence the City’s indication, as owner of the City Pole that Licensee 
has reserved the City Pole and may use the City Pole only if (i) it timely submits a 
Complete Application within ninety (90) days of Licensee’s receipt the LOA (if Licensee 
submitted only a Pre-Application Pole Reservation Request), (ii) it applies for and obtains 
approvals of all other applicable City departments, and (iii) a Pole License is fully 
executed, but shall not otherwise establish any rights of Licensee with respect to the 
License Area.  If Licensee submitted only a Pre-Application Pole Reservation Request, 
Licensee must submit its Complete Application within the time period in (i) above or it 
automatically loses its reservation of the City Pole.  If Licensee submitted (or timely 
submits) a Complete Application, the LOA shall specify that the City Pole is reserved until 
such time that a final determination on the Complete Application has been made by City, 
and if approved, the Pole License has been fully executed by Licensee and City or the 
time for execution has expired .

5.4 Review Fee Delivery. If Licensee does not timely deliver the required 
Review Fee, City may suspend its review of Licensee’s corresponding applications then 
under review by City.

5.5 Pole License Approval. City will notify Licensee that City has approved 
Licensee’s use of a License Area for the Permitted Use by returning to Licensee one (1) 
signed copy of the Pole License, referring to the particular License Area(s) and affixing 
the Commencement Date, which shall be the first day of the calendar month following the 

Page 22 of 65

Page 74



  

17

City’s approval.  A City decision to grant or deny a Pole License application is not a 
decision on a PROW permit application subject to appeal under BMC Section 16.10.150 
but is an exercise of City’s contractual authority hereunder.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, City shall not sign and deliver a Pole License to Licensee unless and until all 
City Regulatory Approvals for the License Area covered by the Pole License have been 
issued by the City to Licensee.

5.6 Right to Disapprove. Licensee acknowledges that City has the absolute 
right to disapprove the use of any City Pole if the placement of Licensee’s Equipment 
would interfere, or cause interference, with City’s use of City Pole to provide street lighting 
or other use, create a hazardous or unsafe condition, fail to meet the installation 
guidelines or the requirements of this Master License.  The City will issue a denial in 
writing, and the City will describe reasons for its denial.

5.7 Replacement Poles. If a Replacement Pole is approved in a Pole License, 
Licensee, at its sole cost and expense (including all costs of materials, equipment, and 
labor costs), shall replace, in kind, the City’s streetlights or other City lighting on the 
Replacement Poles and any other City equipment or City facilities necessary to place the 
lights or facilities back in operation for all uses in place prior to the removal and 
replacement of the existing City Pole.  The City shall own the Replacement Poles, shall 
retain ownership of any removed poles, and shall provide direction to Licensee for the 
delivery of any removed poles to a storage or transfer location of the City’s choosing. 
Licensee shall provide such transfer or dedication documentation for Replacement Poles 
as the City reasonably requests.  Any work under this Master License which involves 
replacing or removing City Poles shall be subject to such additional requirements as may 
be specified by the City’s Department of Public Works.

5.8 Network Poles. Any pole upon which Equipment has been installed by 
Licensee under this Master License, whether an existing City Pole or Replacement Pole, 
is hereinafter referred to as a “Network Pole.”

6. INSTALLATION OF EQUIPMENT.

6.1 Approved Plans.

6.1.1 Strict Compliance Required. Licensee’s plans and specifications and 
any Equipment installed, if authorized, shall comply with the minimum requirements 
provided in in the Aesthetic Guidelines and Exhibit D (Minimum Requirement of Plans 
and Equipment) to this Master License, attached hereto and incorporated herein.  
Licensee is authorized to install Equipment at the License Area covered by the Pole 
License only in strict compliance with the plans and specifications approved by the City 
and, if applicable, all Regulatory Approvals (“Approved Plans”), and any “like-kind” 
upgrades or replacements permitted by Section 7.1 of this Master License.

6.1.2 Required Changes/Minimum Plan Requirements. Licensee may 
apply to amend previously Approved Plans if required to obtain or comply with other 
Regulatory Approvals necessary for installation of Equipment, including construction or 

Page 23 of 65

Page 75



  

18

installation-related temporary street occupancy permits, traffic control permits and 
building permits, as may be required by City codes and/or to address issues with respect 
to a particular License Area.  Amendment of Approved Plans will require City’s approval 
and payment of a Review Fee.  Licensee acknowledges that as of the Effective Date of 
this Master License, City has not approved or promised to approve any plans or permits 
necessary for Licensee to install Equipment on a City Pole within any License Area. 
Licensee agrees that any plans or amendments approved by the City shall at a minimum, 
include the elements described in the Aesthetic Guidelines and Exhibit D attached hereto 
and incorporated herein. City will provide notice of its decision in accordance with 
Section 28.1 (Notices).

6.1.3 Corrections. City’s approval of plans and of any amendments to 
Approved Plans and the issuance of related Regulatory Approvals will not release 
Licensee from the responsibility for and obligation to correct any errors or omissions that 
may be contained in the Approved Plans, any amendments and related Regulatory 
Approvals.  Licensee shall notify the City’s Department of Public Works immediately upon 
discovery of any omissions or errors, and Licensee shall obtain required approvals of any 
amendments to previously Approved Plans or amendments.

6.2 Installation. Licensee shall not commence installation of Equipment in a 
License Area until City has executed and delivered a Pole License and all PW Permits 
have been obtained.  When installing Equipment, Licensee must strictly comply with 
Approved Plans and PW Permits as originally approved, or, if applicable, as amended or 
corrected.

6.3 Cost of Labor and Materials. Licensee is responsible for all direct and 
indirect costs (labor, materials and overhead) for designing, purchasing and installing 
Equipment in accordance with the Approved Plans, approved amendments and all 
applicable Laws.  Licensee also shall bear all costs of obtaining all Regulatory Approvals 
required in connection with the installation, and Licensee shall satisfy any conditions or 
mitigation measures arising from Licensee’s proposed installation.  City is not responsible 
for any costs associated with labor, materials, Equipment and all professional services 
related to the Permitted Use.

6.4 No Alteration of City’s Existing Equipment or Infrastructure. Licensee shall 
not damage or, except as otherwise provided in a Pole License, remove, or alter in any 
way any City property, including, without limitation, fiber, pull boxes, Tesco panel, 
electrical equipment, conductors, conduit, wiring and electrical vaults, without the express 
written permission of City and other City agencies that have jurisdiction over the property.

6.5 Standard of Work. Licensee must install and perform all work on and in 
connection with Equipment in strict compliance with Approved Plans (except for work 
conducted in furtherance of Section 7.1 or 13.3.3 below), PW Permits, and approved 
amendments thereto diligently and in a skillful and workmanlike manner.  Licensee must 
use qualified and properly trained persons and appropriately licensed contractors for all 
work on any License Area.  No later than ten (10) Business Days before commencing 
installation of any Equipment or any other work on or about any License Area, Licensee 

Page 24 of 65

Page 76



  

19

shall provide City with: (a) a schedule of all activities; and (b) a list of the names, places 
of business, and license numbers of all contractors who will perform the work.  After 
performing any work on a License Area, Licensee shall leave it and other property in a 
condition as good as it was before the work.  Within twenty (20) Business Days of 
completing the installation of Equipment in a License Area, Licensee shall notify City of 
such completion.

6.6 Coordination of Work. Licensee shall be responsible for coordination of its 
installation work to avoid any interference with existing utilities, substructures, facilities, 
equipment and City street light operations.  Licensee shall be City’s point of contact for 
all Equipment installation and except in case of emergency, all communications 
concerning all engineering, construction and installation issues relating to the Equipment.  
If a person other than Licensee or City would have to rearrange or adjust any of its 
facilities in order to accommodate new Equipment, Licensee shall be responsible to 
coordinate such activity.  If Licensee is requested by another person, in comparable 
circumstances, to relocate or adjust any Equipment to accommodate that person’s 
facilities, subject to City’s written approval of such relocation (which may be granted only 
after obtaining Licensee’s prior written approval, such approval not to be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed), Licensee shall reasonably cooperate with such 
request.

6.7 Installation; Parking-Regulations. When installing Equipment, Licensee 
must abide by all City construction regulations, including construction hours, waste 
management, noise abatement and traffic management ordinances and regulations.  
Licensee must pay all parking meter fees and citation fines incurred by Licensee and its 
contractors for vehicle parking.  City will not pay or void any citations or reimburse 
Licensee for traffic citations or fines, including obtaining permits for use of the ROW.

7. NO ALTERATIONS/UNAUTHORIZED EQUIPMENT.

7.1 After installation in accordance with Approved Plans, Licensee shall not 
make or permit any alterations to a License Area or anything that is part of, installed on 
or in the License Area without City’s prior written consent.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
City’s approval for modifications or any alterations to the applicable Pole License shall 
not be required in connection with routine maintenance or modifications that consist of 
upgrades or replacement of “like-kind” Equipment which is substantially similar (or smaller 
in size) in appearance, dimensions, weight, and radio frequency (“RF”) emissions to the 
then-existing and approved Equipment.

7.2 If City discovers any Equipment has been installed on any City Poles 
without authorization pursuant to a Pole License, City may send an invoice to Licensee 
for a sum equal to five (5) times the then-current License Fee as compensation for the 
unauthorized attachments (the “Unauthorized Attachment Fee”), and, within sixty (60) 
days from the date of Licensee’s receipt of such invoice, Licensee shall (i) pay the 
invoiced amount to City and submit a Complete Application for the unauthorized 
equipment, or (ii) produce documentation showing City’s prior approval of the Equipment 
identified in the invoice.  If, in accordance with this Section, Licensee fails to pay the 

Page 25 of 65

Page 77



  

20

Unauthorized Attachment Fee and submit the Complete Application, or produce 
documentation showing City’s prior approval within sixty (60) days of Licensee’s receipt 
of City’s invoice, City may remove the unauthorized equipment at Licensee’s expense.  If 
City removes such unauthorized Equipment in accordance with this Section, Licensee 
shall have thirty (30) days thereafter to claim and retake possession of such Equipment 
otherwise such Equipment shall become the property of City, who shall have sole rights 
over such Equipment’s disposition. City’s removal of unauthorized equipment shall not 
release Licensee from its obligation to pay those invoiced fees accruing pursuant to this 
Section.

8. CITY WORK ON NETWORK POLES.

8.1 Repairs, Maintenance, and Alterations. City will be responsible for 
maintenance and repair of Network Poles to the same standards as other City Poles as 
needed for its street light operations. Neither City work on Network Poles nor the condition 
of Network Poles will (a) entitle Licensee to any damages except to the extent caused by 
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City and/or any Indemnified Parties and not 
covered by insurance and subject to the limitations on liability in Section 20, (b) relieve 
Licensee of the obligation to pay all or any portion of any License Fees, Processing Fee, 
Review Fees or other required costs and fees, (c) relieve Licensee of the obligation to 
perform each of its other covenants or obligations under this Master License, or constitute 
or be construed as a constructive termination of this Master License and any Pole 
License.

8.2 City Use of Network Poles. Licensee understands and agrees that the City 
intends to continue to use the Network Poles for City streetlights and other City purposes 
and may do so without limitation subject to the terms and conditions of this Master 
License.  Further, City may install other non-lighting related City facilities on, or otherwise 
make use of, the Network Poles as it deems desirable, including without limitation 
granting new or additional access and/or use rights to the Network Poles by third parties; 
provided that such other non-lighting related City uses of the Network Poles or new or 
additional access and/or use rights to the Network Poles by third parties does not interfere 
with Licensee’s Permitted Use of the License Areas as permitted hereunder.  Licensee 
shall reasonably cooperate with the City and all other third parties using the Network 
Poles subject to Licensee’s rights under this Master License and the applicable Pole 
License.  Any interference caused by other non-lighting related City uses shall be 
governed as provided in Section 27.1 below.

8.3 Notice to Licensee. City reserves the right at any time to make alterations, 
additions, repairs, removals and improvements to all or any part of a Network Pole for 
any operational purpose, including maintenance and improvement of City services to City 
Poles and City compliance with mandatory regulations or voluntary controls or guidelines, 
subject to: (i) making reasonable efforts to give Licensee prior notice of any City work in 
accordance with Section 8.3 (Licensee’s On-Call Representative); (ii) allowing a 
representative of Licensee to observe City’s work; and (iii) taking reasonable steps not to 
disrupt Licensee’s normal use of Equipment on or in a License Area.  Licensee’s use of 

Page 26 of 65

Page 78



  

21

a License Area may not impede or delay in any way City’s authority and ability to make 
changes necessary to maintain City Poles.

8.4 Licensee’s On-Call Representative(s). Licensee shall at all times maintain 
a working emergency phone number(s) for the City to use to contact Licensee’s on-call 
representative(s) (the current number is listed in the Basic License Information), regarding 
the operation of Licensee’s Equipment.  Licensee’s on-call representative(s) assigned to 
take emergency calls shall be qualified and experienced in the operation of Equipment, 
and shall be authorized to act on behalf of Licensee in any emergency and in day-to-day 
operations of the Equipment or shall have the ability to notify and promptly dispatch or 
put City in contact with a Licensee operations representative(s) with the necessary 
qualifications and experience.  Before City performs non-emergency maintenance, repair 
or other activities on a License Area in the regular course of its business that may impair 
the operation of Licensee’s Equipment on or in the License Area, City will attempt to 
provide at least 48 hours telephonic, or emailed, notice to Licensee’s on-call 
representative.  City will not be required to delay non-emergency repair or maintenance 
activities more than 48 hours after attempting to contact Licensee’s on-call representative. 
Failure by City to provide notice, as described above, will not be deemed a default under 
this Master License.

8.5 Emergencies/Network Poles. The parties agree to notify each other of any 
emergency situation related to any Network Pole at the emergency phone numbers listed 
in the Basic License Information at the earliest opportunity.  In an emergency, however, 
City’s work and needs will take precedence over the operations of any of Licensee’s 
Equipment in a License Area, and City may access any portion of a License Area that it 
determines is necessary in its sole discretion in accordance with Section 21.2 
(Emergency Access), whether or not City has notified Licensee of the emergency.  
Licensee acknowledges that City personnel will be entitled to exercise their judgment in 
an emergency caused by any person or entity, and in the exercise of judgment may 
determine that the operation of Licensee’s Equipment must be interrupted, or that the 
circumstances require the removal of any part of Licensee’s Equipment.  Licensee agrees 
that, except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City, 
City will bear no liability to Licensee for City’s interruption of Licensee’s Equipment 
operations, removal of Equipment or other actions with respect to Licensee’s Equipment 
in an emergency, and that Licensee shall be solely responsible for the costs required to 
resume operations following the emergency.

9. LICENSEE’S OBLIGATION FOR MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR COSTS.

9.1 Damage to City Poles. If the acts, omissions or negligence of Licensee or 
its employees, Agents or Invitees when installing, removing, repairing or accessing 
Equipment damages any City Poles, Licensee shall repair such damage to the 
reasonable satisfaction of City, which may require replacement in City’s reasonable 
determination. If Licensee does not perform the repairs or replacement within the time 
specified in Section 17.1 (Default) below, City may elect to repair the damage, or make 
the replacement, at Licensee’s expense and demand payment for City’s cost of repair or 
replacement.  Licensee shall reimburse City for its costs of repair or replacement within 

Page 27 of 65

Page 79



  

22

thirty (30) days after receipt of City’s demand for payment, delivered with copies of 
invoices or other evidence of its costs.

9.2 No Right to Alter or Repair City Property. Except as provided in this Master 
License, Licensee is not authorized to alter or make any repairs to City property.  In all 
cases, Licensee waives any right it may have to make repairs at City’s expense under 
any applicable Law.

9.3 Notice of Damage to City Poles. Licensee agrees to make reasonable 
efforts to give City written notice promptly after Licensee’s discovery of damage to City 
Poles from any cause.  Licensee’s agreement to provide notice is not an assumption of 
liability for any life-threatening or hazardous conditions, except to the extent caused by 
the acts, omissions or negligence of Licensee or its employees, Agents or Invitees.  A 
Licensee failure to give notice of damage caused by others shall not be grounds for City 
termination of this Master License or any Pole License. 

9.4 Maintenance and Repair of Licensee’s Equipment. After Licensee’s 
Equipment is installed, this Master License does not grant Licensee any right of access 
to any License Area except as provided herein.  Licensee’s right to modify and maintain 
its Equipment is subject to Article 8 above.  If Licensee becomes aware of any damage 
solely to Equipment installed in a License Area requiring repair, Licensee may make the 
repairs at Licensee’s expense.  If City becomes aware that an emergency repair or 
removal of Equipment is necessary to protect life or property, City may, without liability to 
Licensee, repair or remove Equipment or if possible will provide notice to Licensee and 
coordinate with Licensee to allow Licensee to make such repairs or removal.  If City does 
the work, Licensee shall reimburse City for its costs of repair or removal within thirty (30) 
days after receipt of City’s demand for payment, delivered with copies of invoices or other 
evidence of its costs.

10. LIENS. Licensee shall keep each License Area free from any liens or stop notices 
arising out of any work performed, material furnished or obligations incurred by or for 
Licensee.  Licensee shall inform each and every contractor and material supplier that 
provides any work, service, equipment or material to Licensee in any way connected with 
Licensee’s use of a License Area that the License Area is public property and is not 
subject to mechanics’ liens or stop notices for Equipment.  If Licensee does not cause the 
release of lien of a mechanics’ lien or stop notice by any contractor, service provider or 
equipment or material supplier purporting to attach to a License Area or other property 
within thirty (30) days after Licensee’s receipt of written notice of the lien or stop notice, 
City will have the right, but not the obligation, to bond the lien or stop notice. Licensee 
must reimburse City for all expenses it incurs in connection with any such lien or stop 
notice (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) within thirty (30) days following receipt of 
City’s demand, together with evidence of City’s expenses.

11. UTILITIES; TAXES’ AND ASSESSMENTS.

11.1 Utilities. Licensee shall be solely responsible for all costs, expenses and 
payments of electricity charges by the applicable utility company arising solely out of 

Page 28 of 65

Page 80



  

23

Licensee’s Equipment and shall pay for the electricity and other utilities services it 
consumes in its operations at the rate charged by the servicing utility company, together 
with applicable tariffs, including, if applicable, power used by Licensee due to shared use 
of City’s conduit.  While City is not obligated to make its utility infrastructure available to 
Licensee, nonetheless, to the extent feasible City shall make a good faith effort to make 
its utility infrastructure available in connection with each City Pole identified by Licensee 
in a Pole License application, and Licensee and City shall work cooperatively to allow 
Licensee to use City’s utility infrastructure wherever possible.  If City determines that its 
utility infrastructure is not available to Licensee at a City Pole location identified by 
Licensee in a Pole License application, City will assist Licensee in identifying a different 
City Pole located in close proximity to the City Pole identified in Licensee’s Pole License 
application where City would be amenable to granting Licensee the right to use the City’s 
utility infrastructure associated with such different City Pole.

11.2 Taxes and Assessments.

11.2.1 Possessory Interest Taxes. City hereby provides notice pursuant to 
California Revenue and Taxation Code section 107.6, and Licensee recognizes and 
understands that this Master License and/or Pole Licenses may create a possessory 
interest subject to property taxation, and Licensee may be required to pay possessory 
interest taxes, as described in California Revenue and Taxation Code section 107.6.  
Licensee further recognizes and understands that any sublicense or assignment 
permitted under this Master License may constitute a change in ownership for purposes 
of property taxation and therefore may result in a revaluation of any possessory interest 
created under this Master License.

11.2.2 Licensee’s Obligation if Assessed. Licensee agrees to pay taxes of 
any kind, including possessory interest taxes that may be assessed by law on the 
leasehold interest hereby created, as well as excises, licenses, permit charges and 
assessments based on Licensee’s usage of each License Area that may be imposed 
upon Licensee by Laws, if any, when the same become due and payable and before 
delinquency. Licensee agrees not to allow or suffer a lien for any taxes to be imposed 
upon any License Area without promptly discharging the same, provided that Licensee, if 
so desiring, will have a reasonable opportunity to contest the validity or amount of the 
same using such administrative, appellate or other proceedings as may be appropriate in 
the jurisdiction and to the extent allowed by Laws.  City will provide Licensee with copies 
of all tax and assessment notices on or including any License Area promptly, along with 
sufficient written documentation detailing any assessment increases attributable to 
Licensee’s Equipment, but in no event later than thirty (30) days after receipt by City.

11.2.3 Taxes on Equipment. Licensee shall be responsible for any taxes 
and assessments attributable to and levied upon Licensee’s Equipment.  Licensee agrees 
not to allow or suffer a lien for any such taxes to be imposed upon the Equipment without 
promptly discharging the same, provided that Licensee, if so desiring, will have a 
reasonable opportunity to contest the validity or amount of the same using such 
administrative, appellate or other proceedings as may be appropriate in the jurisdiction 
and to the extent allowed by Laws.

Page 29 of 65

Page 81



  

24

12. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.

12.1 Licensee shall install and use the Equipment in strict compliance with Laws 
and conditions to Regulatory Approvals relating to the use or occupancy of each License 
Area, including, without limitation, all Laws relating to health and safety and radio signal 
transmission.  Any installation work performed by or on behalf of Licensee or any person 
or entity claiming through or under Licensee is subject to applicable Laws. 

12.2 Personnel Safety Training.

12.2.1 CPUC Certification. Licensee shall ensure that all persons installing 
its Equipment on Licensee’s or Licensee’s Agent’s behalf, are appropriately trained and 
licensed by the California State Contractors Licensing Board and as required by 
applicable regulations and rules of the California Public Utilities Commission (the 
“CPUC”).  Licensee shall ensure that these persons are trained in and will observe all 
applicable safety requirements established by City, the CPUC, and the California Division 
of Occupational Safety & Health, Department of Industrial Relations, including, without 
limitation, site orientation, tag-out lock-out de- energization rules, ladder and lift 
restrictions and track and street right-of-way safety requirements.

12.2.2 Licensee’s Indemnity. During any period when Licensee or any 
Agent of Licensee is installing, repairing, replacing or accessing its Equipment, Licensee 
acknowledges and agrees that City has delegated control of the License Area to 
Licensee, and Licensee shall be solely responsible for any resulting injury or damage to 
property or persons.  City is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a co-employer of any 
employee of Licensee or any employee of Licensee’s Agents, and City will not be liable 
for any Claim of any employee of Licensee, any employee of Licensee’s Agents or any 
third party arising from any period when Licensee or any Agent of Licensee or any third 
party is accessing or using the License Area.  Licensee agrees to Indemnify City fully (as 
provided in Article 18 (Licensee’s Indemnity)) against any Claim brought by any 
employee of Licensee, any employee of Licensee’s Agents or any third party arising from 
or related to Licensee’s access to and use of any License Area and other activities of 
Licensee or its Agents or Invitees in or around in any License Area, except to the extent 
attributable to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City or any Indemnified Party.

12.3 Regulatory Approvals. Licensee represents and warrants that prior to and 
as a condition to conducting its activities on a License Area, Licensee will acquire and 
comply with all Regulatory Approvals required for Licensee’s use of the License Area.  
Licensee shall maintain and comply with all Regulatory Approvals for Licensee’s 
Permitted Use at each License Area throughout the term of the applicable Pole License 
and for as long as any Equipment is installed on any portion of a License Area.

12.4 Compliance with City’s Risk Management Requirements. Licensee shall not 
do anything or permit anything to be done by anyone under Licensee’s control, in, on, or 
about a License Area that would create any unusual fire risk, and shall take commercially 
reasonable steps to protect City from any potential liability by reason of Licensee’s use of 

Page 30 of 65

Page 82



  

25

a License Area. Licensee, at Licensee’s expense, shall comply with all reasonable rules, 
orders, regulations, and requirements of City’s risk manager or other insurance advisor.

12.5 Compliance with Other City Laws. Licensee has reviewed, understands, 
and is ready, willing and able to comply with all City Laws, as such are amended or 
revised from time-to-time.

13. TERMINATION, REMOVAL, RELOCATION, AND ABANDONMENT.

13.1 Licensee’s Termination Rights. Licensee may terminate this Master License 
(and all Pole Licenses, if any) on one hundred eighty (180) days’ written notice to City.  
Licensee may remove any Pole License location from this Master License by terminating 
the applicable Pole License without terminating this Master License (i) at any time on 
ninety (90) days’ written notice to City; and (ii) upon written notice to the City in the event 
that RF or physical interference is caused by the City or any Indemnified Party to 
Licensee’s operation of its Equipment which interference Licensee determines in good 
faith is not resolvable within ten (10) days from the commencement of such interference.

13.2 City’s Termination Rights.

13.2.1 City’s Absolute Right to Terminate. City has the absolute right in its 
sole and reasonable discretion to terminate a Pole License if the City Administrator (or 
his or her designee) determines that Licensee’s continued use of a License Area 
adversely affects or poses a threat to public health and safety, constitutes a public 
nuisance under the Berkeley Municipal Code, interferes with City’s operations, or requires 
City to maintain a City Pole that is no longer required for City purposes.

13.2.2 Cure. If the condition giving rise to City’s right to terminate a Pole 
License in Section 13.2.1 above is susceptible to cure, City will provide written notice to 
Licensee of City’s determination, the underlying reasons for the determination, and 
provide a forty-five (45)-day cure period following which the affected Pole License will be 
terminated if Licensee has not caused a cure, which shall be in City’s sole but reasonable 
discretion.  If the condition is not susceptible to cure in City’s sole but reasonable 
judgment, City will have the right to terminate the affected Pole License(s) on thirty (30) 
days’ written notice to Licensee of City’s determination.

13.2.3 Licensee’s Rights after Termination. Promptly after the effective date 
of any termination of a Pole License under Section 13.2 (City’s Termination Rights), if 
Licensee wishes to replace the License Area, City will give priority to Licensee’s license 
application for a substitute Pole License, but the grant of priority will not affect Licensee’s 
obligations under this Master License, including the requirement to obtain all Regulatory 
Approvals for the substitute Pole License.

Page 31 of 65

Page 83



  

26

13.3 Removal of Licensee’s Equipment.

13.3.1 Removal Due to Public Project.

(a) Subject to other provisions of this Master License, in the event 
City desires to redevelop, modify, remodel, demolish, or in any way alter the PROW and 
any improvements thereon, the City shall make good faith efforts to accommodate 
Licensee’s continuing use of the Network Poles, to the extent reasonably feasible given 
the scope of the project and provided that such accommodation can be made at no cost 
to the City.

(b) Within thirty (30) days of receipt of a written demand from the 
City, or such longer time as specified in the written demand, pursuant to this Article 13, 
Licensee, at its sole cost and expense, shall remove and relocate any part of the 
Equipment, constructed, installed, used and/or maintained by Licensee under this Master 
License, whenever the City reasonably determines that the removal and/or relocation of 
any part of the Equipment is needed due to any work proposed to be done by or on behalf 
of the City or any other governmental agency, including but not limited to, any change of 
grade, alignment or width of any street, sidewalk or other public facility, installation of 
curbs, gutters or landscaping and installation, construction, maintenance or operation of 
any underground or aboveground facilities such as sewers, water mains, drains, storm 
drains, pipes, gas mains, poles, power lines, telephone lines, cable television lines and 
tracks.

(c) The City shall provide Licensee with prior written notice of such 
removal or relocation as soon as reasonably feasible and shall reasonably cooperate with 
Licensee in relocating any portion of the Equipment removed pursuant to this 
Section 13.3 in a manner that allows Licensee to continue providing Service to its 
customers and the applicable Pole License shall be accordingly amended; provided, 
however, that such cooperation shall be at no cost to the City.

(d) In the event any such portion of the Equipment is not so 
relocated, the applicable Pole License shall terminate.

(e) Notwithstanding Sections 13.3.1(a)-(d) above, Licensee shall 
have the right to immediately terminate the applicable Pole License(s) upon written notice 
to City in lieu of relocating or removing its Equipment pursuant to a City written demand 
in accordance with this Section 13.3.1, in which event, Licensee shall remove its 
Equipment in accordance with the terms and conditions of Section 13.3.3 below.

13.3.2 Temporary Removal Due to Exigent Circumstances. City in its sole 
but reasonable discretion may determine that exigent circumstances require, for reasons 
of an imminent threat to public, health, safety, or needs of City operations for the 
protection of persons or property from an imminent threat of harm, that Licensee must 
temporarily remove Licensee’s Equipment from a particular License Area on 48-hours’ 
notice.  Notice shall be provided by contacting Licensee’s Network Operations Center at 
the phone number provided in Section 1.3.2 above.  Licensee may reinstall the removed 

Page 32 of 65

Page 84



  

27

Equipment, only once City determines it is safe to do so.  If City determines the removal 
must be permanent, the Pole License will terminate as to the identified License Area upon 
expiration of the 48-hour period.

13.3.3 Removal Due to Termination or Expiration. Upon the expiration of 
the Term of this Master License, or earlier termination of this Master License or any 
individual Pole License pursuant to the provisions of this Master License, Licensee shall, 
at its sole cost and expense, remove its Equipment in the manner provided in Section 6.5 
above and in accordance with Section 25.1 below. If such removal disturbs the adjacent 
property to the License Area(s), Licensee shall, at its sole cost and expense, restore the 
adjacent property to its condition existing immediately prior to Licensee’s commencement 
of such removal activity, reasonable wear and tear excepted, including landscaping and 
related irrigation equipment, or other aesthetic improvements made by Licensee to the 
License Area or adjacent property.  As part of Licensee’s removal work, Licensee shall 
restore each License Area(s) to the condition existing immediately prior to Licensee’s 
initial installation of its Equipment at the License Area(s), reasonable wear and tear and 
damage from causes beyond the reasonable control of Licensee excepted.  If Licensee 
becomes obligated to remove its Equipment from ten (10) or fewer License Areas on the 
same date, Licensee shall have sixty (60) days to complete the removal and restoration, 
if applicable, work.  If Licensee becomes obligated to remove its Equipment from more 
than ten (10) License Areas on the same date, Licensee shall have one hundred twenty 
(120) days to complete the removal and restoration, if applicable, work.

13.3.4 Abandonment. In the event Licensee ceases to operate the 
Equipment for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days or more, except for any period of 
cessation due to Force Majeure, Licensee shall be deemed to have abandoned the same 
and following Licensee’s receipt of written notice from City shall, at its sole cost and 
expense, remove its Equipment from the License Area in accordance with Section 13.3.3 
above.

14. DAMAGE.

14.1 City Election. City has no obligation to replace or repair any part of any 
Equipment following damage by any cause; provided, however, in the event that City or 
any Indemnified Party causes damage to Licensee’s Equipment, then City shall reimburse 
Licensee for the actual cost incurred by Licensee to repair or replace the damaged 
Equipment within thirty (30) days of City’s receipt of an invoice from Licensee 
accompanied with reasonable substantiation of the costs incurred.  Following damage to 
any Network Pole in a non-emergency situation, City may elect any of the following 
actions, in City’s sole and absolute discretion. Procedures in emergency situations are 
set forth in Section 21.

14.1.1 Election to Repair or Replace Damaged Network Poles. Within thirty 
(30) days after the date on which City discovers damage to any Network Pole, City will 
give Licensee written notice of City’s decision whether to repair or replace the damaged 
Network Pole and its good faith estimate of the amount of time City will need to complete 
the work.  If City cannot complete the work within thirty (30) days after the date that City 

Page 33 of 65

Page 85



  

28

specifies in its written notice, or if City elects not to do the work, then Licensee will have 
the right to complete the work at Licensee’s cost.  If Licensee’s Equipment must be 
temporarily removed to complete the work, City will give Licensee ten (10) days’ prior 
written notice to remove the Equipment.

14.1.2 Election to Remove Damaged Network Pole. If City decides to 
remove, rather than repair or replace any damaged Network Pole, the applicable Pole 
License will terminate automatically as of the last day of the month the Network Pole is 
removed. City will give Licensee at least ten (10) days’ prior written notice to remove 
Licensee’s Equipment from the damaged Network Pole.

14.1.3 Licensee’s Rights after Termination. After termination of any Pole 
License as to any License Area under this Section, City will give priority to Licensee’s 
application for a replacement Pole License.

15. EMINENT DOMAIN.

15.1 Eminent Domain. If all or any part of a License Area is permanently taken 
in the exercise of the power of eminent domain or any transfer in lieu thereof, the following 
will apply:

15.1.1 Termination. As of the date of taking, this Master License will 
terminate as to the part so taken, and the License Fee will be ratably reduced to account 
for the portion of the License Area taken.

15.1.2 Award. City will be entitled to any award paid or made in connection 
with the taking.  Licensee will have no claim against City for the value of any unexpired 
Term of this Master License or otherwise, except that Licensee may claim any portion of 
the award that is specifically allocable to Licensee’s relocation expenses or loss or 
damage to Licensee’s Equipment, so long as such does not reduce City’s award.

15.2 Temporary Takings. A taking that affects any portion of a License Area for 
less than ninety (90) days will have no effect on this Master License.  In the event of any 
such temporary taking, Licensee will receive the portion of any award, if any, that 
represents compensation for the use or occupancy of the License Area during the Term 
up to sum of the License Fees payable by Licensee for the period of the taking, and City 
will receive the balance of the award, so long as Licensee’s award does not reduce the 
amount to which City is entitled.

16. ASSIGNMENT.

16.1 Restriction on Assignment. Except as specifically provided in Section 16.6 
(Permitted Assignment), Licensee shall not directly or indirectly make an Assignment any 
part of its interest in or rights with respect to any License Area without City’s prior written 
consent.

16.2 Notice of Proposed Assignment. If Licensee desires to enter into an 
Assignment of this Master License, Licensee shall give notice (a “Notice of Proposed 

Page 34 of 65

Page 86



  

29

Assignment”) to City, stating in detail the terms and conditions for such proposed 
Assignment and complete non-confidential and non-proprietary information, including 
financial statements, business history, and references and other information about the 
proposed assignee (the “Assignee”) reasonably necessary for City to make a fully 
informed decision about Licensee’s request, which notice shall include payment of a 
deposit in the amount of Two Thousand Dollars ($2000.00) the Assignment Review 
Deposit.  If Licensee does not deliver all information that City reasonably requires 
simultaneously with the Notice of Proposed Assignment, plus the Assignment Review 
Deposit, the date of Licensee’s delivery of notice will be deemed to have occurred only 
when it has delivered any additional reasonable non-confidential and non-proprietary 
information City requests, plus the Assignment Review Deposit.  The Assignment Review 
Deposit shall be applied and subject to replenishment or reimbursement in the same 
manner as the Review Deposit in Section 4.4 above.

16.3 City’s Response.

16.3.1 Timing. City will grant or deny any request for consent to an 
Assignment within thirty (30) days after City’s receipt or deemed receipt, if delayed under 
Section 16.2 (Notice of Proposed Assignment), of the Notice of Proposed Assignment 
(the “Assignment Response Period”).  If City consents to the proposed Assignment, 
then Licensee shall advise City in writing when it has completed the Assignment. 

16.3.2 Effect of Default. Licensee acknowledges that it would be reasonable 
for City to refuse to consent to an Assignment during any period during which any 
monetary or other material event of Default (as defined below) by Licensee is outstanding 
(or any event has occurred that with notice or the passage of time or both would constitute 
a default) under this Master License.

16.4 Effect of Assignment. No Assignment by Licensee, consent to Assignment 
by City or Permitted Assignment under Section 16.6 (Permitted Assignment), will relieve 
Licensee of any obligation on its part under this Master License unless and until the 
Assignee certifies that it possesses a net worth of at least $10,000,000 and delivers to 
City an instrument that contains a covenant of assumption of all of the terms, conditions 
and obligations under this Master License by such Assignee reasonably satisfactory in 
substance and form to City as required by Section 16.5 below.  Any Assignment that is 
not in compliance with this Article 16 will be void and shall be grounds for City to declare 
Licensee to be in material default under this Master License subject to the notice and cure 
provisions of Section 17.1 (Defined) below.  City’s acceptance of any License Fee or other 
payments from a proposed Assignee will not be deemed to be City’s consent to such 
Assignment, recognition of any Assignee or waiver of any failure of Licensee or other 
transferor to comply with this Section 16.

16.5 Assumption by Assignee. Each Assignee, including those approved as a 
Permitted Assignment under Section 16.6, shall assume all obligations of Licensee under 
this Master License and will be and remain liable jointly and severally with Licensee for 
obligations performed by Licensee except as expressly provided in this Section 16.5 
below.  No Assignment will be binding on City, and Licensee will not be released from all 

Page 35 of 65

Page 87



  

30

obligations and liabilities under this Master License as of the effective date of any 
Assignment (including a Permitted Assignment), unless and until Licensee or the 
Assignee delivers to City (i) evidence reasonably satisfactory to City that the Assignee 
has obtained all Regulatory Approvals required to operate as a wireless 
telecommunications service provider on the assigned License Area(s), (ii) a copy of the 
Assignment agreement or alternatively, a certification in writing that Assignee has a net 
worth of at least $10,000,000 (or other document reasonably satisfactory to City in the 
event of a Permitted Assignment under Section 16.6 (Permitted Assignment)), and (iii) an 
instrument that contains a covenant of assumption of all of the terms, conditions, and 
obligations of Licensee under this Master License as of the effective date of the 
Assignment by such Assignee reasonably satisfactory in substance and form to City, 
consistent with the requirements of this Article.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the failure 
or refusal of an Assignee to execute such instrument of assumption will not release such 
Assignee from its liability as set forth in this Section.  Except for a Permitted Assignment, 
as provided in Section 16.6 (Permitted Assignment), Licensee shall reimburse City on 
demand for any reasonable costs that City incurs in connection with any proposed 
Assignment, including the costs of investigating the acceptability of the proposed 
Assignee and legal costs incurred in connection with considering any requested consent.

16.6 Permitted Assignment.

16.6.1 Defined. City agrees that Licensee will be permitted to enter into an 
Assignment of this Master License (a “Permitted Assignment”), without City’s prior 
consent, but with notice to City as provided below, to: (i) an Affiliate; (ii) a Subsidiary; 
(iii) an entity, provided that it has net worth of at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), 
that acquires all or substantially all of Licensee’s assets in the market in which the License 
Areas are located (as the market is defined by the FCC under an order or directive of the 
FCC); (iv) an entity, provided that it has net worth of at least Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000), that acquires Licensee by a change of stock ownership or partnership 
interest; or (v) an entity, provided that it has net worth of at least Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000), Controlled by Licensee or that, with Licensee, is under the Common 
Control of a third party.

16.6.2 Conditions. A Permitted Assignment is subject to the following 
conditions:

16.6.2.1 Assignee uses all License Areas only for the Permitted 
Use and holds all Regulatory Approvals necessary to lawfully install and operate 
Equipment in each License Area.

16.6.2.2 Licensee provides City with written notice thirty (30) 
days after the effective date of the Permitted Assignment, stating the contact information 
for the proposed Assignee and providing financial information establishing that the 
proposed Assignee meets the capital and fiscal qualifications stated in this Section.

16.6.2.3 Licensee is not then in Default (as defined below) 
under this Master License.

Page 36 of 65

Page 88



  

31

16.7 Sublicensing/Collocation.

(a) The parties agree and acknowledge that certain Equipment installed 
by Licensee on Network Poles pursuant to this Master License may either: (i) be owned 
and/or operated by Licensee’s third-party wireless carrier customers and installed and 
maintained by Licensee pursuant to license agreements between Licensee and such 
wireless carrier customers, or (ii) used by Licensee to service such wireless carrier 
customers (in each case, a “Collocation”).  Such Collocation shall not constitute an 
Assignment.

(b) Equipment subject to a Collocation arrangement shall be treated as 
Licensee’s Equipment for all purposes under this Master License; provided that: 
(i) Licensee remains responsible and liable for all obligations under the Master License 
with respect to such Equipment; (ii) City’s sole point of contact regarding such Equipment 
shall be Licensee; (iii) Licensee shall have the right to remove and relocate the Equipment 
as otherwise provided in the Master License; (iv) and Licensee shall not grant such 
wireless carrier customers with rights to access such Equipment.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall more than one (1) 
such third-party wireless carrier customer’s Equipment be installed, as described in this 
Master License, at any given License Area without Licensee obtaining the advance 
written approval of City (to be granted or denied in City’s sole discretion) and which may 
include, depending on the proposed deployment, paying to City an additional License Fee 
for each additional wireless carrier customer for which Equipment will be Collocated at a 
License Area (each additional wireless carrier whose Equipment are installed at a License 
Area, an “Additional Collocation”).

17. DEFAULT.

17.1 Defined.  A “Default” shall be deemed to have occurred under this Master 
License or any Pole License if a party fails to comply with any of the conditions and 
obligations imposed hereunder or in a Pole License and the failure continues for more 
than thirty (30) days after receipt by the defaulting party of written notice specifying such 
Default, provided that if the non-compliance is of a nature that it cannot be cured within 
thirty (30) days, a Default shall not have occurred so long as the defaulting party has 
commenced to cure within thirty (30) days and thereafter diligently pursues such cure to 
completion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Default” shall also be deemed to have 
occurred under this Master License or any Pole License if City fails to provide Licensee 
access to the License Area in accordance with this Master License within ten (10) 
business days of City’s receipt of written notice of such failure from Licensee.

17.2 Remedies. Upon the Default of one party, then following expiration of the 
notice and cure opportunity described in Section 17.1, the non-defaulting party may by 
written notice to the other party, terminate (i) the Pole License(s) to which such Default 
pertains, or (ii) this Master License if such Default pertains to all, or substantially all, 
the Pole Licenses then-existing under this Master License pursue all remedies 

Page 37 of 65

Page 89



  

32

provided for in this Master License and/or any remedies it may have under Law or equity 
relating to such Default.

17.3 City Right to Cure Licensee Non-Performance. In addition to other remedies 
available to City, if Licensee fails to perform any obligation under this Master License 
which is in the nature of repair, maintenance, correction of work or removal and/or 
replacement, and Licensee fails to commence and thereafter diligently pursue to 
completion such obligation following reasonable written notice to Licensee, then if City 
reasonably determines that the particular Default by Licensee creates an imminent threat 
to the safety of persons or property, City shall have the option to complete such obligation 
upon prior written notice to Licensee, and Licensee shall within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of a demand for payment, delivered with copies of invoices or other reasonable evidence 
of its costs, reimburse City for actual costs incurred in connection therewith.

18. LICENSEE’S INDEMNITY.

18.1 Indemnity. To the maximum extent permitted by Law, Licensee shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties, from and against liability, 
claims of any nature (including claims regarding ADA accommodation or related to RF 
emissions of Licensee’s Equipment), demands, losses, damages, fines, charges, 
penalties, administrative and judicial proceedings and orders, judgments and the costs 
and expenses incurred in connection therewith, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
costs of defense (each, a “Claim”), arising out of or resulting from City’s approval of any 
Pole License, activities undertaken by or on behalf of Licensee pursuant to this Master 
License and each Pole License, including, without limitation, shared use of the City’s 
conduit as permitted hereunder, as well as the negligence or intentional misconduct of 
Licensee, except to the extent arising from or caused by the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of any Indemnified Party. City shall promptly notify Licensee of any Claim 
covered by this Section 18.1.

18.2 Waiver of Claims. To the maximum extent permitted by Law, Licensee 
waives all Claims and rights it may assert against all Indemnified Parties on account of 
any loss, damage or injury to any property or person arising out of or resulting from 
activities undertaken by or on behalf of Licensee pursuant to this Master License, except 
to the extent arising from or caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of any 
Indemnified Party.

19. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. Licensee shall, at its sole cost and expense, 
carry and maintain during the Term of this Master License insurance in accordance with 
the requirements of Exhibit C, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein. 
Evidence of insurance shall be submitted to City concurrently with execution of this 
Master License and each Pole License.

20. LIMITATION OF CITY’S LIABILITY. 

20.1 General Limitation on City’s Liability. City is not responsible or liable to 
Licensee for, and Licensee hereby waives all Claims against the Indemnified Parties and 

Page 38 of 65

Page 90



  

33

releases City and the Indemnified Parties from, all Claims from any cause (except to the 
extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City and/or any Indemnified 
Parties), including acts or omissions of persons using the sidewalk, walkway or street 
adjoining or adjacent to or connected with any License Area; electromagnetic sensitivity 
or other perceived harm caused by the Equipment; utility interruption; theft; burst, 
stopped, or leaking water, gas, sewer, or steam pipes; or gas, fire, oil, or electricity in, 
flood, or vehicle collision on or about any License Area or other City property.

20.2 Consequential Damages. Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees 
that the License Fees and other sums payable under this Master License do not take into 
account any potential liability of City for consequential or incidental damages.  City would 
not be willing to enter into this Master License in the absence of a complete waiver of 
liability, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, for consequential or incidental damages 
due to the acts or omissions of City or its Indemnified Parties, and Licensee expressly 
assumes the risk with respect thereto.  Accordingly, without limiting any Indemnification 
obligations or other waivers contained in this Master License and as a material part of the 
consideration for this Master License, Licensee and City each fully releases, waives, and 
discharges forever any and all Claims against the other party, the other party’s Agents 
and all Indemnified Parties for consequential and incidental damages arising out of this 
Master License and covenants not to sue the other party, the other party’s Agents and/or 
any Indemnified Parties for such damages.

20.3 No Relocation Assistance. This Master License creates no right in Licensee 
to receive any relocation assistance or payment for any reason under the California 
Relocation Assistance Law (Cal. Gov. Code § 7260 et seq.), the Uniform Relocation 
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.), or 
similar Law upon any termination of occupancy, except as provided in Article 15 
(Eminent Domain).  To the extent that any relocation law may apply, Licensee waives, 
releases, and relinquishes forever any and all Claims that it may have against City for any 
compensation from City except as specifically provided in this Master License upon 
termination of its occupancy of all or any part of a License Area. 

20.4 Non-Liability of City Officials, Employees, and Agents. No elected or 
appointed council member, commissioner, member, officer, attorney, employee or other 
Agent of City, will be personally liable to Licensee, its successors and assigns, in the 
event of any default or breach by City or any Indemnified Parties for any amount which 
may become due to Licensee, its. successors and assigns or for any obligation of City 
under this Master License.

21. CITY ACCESS TO LICENSE AREA.

21.1 City’s Right to Visual Inspection. Except as specifically provided otherwise, 
City and its designated Agents have the right to visually inspect any part of any License 
Area at any time without notice for any purpose.

21.2 Emergency Access. If safe and practicable, City will notify Licensee of any 
emergency that requires City to remove and replace any Network Pole, which may require 

Page 39 of 65

Page 91



  

34

City to remove the Equipment from such Network Pole or in a License Area before City 
removes or replaces a Network Pole in an emergency situation or other exigent 
circumstances.  An “emergency or exigent circumstance” means a circumstance posing 
an imminent threat of personal injury or property damage.  But if in City’s sole judgment 
such delay would cause significant delay or otherwise compromise public safety or 
services, City may proceed without prior notice.  Licensee will have the right to reinstall 
the Equipment or equivalent Equipment at Licensee’s expense in the repaired or replaced 
Network Pole in accordance with Article 6 (Installation of Equipment).  As provided in 
Section 8.5 (Emergencies), City’s removal of Licensee’s Equipment in emergency or 
exigent circumstances may not be deemed to be a forcible or unlawful entry into or 
interference with Licensee’s rights to a License Area.

21.3 No Liability for Emergency Access. City will not be liable in any manner, and 
Licensee hereby waives any Claims, for any inconvenience, disturbance, loss of 
business, nuisance or other damage arising out of City’s entry onto a License Area, 
including the removal of Licensee’s Equipment from any Network Pole or in a License 
Area in an emergency as described in Section 21.2 (Emergency Access), except 
damage resulting directly and solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of 
City or its Agents and not contributed to by the acts, omissions, or negligence of Licensee, 
its Agents or Invitees.

22. REQUIRED RECORDS.

22.1 Records of Account. Licensee shall maintain during the Term until the 
Expiration Date or earlier termination of this Master License the following records at a 
place of business within the Bay Area or in an electronic format:

(a) identification of all License Areas subject to this Master License; 

(b) amounts and dates of License Fees paid to City.

(c) Regulatory Approvals issued for the Installation and operation of 
Equipment on Network Poles and in each License Area. 

(d) Network Mapping. Licensee shall maintain, and make available to the City 
upon request, paper and/or electronic maps of the location of the Network 
Poles covered by this Master License, including GIS or other data.

22.2 Inspection and Audits. City, or a consultant acting on its behalf, will have 
the right to inspect and audit Licensee’s records at Licensee’s place of business during 
regular business hours on thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Licensee, specifying the 
period of time to which the audit pertains.  Licensee have the right to have an employee 
or Agent present during all times of City’s or its representative’s physical inspection/audit 
of Licensee’s records. 

22.3 Public Records Act Requests and Production of Documents. Licensee 
acknowledges that City is a government agency subject to the California Public Records 

Page 40 of 65

Page 92



  

35

Act and City has no authority to modify or waive any requirements of the California 
Public Records Act.  

23. RULES AND REGULATIONS. Licensee shall faithfully comply during the Term 
with any and all reasonable rules, regulations and instructions that City establishes in 
writing, as may be amended from time to time, and that City applies in a non-
discriminatory manner to Licensee and other similarly situated users of City Poles, with 
respect to use of any part of any License Area.

24. BOND.

24.1 Drawing on Bond. On or before the date that it submits its first Pole License 
application to City, Licensee must deliver to City for retention during the Term a Bond to 
secure Licensee’s faithful performance of all terms, covenants and conditions of this 
Master License and each Pole License (“Bond”).  The Bond shall be in the face amount 
as described below:

a. $25,000 for up to 10 Pole Licenses

b. $50,000 for up to 20 Pole Licenses

c. And so on in $25,000 increments for up to each 10 additional Pole 
Licenses, to be delivered in the initial amount with Licensee’s submission of its first Pole 
License application for each such 10 additional Pole Licenses and augmented as set forth 
below through the Term.

City may (but shall not be obligated to) draw upon the Bond in whole or in part to 
remedy any damage to any License Area caused by Licensee, its employees, Agents or 
Invitees, or any failure of Licensee to perform any other terms, covenants or conditions 
contained herein (including the payment of License Fees or other sums due under this 
Master License or any Pole License) after the occurrence of a Default, without waiving 
any of City’s other rights and remedies under this Master License or at law or in equity, 
Licensee waives any rights it may have under Section 1950.7 of the California Civil Code 
or any similar Law.  Licensee understands and agrees that City may apply some or all of 
the Bond proceeds to the payment of License Fees, administrative fees, Review Fees, 
and other amounts payable to City under this Master License following a Licensee event 
of Default. City is not required to keep the Bond proceeds separate from its general funds, 
and Licensee is not entitled to interest on the Bond proceeds.  The amount of the Bond 
in no way limits the liabilities of Licensee under any provision of this Master License.

24.2 Further Bonds. Should City use any portion of the Bond proceeds to cure 
any Default by Licensee under this Master License, Licensee will be required to replenish 
the Bond within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from City.  City shall provide 
an accurate and complete accounting to Licensee each time that City draws upon the 
Bond.

25. SURRENDER OF EACH LICENSE AREA/HOLDING OVER.

Page 41 of 65

Page 93



  

36

25.1 Surrender. Licensee shall remove its Equipment and surrender the License 
Area(s) to City in accordance with Section 13.3.3 above.  City will be entitled to withhold 
or offset from the Bond any loss that City incurs due to Licensee’s failure to comply with 
these removal and surrender requirements within the notice and cure period prescribed 
in Section 17.1 (Defined) above.

25.2 Holding Over.

25.2.1 Without Consent. Any holding over without City’s written consent will 
incur a License Fee equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the License Fee in effect 
immediately before the Expiration Date (“Holdover Fee”) and may allow City to declare 
a default by Licensee pursuant to Section 17.1 of this Master License, and which will 
entitle City to exercise any or all of its remedies following the expiration of the notice and 
cure period set forth in Section 17.1 even if City elects to accept one or more payments 
of Holdover Fees, Review Fees, or other amounts payable to City from Licensee after the 
Expiration Date.

26. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.

26.1 Hazardous Materials in License Area. Licensee covenants and agrees that 
neither Licensee nor any of its employees, Agents or Invitees shall cause or permit any 
Hazardous Material to be brought upon, kept, used, stored, generated, disposed of or 
Released in, on, under or about any License Area or any other part of City property, or 
transported to or from any City property in violation of Environmental Laws.  Licensee 
shall immediately notify City if and when Licensee learns or has reason to believe any 
Release of Hazardous Material has occurred in, on, under or about a License Area or 
other City property by Licensee or any of its employees, Agents or Invitees.  Licensee 
shall use best efforts to promptly notify City if and when Licensee learns or has reason to 
believe any Release of Hazardous Material has occurred in, on, under or about a License 
Area or other City property by persons other than Licensee or any of its employees, 
Agents or Invitees.  A failure by Licensee to give notice of any Release of Hazardous 
Material in, on, under or about a License Area or other City property by any persons other 
than Licensee or any of its employees, Agents or Invitees would not be grounds for 
termination of this Master License or any Pole License. 

26.2 Licensee’s Environmental Indemnity.

(a) If Licensee breaches any of its obligations contained in this Article, 
or if any act, omission or negligence of Licensee or any of its employees, Agents or 
Invitees results in (i) any contamination of any License Area or other City property, or (ii) a 
Release of Hazardous Material from, on, about, indoor beneath any part of a License 
Area or other City property, or (iii) the violation of any Environmental Law, then Licensee, 
on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, shall Indemnify City and the Indemnified 
Parties and their respective successors and assigns from and against any and all Claims 
(including damages for decrease in value of the License Area or other City property, the 
loss or restriction of the use of usable space in the License Area or other City property 
and sums paid in settlement of Claims, attorneys’ fees, consultants’ fees, and experts’ 

Page 42 of 65

Page 94



  

37

fees and related costs) arising during or after the Term of this Master License relating to 
such Release or violation of Environmental Laws; provided, however, Licensee shall not 
be liable for any Claims to the extent such Release or violation of Environmental Laws 
was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City or any Indemnified Party.

(b) Licensee’s Indemnification obligation in subsection (a) above 
includes costs incurred in connection with any activities required to Investigate and 
Remediate any Hazardous Material brought onto the License Area or other City property 
by Licensee and to restore each License Area or other City Property to its condition prior 
to Licensee’s introduction of such Hazardous Material or to correct any Licensee violation 
of Environmental Laws.

(c) Licensee specifically acknowledges and agrees that it has an 
immediate and independent obligation to defend City and all Indemnified Parties from any 
Claim that actually or potentially falls within this Indemnity (and the Indemnity in 
Article 18) provision even if the allegations supporting the Claim are or may be 
groundless, fraudulent or false, which obligation arises at the time such Claim is tendered 
to Licensee by City or any Indemnified Party and continues until the Claim is finally 
resolved.

(d) Without limiting the foregoing, if Licensee causes the Release of any 
Hazardous Material on, about, in or beneath any License Area or other City property, then 
in any such event Licensee shall, immediately, at no expense to City or any Indemnified 
Party, take any and all necessary actions to return each License Area or other City 
property, as applicable, to the condition existing prior to the Release of any such 
Hazardous Materials on the License Area(s) or other City property or otherwise abate the 
Release in accordance with all Environmental Laws, except to the extent such Release 
was caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of City or any Indemnified Party.  
Licensee shall afford City a full opportunity to participate in any discussions with 
Regulatory Agencies regarding any settlement agreement, cleanup or abatement 
agreement, consent decree or other compromise or proceeding involving Hazardous 
Material.

27. SPECIAL REMEDIES FOR RF INTERFERENCE WITH OPERATIONS.

27.1 Licensee’s Obligation Not to Cause RF Interference.

27.1.1 Interference by Licensee. Licensee shall ensure that its use of the 
Equipment does not interfere or cause radio frequency (“RF”) interference, with City’s 
communication or computer equipment (including without limitation the communications 
or computer equipment of third parties, such as the East Bay Regional Communications 
Authority (interoperability among digital radio equipment for public safety), which support 
the City’s communications), or City’s streetlights or other lighting or any pre-existing third 
parties’ equipment on the Network Poles, irrespective of whether the relevant FCC 
spectrum licenses are held by Licensee or its wireless carrier customers.

Page 43 of 65

Page 95



  

38

27.1.2 Curing RF Interference. The parties agree to reasonably cooperate 
in good faith to remedy and cure such RF interference with or impairment of City’s 
equipment or any Network Pole lighting or pre-existing third-party equipment as soon as 
is feasible under the circumstances, but Licensee’s operation of the Equipment shall at 
all times be subordinate to and accommodate the reasonable requirements of City’s 
equipment and any Network Pole lighting or pre-existing third-party equipment.  If any 
change in the nature of the City’s use of any Network Pole during the Term results in RF 
or physical interference with the Licensee’s Equipment installed on a Network Pole 
making it necessary to alter the Equipment to mitigate the adverse effect, Licensee shall 
notify the City and provide evidence of the claimed impairment.  If the City determines in 
its reasonable discretion that mitigation is not feasible or cannot be achieved for a 
reasonable cost in the City’s reasonable judgment, as its sole remedy therefore Licensee 
may elect either to: (1) terminate the Pole License as to the affected Network Pole; or 
(2) take steps itself at its own cost to mitigate the adverse effect and continue to operate 
the Equipment on the Network Pole.

27.1.3 Public Emergency. City and Licensee acknowledge that in the event 
of imminent threats to public health or safety (including without limitation RF interference 
with City’s public safety communications), City may be required to take action with or 
without notice to Licensee, or may request Licensee to take immediate action, which may 
cause RF interference with Licensee’s Equipment or signal transmission and reception, 
and in the event of such threats, Licensee shall comply with all such requests and City 
shall have no liability to Licensee for any RF interference or other damage caused to 
Licensee’s Equipment.

(a) Licensee agrees to install a master power “cut-off’ switch on 
the License Area for the purpose of assisting City in such an emergency, and shall deliver 
written instructions to the Manager of Engineering regarding the use and operation of 
such switch.

(b) Unless otherwise specifically provided in a notice of 
termination, City’s exercise of the right to shut off any power to the Equipment pursuant 
to this Section is not intended to constitute a termination of this Master License by either 
party.

28. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

28.1 Notices. This section applies to all notices, requests, responses to requests, 
and demands made under this Master License.

28.1.1 Writings Required. All notices will be effective only if given in writing 
and delivered in accordance with this section.

28.1.2 Manner of Delivery.

(a) Except as provided in Section 28.1.3 (Special 
Requirements), notices may be delivered by: (i) personal delivery; (ii) first class, postage 

Page 44 of 65

Page 96



  

39

prepaid; (iii) certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested; or (iv) prepaid 
overnight delivery, return receipt requested.

(b) Notices must be delivered to: (i) Licensee at Licensee’s 
addresses set forth in Section 1.3.2 (Licensee Contact Information) with a concurrent 
electronic mail copy to Licensee’s email address set forth in Section 1.3.2 (Licensee 
Contact Information); (ii) City at City’s address(es) set forth in Section 1.3.1 (City Contact 
Information); or (iii) any new notice address that either City or Licensee specifies by no 
less than thirty (30) days’ notice given to the other in accordance with this section.

(c) Effective Date of Notices. All notices under this Master 
License will be effective when properly sent and received, refused or returned 
undelivered.  The date an attempt to make delivery fails because a party has failed to 
provide notice of a change of address or refuses to accept delivery.  The parties will also 
transmit copies of notices by email to the email addresses listed in the Basic License 
Information, but failure to do so will not affect the delivery date or validity of any notice 
properly delivered in accordance with this section.

28.1.3 Special Requirements. Any notice of default, demand to cure or 
notice of termination must be sent by certified mail or personally delivered.

28.2 No Waiver. No failure by either party to insist upon the strict performance of 
any obligation of the other under this Master License or to exercise any right, power, or 
remedy arising out of a breach thereof, irrespective of the length of time for which such 
failure continues, will constitute a waiver of such breach.  No acceptance by City or any 
of its Agent of full or partial payment of License Fees or other fees due hereunder during 
the continuance of any such breach will constitute a waiver of such breach or of City’s 
right to demand strict compliance with such term, covenant, or condition or operate as a 
waiver of any requirement of this Master License.  No express waiver by either party of 
any default or the performance of any provision hereof will affect any other default or 
performance, or cover any other period of time, other than the default, performance or 
period of time specified in such express waiver.  One or more waivers of a default or the 
performance of any provision hereof by either party will not be deemed to be a waiver of 
a subsequent default or performance. 

28.3 Force Majeure. Except for payment of amounts due, neither party shall have 
any liability for its delays or its failure of performance due to fire, explosion, pest damage, 
power failures, strikes or labor disputes, acts of nature, the elements, war, civil 
disturbances, acts of civil or military authorities or the public enemy, inability to secure 
raw materials, transportation facilities, fuel or energy shortages, epidemics, pandemics, 
or other causes reasonably beyond its control (individually or collectively, “Force 
Majeure”).

28.4 Amendments. No part of this Master License may be changed, altered or 
modified, except by a written instrument signed by both parties.

Page 45 of 65

Page 97



  

40

28.5 Authorization to Director of Public Works. Where this Master License 
requires or permits City to act and no officer of City is specified, the Director of Public 
Works or their designated representative has the authority to act on behalf of City.

28.6 Interpretation of Master License. The following rules of interpretation apply 
to this Master License.

28.6.1 General. Whenever required by the context, the singular includes the 
plural and vice versa; the masculine gender includes the feminine or neuter genders and 
vice versa; and defined terms encompass all correlating forms of the terms, (e.g., the 
definition of “indemnify” applies to “indemnity,” “indemnification,” etc.).

28.6.2 Multi-party Licensee. If there is more than one Licensee, the 
obligations and liabilities under this Master License imposed on Licensee will be joint and 
several among them.

28.6.3 Captions. The captions preceding the articles and sections of this 
Master License and in the table of contents have been inserted for convenience of 
reference and such captions in no way define or limit the scope or intent of any provision 
of this Master License.

28.6.4 Time for Performance. Provisions in this Master License relating to 
number of days mean calendar days, unless otherwise specified.  “Business Day” 
means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a bank or City holiday.  If the last day of 
any period to give notice, reply to a notice or to undertake any other action occurs on a 
day that is not a business day, then the last day for undertaking the action or giving or 
replying to the notice will be the next succeeding business day.

28.6.5 City Actions. All approvals, consents, or other determinations 
permitted or required by City under this Master License will be made in writing and by or 
through the City Administrator or his or her designee, unless otherwise provided in this 
Master License or by City Charter or any City ordinance.

28.6.6 Words of inclusion. The use of the term “including,” “such as,” or 
words of similar import when following any general or specific term, statement, or matter 
may not be construed to limit the term, statement, or matter to the stated terms, 
statements, or matters, whether or not language of non-limitation, such as “including, but 
not limited to” and “including without limitation” are used. Rather, the stated term, 
statement, or matter will be interpreted to refer to all other items or matters that could 
reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of the term, statement, or matter.

28.6.7 Laws. References to all Laws, including specific statutes, relating to 
the rights and obligations of either party mean the Laws in effect on the Effective Date 
specified in the Basic License Information and as they are amended, replaced, 
supplemented, clarified, corrected, or superseded at any time while any obligations under 
this Master License or are outstanding, whether or not foreseen or contemplated by the 
parties.

Page 46 of 65

Page 98



  

41

28.7 Successors and Permitted Assigns. The terms, covenants, and conditions 
contained in this Master License bind and inure to the benefit of City and Licensee and, 
except as otherwise provided herein, their successors and permitted assigns.

28.8 Brokers. Neither party has had any contact or dealings regarding the license 
of a License Area, or any communication in connection therewith, through any licensed 
real estate broker or other person who could claim a right to a commission or finder’s fee 
in connection with the license contemplated herein (“Broker”), whose commission, if any 
is due, is to be paid pursuant to a separate written agreement between such Broker and 
the party through which such Broker contracted.  In the event that any Broker perfects a 
Claim for a commission or finder’s fee based upon any such contact, dealings, or 
communication, Licensee shall indemnify City from all Claims brought by the Broker.  This 
section will survive expiration or earlier termination of this Master License.

28.9 Prevailing Wages. The work to be performed by or services to be provided 
by Licensee under this Master License or a Pole License may be subject to prevailing 
wage rate payment as set forth in California Labor Code section 1771 (“Section 1771”).  
Accordingly, to the extent that such services are subject to the prevailing wage rate 
payment requirements set forth in Section 1771, Licensee shall comply with all applicable 
California Labor Code requirements pertaining to “public works” or “maintenance,” 
including the payment of prevailing wages in connection with the services to be provided 
hereunder (collectively, “Prevailing Wage Policies”).

Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold City and the Indemnified Parties 
harmless from and against any and all present and future Claims arising directly from or 
in direct connection with Licensee’s failure to comply with any Prevailing Wage Policies 
that apply to the work relating to Licensee’s actions under this Master License or any Pole 
License, including all Claims made by contractors, subcontractors or other third party 
claimants with whom Licensee has contracted to perform work relating to Licensee’s 
Equipment within the scope of this indemnity pursuant to Labor Code sections 1726 and 
1781, as amended and added by Senate Bill 966, or other applicable Laws.

28.10 Governing Law and Venue. This Master License must be construed and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California and City Charter, without 
regard to the principles of conflicts of Law.  This Master License is made, entered and will 
be performed in Berkeley.  Any action concerning this Master License must be brought 
and heard in Berkeley.

28.11 Business Tax Certificate. Prior to the Effective Date, Licensee shall obtain 
and provide proof of a current and valid business tax certificate in the name of Licensee 
from the City of Berkeley.  This certificate must remain current and valid during the Term 
of this Master License, and Licensee shall provide evidence of its compliance with this 
requirement upon request of City.

28.12 Covenant Not to Discriminate. In connection with this Master License and 
all Pole Licenses issued hereunder, Licensee covenants and agrees not to discriminate 
on the basis of the fact or perception of a person’s race, color, creed, religion, national 

Page 47 of 65

Page 99



  

42

origin, ancestry, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, domestic partner status, 
marital status, disability or Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome or HIV status 
(AIDS/HIV status) against any employee of, any City employee working with, or applicant 
for employment with Licensee, in any of Licensee’s operations within the United States, 
or against any person seeking accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, 
services, or membership in all business, social, or other establishments or organizations 
operated by Licensee.

28.13 Americans with Disabilities Act Compliance. In connection with this Master 
License and all Pole Licenses issued hereunder, Licensee shall make its goods, services, 
and facilities accessible to people with disabilities and shall submit an affidavit verifying 
compliance with City of Berkeley Americans with Disabilities Act obligations.

28.14 Entire Agreement. This Master License, including all exhibits and 
schedules, contains the entire agreement between the parties, and all prior written or oral 
agreements regarding the same subject matter are merged into this document.  The 
parties further intend that this Master License, and all exhibits and schedules will 
constitute one agreement that contains the complete and exclusive statement of its terms 
and that no extrinsic evidence (including prior drafts and revisions) may be introduced in 
any judicial, administrative, or other legal proceeding involving this Master License.  
Licensee hereby acknowledges that neither City nor City’s Agents have made any 
representations or warranties with respect to City Poles or this Master License, except as 
expressly set forth herein, and no rights, easements or additional licenses are or will be 
acquired by Licensee by implication or otherwise unless expressly set forth herein.

28.15 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to all provisions of 
this Master License in which a definite time for performance is specified.

28.16 Survival. Expiration or earlier termination of this Master License will not 
affect the right of either party to enforce any and all indemnities and representations and 
warranties given or made to the other party under this Master License, or any provision 
of this Master License that expressly survives termination.

28.17 Recording. Licensee agrees not to record this Master License, or any 
memorandum or short form of any of them in the Official Records of the County of 
Alameda.

28.18 Counterparts. This Master License may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which taken together will 
be one and the same instrument.

28.19 Cooperative Drafting. This Master License has been negotiated at arm’s 
length between persons sophisticated and knowledgeable in the matters it addresses and 
was drafted through a cooperative effort of both parties, each of which has had an 
opportunity to have this Master License reviewed and revised by legal counsel.  No party 
will be considered the drafter of this Master License, and no presumption or rule (including 
that in California Civil Code section 1654) that an ambiguity will be construed against the 

Page 48 of 65

Page 100



  

43

party drafting the clause will apply to the interpretation or enforcement of this Master 
License.

28.20 Authority to Approve License. Each person signing this Master License on 
behalf of Licensee warrants and represents that:  (i) he or she has the full right, power, 
and capacity to act on behalf of Licensee and has the authority to bind Licensee to the 
performance of its obligations under those agreements without the subsequent approval 
or consent of any other person or entity; (ii) Licensee is a duly authorized and existing 
entity; (iii) Licensee is qualified to do business in California; and (iv) Licensee has full right 
and authority to enter into this Master License.  Upon City’s request, Licensee shall 
provide City with evidence reasonably satisfactory to City confirming the representations 
and warranties above.

28.21 No Precedent. The facts and circumstances pertaining to this Master 
License are unique to the transactions contemplated herein.  Accordingly, City and 
Licensee are entering into this Master License without intending to create precedent 
either expressly or by implication, for future leasing or licensing transactions by or 
between them, or any of their respective Affiliates or departments or any other 
governmental agency.

28.22 Included Exhibits and Schedules. The following exhibits and schedules are 
attached to and are incorporated by reference into this Master License.

EXHIBIT A Form of Pole License

EXHIBIT B Schedule of License Fees Payable by Calendar Year

EXHIBIT C Insurance Requirements (Schedule Q)

EXHIBIT D Minimum Requirements of Plans and Equipment

EXHIBIT E Form of Pre-Application Pole Reservation Request

[Signatures appear on following page.]

Page 49 of 65

Page 101



  

44

Page 50 of 65

Page 102



  

45

City and Licensee have executed this Master License as of the Effective Date.

CITY: LICENSEE:

CITY OF BERKELEY, [CARRIER]
a municipal corporation

By:  
Its:  

By: By: 

Name: Name: 

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

Page 51 of 65

Page 103



  

Exhibit A-1

EXHIBIT A

FORM OF POLE LICENSE

This Pole License (“Pole License”), is made this _________ day of ________________, 
20__, between the City of Berkeley, a municipal corporation (“City”), and [Carrier] 
(“Licensee”), with offices located at [Address].

1. Pole License.  This is a Pole License, as referenced in that certain Master License 
between City and Licensee dated __________, 202_ (“Master License”).  As described 
in the Master License, this Pole License, following compliance by Licensee with all terms 
and conditions contained in the Master License, shall be deemed to create a Pole License 
with respect to the particular License Area described herein.  All of the terms and 
conditions of the Master License are incorporated herein by this reference and made a 
part hereof without the necessity of repeating or attaching the Master License.  In the 
event that any provision of this Pole License conflicts with any provision of the Master 
License, then the terms of this Pole License will control. Capitalized terms used in this 
Pole License shall have the same meaning described for them in the Master License, 
unless otherwise indicated herein.

2. License Area.  The License Area covered by this Pole License is described in 
Attachment 1, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

3. Equipment.  The Equipment to be installed at the License Area is described in 
Attachment 2, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

4. Regulatory Approvals.  The Regulatory Approvals for the Equipment are attached 
as Attachment 3, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

5. Term.  The term of this License shall be as set forth in Section 3 of the Master 
License.  The Commencement Date for the Pole License under this Pole License shall 
be __________ [insert date on or after date that all City Regulatory Approvals required 
for Licensee to install and operate its Equipment on the License Area have been granted].

6. Recurring Fees.  The License Fee for this License Area shall be as described 
Section 4 of the Master License.

7. Processing Fee and Review Deposit.

Processing Fee required by Section 4.3 has/has not been paid in full.  If 
Processing Fee has not been paid in full, Licensee shall submit the amount due 
and payable together with the counter-signed Pole License.

Review Deposit required by Section 4.4 has a surplus in the amount of 
$_________ that will be reimbursed by City within ten (10) business days / has a 
shortfall in the amount of $_________ that Licensee must pay.  If there is a 
shortfall, Licensee shall submit the amount due and payable together with the 

Page 52 of 65

Page 104



  

Exhibit A-2

counter-signed Pole License.

8. Bond.  The Bond required by Section 24.1 of the Master License has been 
delivered to City.  [alternative: specify amount of bond required to be delivered]

9. Construction Period.  Licensee must notify City in writing when all initial installation 
work authorized under this Pole License is completed and the Equipment is operating.  If 
no notice is received within eighteen (18) months of the Commencement Date, the Pole 
License will terminate automatically unless Licensee requests and obtains prior to such 
termination date, City’s written approval to extend the construction period, which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

10. Effectiveness.  LICENSEE SHALL COUNTERSIGN THE POLE LICENSE AND 
RETURN THE COUNTER-SIGNED POLE LICENSE TO CITY WITHIN 60 DAYS AFTER 
LICENSEE HAS RECEIVED THE POLE LICENSE EXECUTED BY CITY.  IF NO 
COUNTERSIGNED POLE LICENSE IS RECEIVED BY CITY WITHIN THE 60 DAYS, 
THE POLE LICENSE SHALL BE VOID AND OF NO LEGAL EFFECT.  IF LICENSEE 
STILL WANTS TO USE THE CITY POLE, LICENSEE WILL BE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT 
A NEW APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED FEES.

11. Miscellaneous.  [add any other conditions]

[Signatures on following page]

Page 53 of 65

Page 105



  

Exhibit A-3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Pole License as of the date 
provided in the introductory clause.

CITY: LICENSEE:

CITY OF BERKELEY, [CARRIER]
a municipal corporation

By:  
Its:  

By: By: 

Name: Name: 

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Exhibits:

Attachment 1 - License Area 
Attachment 2 - Equipment 
Attachment 3 - Regulatory Approvals

Page 54 of 65

Page 106



  

Exhibit A-4

Pole License
Attachment 1

License Area 

[to be attached]

Page 55 of 65

Page 107



  

Exhibit A-5

Pole License
Attachment 2

Equipment

[to be attached]

Page 56 of 65

Page 108



  

Exhibit A-6

Pole License
Attachment 3

Regulatory Approvals

[to be attached]

Page 57 of 65

Page 109



  

Exhibit B-1

EXHIBIT B

Schedule of Annual License Fees Payable by Calendar Year

POLE LICENSES
(FCC Order Effective)

YEAR LICENSE FEE (Annual)
(3% Annual Escalation)

2023 $295.04
2024 $303.89
2025 $313.00
2026 $322.39
2027 $332.07
2028 $342.03
2029 $352.29
2030 $362.86
2031 $373.74
2032 $384.96
2033 $396.50
2034 $408.40
2035 $420.65
2036 $433.27
2037 $446.27
2038 $459.66
2039 $473.45
2040 $487.65
2041 $502.28
2042 $517.35

Page 58 of 65

Page 110



  

Exhibit C-1

EXHIBIT C
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

a. General Liability, Automobile, Workers’ Compensation and Professional Liability

Licensee shall carry, prior to commencement of service, and keep in force for the term of 
this contract, at Licensee’s own cost and expense, the following policies of insurance or 
certificates or binders as necessary to represent that coverage as specified below is in 
place with companies doing business in California and eligible to the City.  The insurance 
shall include:

i. Commercial General Liability insurance shall cover bodily injury, property 
damage and personal injury liability for premises operations, independent contractors, 
products-completed operations personal & advertising injury and contractual liability.  
Coverage shall be at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Commercial General 
Liability coverage (occurrence Form CG 00 01).

Limits of liability:  Licensee shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if 
necessary, commercial umbrella insurance with a limit of $2,000,000 each occurrence 
$4,000,000 and in the aggregate.  If such CGL insurance contains a general aggregate 
limit, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location or 
the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.

ii. Automobile Liability Insurance.  Licensee shall maintain automobile liability 
insurance for bodily injury and property damage liability with a limit of $1,000,000 each 
accident.  Such insurance shall cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, 
hired, and non-owned autos).  Coverage shall be at least as broad as Insurance Services 
Office Form Number CA 0001.

iii. Worker’s Compensation insurance as required by the laws of the State of 
California, with statutory limits, and statutory coverage may include Employers’ Liability 
coverage, with limits of $1,000,000 each accident, $1,000,000 policy limit bodily injury by 
disease, and $1,000,000 each employee bodily injury by disease.  Licensee certifies that 
it is aware of the provisions of section 3700 of the California Labor Code, which requires 
every employer to provide Workers’ Compensation coverage, or to undertake self-
insurance in accordance with the provisions of that Code.  Licensee shall comply with the 
provisions of section 3700 of the California Labor Code before commencing performance 
of the work under this Master License and thereafter as required by that code.

b. Terms Conditions and Endorsements 

The aforementioned insurance shall be endorsed and have all the following conditions:

i. Insured Status (Additional Insured):  Licensee shall provide additional insured 
status by including the City of Berkeley, its Councilmembers, directors, officers, agents, 
employees and volunteers as additional insureds by endorsement as respects to this 
Master License under the Commercial General Liability policy.  General Liability coverage 
can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Licensee’s insurance (at least as 

Page 59 of 65

Page 111



  

Exhibit C-2

broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 and CG 20 37 forms, if later revisions used).  If Licensee 
submits the ACORD Insurance Certificate, the insured status endorsement must be set 
forth on an ISO form CG 20 10 (or equivalent).  A STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL 
INSURED STATUS ON THE ACORD INSURANCE CERTIFICATE FORM IS 
INSUFFICIENT AND WILL BE REJECTED AS PROOF OF MEETING THIS 
REQUIREMENT. BROAD FORM ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT MAY BE 
ACCEPTED WITH APPROPRIATE DOCUMENTATION; and

ii. Coverage afforded on behalf of the City, Councilmembers, directors, officers, 
agents, employees and volunteers shall be primary insurance.  Any other insurance 
available to the City Councilmembers, directors, officers, agents, employees and 
volunteers under any other policies shall be excess insurance (over the insurance 
required by this Master License); and

iii. Cancellation Notice:  Each insurance policy required by this clause shall provide 
that coverage shall not be canceled, except with notice to the Entity of any required 
coverage that is not replaced; and

iv. Certificate holder is to be the same person and one of the addresses as indicated 
in Section 1.3.2 (Licensee Contact Information) of this Master License; and

v. Insurer shall carry insurance from eligible companies with an A.M. Best Rating of 
A-VII, or better.

c. Replacement of Coverage

In the case of a default of any of the insurance provisions of this Exhibit C beyond all 
applicable notice and cure periods set forth in this Master License, then the City may, at 
the City’s option, take out and maintain at the expense of Licensee, such insurance in the 
name of Licensee as is required pursuant to this Master License, and may recover the 
cost of taking out and maintaining such insurance by drawing from Licensee’s Bond in 
accordance with Section 24 (Bond) of this Master License.

d. Insurance Interpretation

All endorsements, certificates, forms, coverage and limits of liability referred to herein 
shall have the meaning given such terms by the Insurance Services Office as of the date 
of this Master License.

e. Proof of Insurance

Licensee will be required to provide a certificate of insurance and endorsements as proof 
of all insurance required for the work prior to execution of the contract.  Failure to provide 
the insurance proof requested or failure to do so in a timely manner shall constitute 
grounds for City to declare Licensee to be in non-compliance of this Master License in 
accordance with Section 17.1 (Defined) of this Master License.  In the event of an incident 
resulting in a claim of injury to persons or damage to the property of others for which the 
City is involved, within fifteen (15) days of the City’s written request, Licensee shall make 

Page 60 of 65

Page 112



  

Exhibit C-3

its applicable insurance policies available for review by the City at a San 
Francisco/Berkeley Bay Area office (or should it cease to exist, at another Licensee office 
located in the Bay Area); provided however, no copies shall be made and all policies will 
be returned to the Corporate Risk Management Department.  The policy review is limited 
to no more than three days during a consecutive six-month period and must be conducted 
during Licensee’s normal business hours while the City’s representative is accompanied 
by a Licensee Risk Management professional.

f. Subcontractors

Should the Licensee subcontract out the work required under this Master License, it shall 
include all subcontractors as insureds under its policies or shall maintain separate 
certificates and endorsements for each subcontractor.  As an alternative, Licensee may 
require all subcontractors to provide at their own expense evidence of all the required 
coverages listed in this Exhibit C.  If this option is exercised, both the City of Berkeley and 
Licensee shall be included as additional insured under the subcontractor’s General 
Liability policy.  All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all the requirements 
stated herein.  The City reserves the right to perform an insurance audit during the course 
of the project to verify compliance with requirements.

g. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions

Any deductible or self-insured retention shall be the responsibility of Licensee or 
Licensee’s parent company.  

h. Waiver of Subrogation

Licensee waives rights against the City of Berkeley and its Councilmembers, officers, 
directors, employees and volunteers for recovery of damages to the extent these 
damages are covered by the forms of insurance coverage required above.

i. Evaluation of Adequacy of Coverage

The City of Berkeley maintains the right to modify, delete, alter or change these 
requirements, with reasonable notice, upon not less than ninety (90) days prior written 
notice but only to the extent that it is required of similar operations of the City and not 
more frequent than once every five (5) years.

j. Indemnification for Losses

Licensee shall indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties for any claim or loss 
covered by the insurance that Licensee is required to maintain under this Exhibit C arising 
out of or resulting from the actions or inactions of Licensee under this Master License 
which may exceed the limits of insurance required in Section (a)(i) and (ii) of this Exhibit C 
above, all except to the extent attributable to the active negligence or willful misconduct 
of the Indemnified Parties, or any of them.

Page 61 of 65

Page 113



  

Exhibit D-1

EXHIBIT D

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS OF PLANS AND EQUIPMENT

Plans:

The City authorizes the connection to its street light electric facilities in accordance with 
the rules, regulations, and policies of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (or other electric 
service utility provider).  Licensee may use the City’s existing non-traffic signal conduits, 
subject to the allowable conduit fill percentage under the NESC and if such conduit does 
not meet the fill requirement, Licensee may at its discretion install a dedicated conduit for 
Licensee’s use.  Licensee is not permitted to install or arrange for installment of external 
conduits on any City Poles.

Licensee may share City’s power conductor from PG&E (or other electric service utility 
provider) point of feed to the City Pole.  Licensee will then splice and fuse at the City Pole 
electrical box and run wires to the Licensee’s meter located on the City Pole (metered if 
not paying flat rate for electrical use).  For those License Area locations at which the City 
Pole does not have an electrical box for running of Licensee’s wires to the meter, Licensee 
shall install an electrical bolted box in proximity to such City Pole for Licensee’s wires.

Licensee shall apply for and install an electric meter (if not paying flat rate), which may 
be a smart meter type of meter, if required by the City and the applicable electric utility, 
and obtain any necessary building/Engineering permits from the City for the installation 
and connection. 

Licensee shall be responsible for repairing any City conduits that Licensee or its Agents 
damage during installation of electrical facilities, including pulling of wires into street light 
conduits.  If following Licensee’s failure to make such repairs within thirty (30) days of 
Licensee’s receipt of written notice from City, the City’s crew makes repairs to remedy 
damage caused by Licensee or its Agents, the City will charge Licensee the full cost of 
those repairs by notice with evidence of the City’s costs.

The City will inspect Licensee’s service installations to ensure compliance with Approved 
Plans and Specifications. Licensee agrees to make any repairs or modifications to its 
service installations that are necessary to ensure compliance with the Approved Plans 
and Specifications; provided, however, Licensee shall not be required to upgrade or repair 
electrical boxes or conduits unless Licensee agrees to do so in its own discretion and 
such upgrades and/or repairs are necessary for Licensee’s sole, particular use.

Licensee shall provide the City’s Department of Public Works with as-built drawings 
showing all circuits installed by Licensee in existing street light conduits promptly after 
final permit approval and installation are complete.  If the installations are in a City cabinet 
or a facility to which the City may need access, Licensee shall provide a copy of the as-
built drawings to the City and, if space is reasonably available, and shall place a copy 
within any new or existing cabinet at each Pole Location, if applicable.

Page 62 of 65

Page 114



  

Exhibit D-2

Licensee shall provide the City’s Department of Public Works with the final coordinates 
and/or digital GIS shape file for inclusion in the City’s GIS inventory.

The first time Licensee, including Licensee’s employees, agents, contractors or 
representatives, open a City pull box at a particular City Pole location, Licensee shall 
notify City’s Department of Public Works.  Licensee shall contact the City’s Department 
of Public Works to complete the service connection.

Equipment:

Licensee’s plans and specifications submitted with each Pole License application, and 
any Pole License application approved by the City shall comply with the City of Berkeley 
Aesthetic Guidelines and the following minimum requirements:

1. Equipment shall not be installed at ground level, except after all reasonable 
alternative pole locations have been explored and found unavailable.  Ground-mounted 
equipment, if any, shall be installed in compliance with the City of Berkeley Aesthetic 
Guidelines.  Any ground-mounted equipment shall not obstruct or interfere with storm 
drainage facilities, drainage channels, or change the existing drainage pattern.

2. No battery backup units are allowed, whether pole-mounted or ground-mounted, 
without City approval.

3. Licensee shall verify each Pole’s condition, size and foundation, and provide 
structural calculations and wind loading calculations and drawings for any pole-mounted 
equipment.

4. Licensee shall provide voltage drop calculations per each Pole location.

5. Pole-mounted equipment shall be placed at least eight (8) feet above sidewalks or 
sixteen (16) feet above streets on the street side of the pole, and shall not obstruct line of 
sight to any intersection, signage, traffic control devices or other directional markings.

6. Any pole-mounted equipment shall conform to the development standards set forth 
in the City of Berkeley Aesthetic Guidelines.  All conduits, conduit attachments, cables, 
and wires shall be housed in a sheath and other connectors shall be placed within the 
Pole when feasible, or otherwise concealed from public view.

7. The Equipment shall be constructed out of non-reflective materials, painted and/or 
textured in compliance with the City of Berkeley Aesthetic Guidelines.  Paint shall be 
shown on the Approved Plans and Specifications.

8. Any fiber optic cable or wiring connecting the antenna to the ground-mounted 
Equipment shall be sheathed and located inside the Pole and shall be located 
underground to the Equipment.

9. All other conduit, cable and wiring shall be sheathed and shall be located 
underground.

Page 63 of 65

Page 115



  

Exhibit D-3

10. With respect to sealed pull boxes and welded hand hole covers, it shall be 
Licensee’s responsibility to obtain access to such pull boxes and hand hole covers, and 
to replace the pull box frames and covers and the hand hole covers if they are damaged 
or missing.  It shall also be the responsibility of Licensee to reseal the pull boxes and to 
re-weld the hand hole covers.

11. The height of a pole that includes pole-mounted equipment shall not exceed more 
than six (6) feet above the height of the average City Pole in the area, as determined by 
the City Engineer.

12. Licensee’s Equipment must be high quality, safe, compliant with FCC standards, 
and fire-resistant.

Page 64 of 65

Page 116



  

Exhibit E-1

EXHIBIT E

FORM OF PRE-APPLICATION POLE RESERVATION REQUEST

Pole Reservation Request No.

Requesting Carrier: 

Contact Person Name: 

Contact Info: 

1. Identify the location of the proposed City Pole using the nearest address, nearest 
assessor parcel number, and mapped coordinates (by GIS or other method approved by 
City).

2.  Describe the type of City Pole.

3. Describe the size and type of equipment to be placed on the proposed City Pole.

DATE ___________________

The undersigned is authorized by Carrier to make this request.

Signature of Applicant/Authorized Agent:

________________________________

Page 65 of 65

Page 117



Page 118



Office of the City Manager
INFORMATION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager

Subject: Audit Status Report Response: Code Enforcement Resources Significantly 
Constrained and Improvements Needed in Case Management and 
Oversight

INTRODUCTION 
On June 26th, 2018, the City Auditor submitted a Code Enforcement Unit (CEU) audit 
report1, with recommendations to improve operational efficiencies and implement a 
resource analysis process. The purpose of this report is to update City Council on the 
status of implementing the audit report’s recommendations. This is the fifth and final 
status report regarding this audit.2

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The audit report contains twelve recommendations. During the previous update 
presented to Council on September 20, 2022, seven of the recommendations were 
implemented, four were partially implemented, and one not implemented. As of this 
report, one recommendation that had not been started is now partially implemented, 
and progress continues on partially implemented recommendations. 

Since the last report, staff have made strides in addressing the spirit of these 
recommendations. Progress includes:

 Recommendations 1.3 and 1.4: In January 2024, Neighborhood Services
contracted with a consultant to perform a division-wide staffing analysis, the
scope of which will be to analyze the division’s workload relative to staffing
structure and capacity, and compare the staffing in key functions of the division
to peer cities in the Bay Area. NSCEU, as a unit within the Neighborhood
Services Division, will be included in this analysis. City staff requested an
additional 1 FTE Code Enforcement Officer I position of the City Council in the
FY23-24 budget process, but this position was not funded. The results and

1 Audit: Code Enforcement Resources Significantly Constrained and Improvements Needed in Case 
Management and Oversight: https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
01/Code%20Enforcement%20Resources%20Significantly%20Constrained_Fiscal%20Year%202018.pdf 
2 For the most recent status report to Council, please see: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-09-
20%20Item%2018%20Audit%20Status%20Report%20Response.pdf 

Page 1 of 5 10

Page 119

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-01/Code%20Enforcement%20Resources%20Significantly%20Constrained_Fiscal%20Year%202018.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-01/Code%20Enforcement%20Resources%20Significantly%20Constrained_Fiscal%20Year%202018.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-09-20%20Item%2018%20Audit%20Status%20Report%20Response.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-09-20%20Item%2018%20Audit%20Status%20Report%20Response.pdf


Audit Status Report Response: Code Enforcement Resources 
Significantly Constrained and Improvements Needed in 
Case Management and Oversight INFORMATION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

recommendations of the current staffing analysis will inform budget asks for the 
FY25-26 City Budget.

 Recommendation 1.7: In May, 2023, the City Council approved a contract with 
Data Ticket, a third-party code enforcement citations processing service that will 
enable code enforcement officers to outsource some purely administrative 
aspects of the enforcement process, thereby freeing up staff time to perform 
other work. Initial accounts for this service will be with the Fire Department and 
NSCEU. Key implementation hurdles for Data Ticket, including integration with 
Finance for revenue collections, have been cleared, and NSCEU is in the final 
stages of account configuration before beginning to use the software in their 
everyday course of duties.

 Recommendation 1.8: Finally, after a long delay, the City has renewed efforts to 
seek a new CRM software platform and recently reviewed software demos from 
top bidders to the RFP. NSCEU will utilize this new software, a key first step to 
acquiring mobile computers.

This is the final audit status update report. Even so, Neighborhood Services is 
committed to continuing to improve processes and performance moving forward.

BACKGROUND
The Neighborhood Services Code Enforcement Unit (NSCEU)’s goal is to provide a 
clean and safe environment for all Berkeley residents, workers, and visitors. NSCEU is 
responsible for the enforcement of administrative violations of the Berkeley Municipal 
Code and some provisions of California State codes related to building, zoning, and 
housing. The Unit also coordinates singular city responses to complex and multi-
departmental code enforcement cases across the various city departments and 
divisions that engage in code inspections and enforcement. The City Manager’s Office 
oversees NSCEU, which now consists of three full-time staff: one Code Enforcement 
Supervisor and two Code Enforcement Officer IIs. As of this writing, there are no 
vacancies.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the 
subject of this report.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
The City Manager’s Office will continue to work with the Code Enforcement Unit to 
continue addressing the recommendations.  

CONTACT PERSON
Jeff Conner, Neighborhood Services Code Enforcement Supervisor, 510-981-2492.

Attachments:
1: Audit Findings, Recommendations, and Management Response Summary Table

Page 2 of 5

Page 120



Finding
Recommendati
on Number Recommendation Issue Date Closed Date

Departme
nt

Last Period: 
Status

This 
Period: 
Status  This Period: Update

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.1

Implement a resource analysis process by which proposed legislation is discussed with City 
management to evaluate the impact on current City resources and determine the feasibility 
of making the intended impact. The analysis should take place before the policy is presented 
to Council for adoption and include considerations of:
• Staff time and other City resource needs, including the fiscal impact of those resource
needs
• Opportunity cost, i.e., consideration of other activities that will be deprioritized in order to
meet new demands
• Feasibility impact to determine how best to rollout out new legislation 6/26/2018 6/30/2022

Mayor and 
Council Implemented

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.2

Require that the Agenda Committee ensure ordinances have undergone a resource analysis 
as described in Recommendation 1.1 when necessary and, if not, are returned to the 
appropriate City Council member for further assessment before being passed into local law. 6/26/2018 1/29/2019

Mayor and 
Council Implemented

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.3

Conduct a staffing analysis to determine the appropriate staffing level needed for the Code 
Enforcement Unit to effectively enforce City codes. In conducting the analysis, include an 
assessment of the workload impact created by the codes for which the CEU is solely 
responsible as well as those created by the codes for which CEU shares responsibility with 
other enforcement units. 6/26/2018 2/6/2024

City 
Manager

Partly 
Implemented Dropped

In January 2024, Neighborhood Services contracted with a 
consultant to perform a divisional staffing analysis, to be 
prepared in time for FY25‐26 budget recommendations to the 
City Council. An analysis of the Code Enforcement Unit, with the 
recommendations of this Audit in mind, will be included within 
the scope of this project.

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.4

Use the staffing analysis performed in response to Recommendation 1.3 to:
• Quantify the full burden cost of additional staff
• Determine if sufficient budgetary funding is available for additional staff
• Request additional staffing from Council during the annual appropriations process 6/26/2018 2/5/2024

City 
Manager

Partly 
Implemented Dropped

Even absent the completion of the analysis recommended in 
Recommendation 1.3, staff recognize the shortcomings of 
current staffing levels and the effects that this has had on NSCEU 
response times. City staff requested an additional 1 FTE Code 
Enforcement Officer I position of the City Council in the FY23‐24 
budget process, but this position was not funded. Now, as 
Neighborhood Services undertakes a division‐wide staffing 
analysis, we intend to use the findings and recommendations of 
that analysis to inform a targeted budget ask in the FY25‐26 
budget process. We have implemented a metrics goal of 
addressing complaints received into the Unit within 10 business 
days of receiving the complaint. At the end 2023, we were, for 
the first time, able to achieve this goal. It should be noted that 
this time in the calendar year is a “slower” season for receiving 
complaints. Additionally, to achieve this, the two Code 
Enforcement Officers increased their personal case queues for 25‐
30 open cases to 50 open cases. We believe an additional Code 
Officer would help our Unit to achieve this goal annually instead 
of during a slow part of the year, and we will await the results of 
the divisional staffing analysis to confirm this recommendation.

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.5

If budgetary constraints prevent additional staffing or if Council does not approve the 
budget needed to fund additional staffing, report to Council the restrictions placed on the 
Code Enforcement Unit’s ability to effectively enforce City codes. Include information 
explaining the hindrance this will cause for any new ordinances the City Council may want to 
pass in the future. Provide this information regularly, for example, annually as part of the 
budget process, to keep Council informed of the CEU’s capacity restrictions. See also 
Recommendation 1.7. 6/26/2018 8/25/2022

City 
Manager Implemented

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.6

Assess Berkeley municipal codes to identify the codes for which the CEU is solely responsible 
and those for which the CEU has a shared role with other work units. Use the results of the 
assessment to:
• Create process workflows showing shared work unit responsibilities
• Create written guidance describing work unit responsibilities 6/26/2018 1/1/2018

City 
Manager Implemented

Audit Title: Code Enforcement Resources Significantly Constrained and Improvements Needed in Case Management and Oversight

Page 3 of 5

Page 121



Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.7

Implement code enforcement software that:
• Identifies case assignment to CEU officers and other work units
• Prioritizes cases, in particular high‐risk cases posing health and safety risks
• Captures pertinent case dates, e.g., opened, notice of violation, citation issuance, and 
closed
• Tracks enforcement actions taken within the CEU and other work units
• Quantifies citations issued and collected
• Allows for readily identifying repeat offenders
• Includes performance measurement tools, e.g., turnaround times within defined 
specifications (see Recommendation 2.2)
• Allows for uploading information from mobile technologies (see Recommendation 1.8)
• Includes reporting tool to showcase workload trends and capacity restrictions (i.e., 
backlogs) 6/26/2018 2/5/2024

City 
Manager

Partly 
Implemented Dropped

The Planning Department is actively soliciting vendors for new 
CRM software, and NSCEU is participating in demo evaluations 
beginning the week of 1/29/2024 and will be involved with the 
initial implementation of the CRM in April 2024. Once 
implemented and in place, we anticipate that this new software 
will allow NSCEU to complete this recommendation.

Code Enforcement Unit 
resources are 
insufficient to meet 
demand. 1.8

Implement mobile computers and printers to allow Code Enforcement Officers to complete 
more work in the field, thus improving their time spent in the community and reducing time 
in the office. Mobile computers should have the capacity to interface with the code 
enforcement case management software implemented in response to Recommendation 
1.7. 6/26/2018 2/5/2024

City 
Manager

Partly 
Implemented Dropped

NSCEU currently uses LAGAN for code enforcement case 
management. LAGAN was never intended to be used for CE case 
management. However, since it is the only software available, 
NSCEU is using it as the “official” record of all cases assigned to 
NSCEU. The delayed implementation of a field‐accessible code 
enforcement software in Recommendation 1.7 has subsequently 
delayed the purchase of new field equipment, but now that the 
procurement of new CRM software is underway, we will revisit 
this recommendation once a vendor is selected.

Process modifications 
and increased oversight 
needed to ensure equity, 
efficiency, and 
effectiveness 2.1

Develop and issue written procedures for code enforcement operations that:
• Reflect current practices and management expectations.
• Describe the tiered prioritization system giving attention to cases based on risk levels of 
high, moderate, and standard. Require adherence to a uniform technology policy, which 
includes:
o Assigning unique numbers to cases.
o Recording all pertinent case data timely, e.g., within two business days of receipt.
o Using a single, centralized system to record, manage, and monitor case information.
o Using case file management standards so that pertinent data are captured uniformly.
• Inform staff that preferential treatment should not be given to complaints made or 
referred by City Council members, Council staff, and City management. Those complaints 
should be prioritized based on established objectives and channeled through the 
appropriate supervisor. 
• Describe processes for issuing citations in a consistent and equitable manner. 
• Include beat assignments once feasible to do so, i.e., after the CEU addresses the backlog 
and receives adequate software tools. 6/26/2018 6/26/2019

City 
Manager Implemented

Process modifications 
and increased oversight 
needed to ensure equity, 
efficiency, and 
effectiveness 2.2

Implement performance metrics and goals to:
• Assess the effectiveness of code enforcement operations and goal achievement
• Identify constraints preventing goal attainability.
• Submit regular reports, e.g., biannually, to City management on performance.

Include a metric to provide at least some proactive code enforcement activities. Develop 
this metric after implementing the process and system improvement recommendations 
made in this report. 6/26/2018 2/5/2024

City 
Manager

Partly 
Implemented Dropped

As explained in our response to Recommendation 1.4, we have 
implemented a metrics goal of addressing complaints received 
into the Unit within 10 business days of receiving the complaint. 
At the end 2023, we were, for the first time, able to achieve this 
goal. It should be noted that this time in the calendar year is a 
“slower” season for receiving complaints. Additionally, to achieve 
this, the two Code Enforcement Officers increased their personal 
case queues for 25‐30 open cases to 50 open cases. As explained 
in our response to Recommendation 1.3, Neighborhood Services 
is actively performing a divisional staffing analysis with a 
qualified consultant to identify constraints in continuing to 
sustainably achieve this performance goal, as well as identify any 
staffing recommendations that will enhance internal capacity for 
development and regular reporting on these and other metrics.

Page 4 of 5

Page 122



Process modifications 
and increased oversight 
needed to ensure equity, 
efficiency, and 
effectiveness 2.3

Assess the feasibility of using complaint thresholds and self certifying techniques for 
standard priority violations. For example, wait to receive at least two complaints about a 
standard level violation before performing an investigation, and allow a code violator to self‐
report on a standard level violation to remove the need for reinspection. If feasible, 
implement the techniques to give code enforcement officers more time on field inspections 
of high risk cases. 6/26/2018 6/26/2018

City 
Manager Implemented

Process modifications 
and increased oversight 
needed to ensure equity, 
efficiency, and 
effectiveness 2.4

Develop procedures for monitoring staffs’ work and addressing weaknesses that may 
prevent goal achievement, such as conflicts of interest. For example:
• Review Form 700s to identify property owned by CEU personnel before assigning cases to 
officers.
• Randomly select case records to look for:
o Indicators that case action did not progress as required or expected suggesting favoritism 
or kickbacks.
o Properties with closed cases that continue to receive complaints for the same issue. This 
could indicate a repeat offender as well as a failure to take appropriate actions against a 
code violator.
The Assistant to the City Manager for Neighborhood Services should perform this oversight 
of the Code Enforcement Unit Supervisor, and the Code Enforcement Supervisor should 
perform this oversight of Code Enforcement Officers and the Assistant Planner. 6/26/2018 6/26/2018

City 
Manager Implemented

Page 5 of 5

Page 123



Page 124



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

INFORMATION CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning and Development Department

Subject: LPO NOD:  2144 Shattuck Avenue/#LMSAP2023-0007

INTRODUCTION
The attached Landmarks Preservation Commission Notice of Decision (NOD) is 
presented to the Mayor and City Council pursuant to Berkeley Municipal 
Code/Landmarks Preservation Ordinance (BMC/LPO) Section 3.24.240.A, which 
requires that “a copy of the Notice of Decision shall be filed with the City Clerk and the 
City Clerk shall present said copy to the City Council at its next regular meeting.”

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The Landmark Preservation Commission (LPC/Commission) has approved a Structural 
Alteration Permit (SAP) for the subject City Landmark property. This action is subject to 
a 15-day appeal period, which began on March 5, 2024 

BACKGROUND
BMC/LPO Section 3.24.300 allows City Council to review any action of the Landmarks 
Preservation Commission in granting or denying a Structural Alteration Permit.  For 
Council to review the decision on its merits, Council must appeal the Notice of Decision.  
To do so, a Council member must move this Information Item to Action and then move 
to set the matter for hearing on its own. Such action must be taken within 15 days of the 
mailing of the Notice of Decision, or by March 19, 2024. Such certification to Council 
shall stay all proceedings in the same manner as the filing of an appeal.

If the Council chooses to appeal the action of the Commission, then a public hearing will 
be set. The Council must then rule on the designation within 30 days of closing the 
hearing, otherwise the decision of the Commission is automatically deemed affirmed.

Unless the Council wishes to review the determination of the Commission and make its 
own decision, the attached NOD is deemed received and filed.

Page 1 of 26 11

Page 125

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


  
LPO NOD:  2144 Shattuck Avenue/#LMSAP2023-0007      INFORMATION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 2

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY & CLIMATE IMPACTS
Landmark designation provides opportunities for the adaptive re-use and rehabilitation 
of historic resources within the City. The rehabilitation of these resources, rather than 
their removal, achieves construction and demolition waste diversion, and promotes 
investment in existing urban centers.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
The Council may choose to appeal the decision, in which case it would conduct a public 
hearing at a future date.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
There are no known fiscal impacts associated with this action.

CONTACT PERSON
Fatema Crane, Principal Planner, Planning and Development, 510-981-7410

Attachments:
1: Notice of Decision – #LMSAP 2023-0007 at 2144 Shattuck Avenue

Page 2 of 26

Page 126



Attachment 1, Part 1  

L A N D M A R K S

P R E S E R V A T I O N

C O M M I S S I O N

N o t i c e  o f  D e c i s i o n

DATE OF BOARD DECISION: December 7, 2023
DATE NOTICE MAILED: March 4, 2024

APPEAL PERIOD EXPIRATION: March 19, 2024
EFFECTIVE DATE OF PERMIT (Barring Appeal or Certification): March 20, 20241

2144 Shattuck Avenue – American Trust 
Building/Wells Fargo Building 

Structural Alteration Permit (#LMSAP2023-0007) to install security gates at 
a City Landmark property.

The Landmarks Preservation Commission of the City of Berkeley, after conducting a public 
hearing, APPROVED the Structural Alteration Permit request.

 Property Owner: Bollibokka Shattuck LLC, Pacific West Asset Management, 
P. O. Box 19068, Irvine, CA

 Project Applicant & Architect: Sean Kennedy, Architect, Studio Skagg, Kennedy, 
Berkeley, CA

ZONING DISTRICT:  Downtown Mixed Use/Commercial (CD-MU)

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW STATUS: The project is categorically exempt from further 
environmental review in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15331 for Historical 
Resource Restoration/Rehabilitation.

1 Pursuant to BMC Chapter 3.24, the City Council may “certify” any decision of the LPC for review, which has the 
same effect as an appeal. In most cases, the Council must certify the LPC decision during the 14-day appeal 
period. However, pursuant to BMC Section 1.04.070, if any portion of the appeal period falls within a Council 
recess, the deadline for Council certification is suspended until the first Council meeting after the recess, plus the 
number of days of the appeal period that occurred during the recess, minus one day. If there is no appeal or 
certification, the Use Permit becomes effective the day after the certification deadline has passed.

Page 3 of 26

Page 127



  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMSAP2023-0007
2144 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 2 of 4

The application materials for this project is available online at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/zoning-projects or 
https://permits.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Default.aspx

FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL AND APPROVED PLANS ARE ATTACHED 
TO THIS NOTICE 

COMMISSION VOTE: 7-0-0-1 (note: one vacancy)

YES: CRANDALL, ENCHILL, FINACOM, LEUSCHNER, LINVILL, MONTGOMERY, 
TWU

NO: NONE

ABSTAIN: NONE

ABSENT: SCHWARTZ

TO APPEAL THIS DECISION (see Section 3.24.300 of the Berkeley Municipal Code):
To appeal a decision of the Landmarks Preservation Commission to the City Council you must:

1. Submit a letter clearly and concisely setting forth the grounds for the appeal to the City 
Clerk, located at 2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley. The City Clerk’s telephone 
number is (510) 981-6900.
a. Pursuant to BMC Section 3.24.300.A, an appeal may be taken to the City Council by 

the application of the owners of the property or their authorized agents, or by the 
application of at least fifty residents of the City aggrieved or affected by any 
determination of the commission made under the provisions of Chapter 3.24.

2. Submit the required fee (checks and money orders must be payable to ‘City of 
Berkeley’):
a. The basic fee for persons other than the applicant is $1,500. This fee may be 

reduced to $500 if the appeal is signed by persons who lease or own at least 50 
percent of the parcels or dwelling units within 300 feet of the project site, or at least 
25 such persons (not including dependent children), whichever is less.  Signatures 
collected per the filing requirement in BMC Section 3.24.300.A may be counted 
towards qualifying for the reduced fee, so long as the signers are qualified.  The 
individual filing the appeal must clearly denote which signatures are to be counted 
towards qualifying for the reduced fee.

Page 4 of 26

Page 128

https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/zoning-projects
https://permits.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Default.aspx


  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMSAP2023-0007
2144 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 3 of 4

b. The fee for appeals of affordable housing projects (defined as projects which provide 
50 percent or more affordable units for households earning 80% or less of Area 
Median Income) is $500, which may not be reduced.

c. The fee for all appeals by Applicants is $5,520.
3. The appeal must be received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the "APPEAL PERIOD 

EXPIRATION" date shown above (if the close of the appeal period falls on a weekend 
or holiday, then the appeal period expires the following business day).

If no appeal is received, the Structural Alteration Permit will be final on the first business day 
following expiration of the appeal period.

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS:
If you object to this decision, the following requirements and restrictions apply:
1. If you challenge this decision in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you 

or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the Landmarks Preservation Commission at, or prior to, the 
public hearing.

2. You must appeal to the City Council within fifteen (15) days after the Notice of Decision of 
the action of the Landmarks Preservation Commission is mailed.  It is your obligation to 
notify the Land Use Planning Division in writing of your desire to receive a Notice of 
Decision when it is completed.

3. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b) and Government Code Section 
65009(c)(1), no lawsuit challenging a City Council decision, as defined by Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 1094.6(e), regarding a use permit, variance or other permit may be filed 
more than ninety (90) days after the date the decision becomes final, as defined in Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b).  Any lawsuit not filed within that ninety (90) day period 
will be barred.

4. Pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(d)(1), notice is hereby given to the applicant 
that the 90-day protest period for any fees, dedications, reservations, or other exactions 
included in any permit approval begins upon final action by the City, and that any challenge 
must be filed within this 90-day period.

5. If you believe that this decision or any condition attached to it denies you any reasonable 
economic use of the subject property, was not sufficiently related to a legitimate public 
purpose, was not sufficiently proportional to any impact of the project, or for any other 
reason constitutes a “taking” of property for public use without just compensation under the 
California or United States Constitutions, your appeal of this decision must include the 
following information:
A. That this belief is a basis of your appeal.
B. Why you believe that the decision or condition constitutes a "taking" of property as set 

forth above.

Page 5 of 26

Page 129



  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMSAP2023-0007
2144 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 4 of 4

C. All evidence and argument in support of your belief that the decision or condition 
constitutes a “taking” as set forth above.

If you do not do so, you will waive any legal right to claim that your property has been 
taken, both before the City Council and in court.

PUBLIC COMMENT:
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will 
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, 
will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other 
contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do not want 
your contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in 
your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or 
committee for further information.

FURTHER INFORMATION:
Questions about the project should be directed to the project planner, Fatema Crane, at (510) 
981-7410 or fcrane@berkeleyca.gov.  All project application materials may be viewed at the 
Permit Service Center (Zoning counter), 1947 Center Street, 3rd Fl., during regular business 
hours.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Findings and Conditions
2. Project Plans and Materials Information

                                                                                     ATTEST:  
Fatema Crane, Secretary

Landmarks Preservation Commission

cc: City Clerk
Property Owner: Bollibokka Shattuck LLC, Pacific West Asset Management, P. O. Box 
19068, Irvine, CA
Project Applicant & Architect: Sean Kennedy, Architect, Studio Skagg, Kennedy, Berkeley, 
CA

Page 6 of 26

Page 130

mailto:fcrane@berkeleyca.gov


  

A t t a c h m e n t  1, Part 2

F i n d i n g s  a n d  C o n d i t i o n s

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420
Email: planning@berkeleyca.gov

2144 Shattuck Avenue – The American Trust 
Building/Wells Fargo Bank

Structural Alteration Permit #LMSAP2023-0007 to install security 
gates at a City Landmark property. 

FINDINGS REQUIRED UNDER CEQA
1. The project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq. and California Code of 
Regulations, §15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15331 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Historic 
Resource Restoration/Rehabilitation”).  Furthermore, none of the exceptions in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15300.2 apply, as follows: (a) the site is not located in an 
environmentally sensitive area, (b) there are no cumulative impacts, (c) there are no 
significant effects, (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway, and (e) the project 
site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to Government Code Section 
65962.5.

FINDINGS RELATED TO THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS 
Regarding the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards (SOI) for Rehabilitation, the Landmarks 
Preservation Commission of the City of Berkeley makes the following findings:

1. The proposed project does not require a change of use. The property will retain its historic 
commercial use.

2. The project will retain the historic character of the property and will not require removal 
of distinctive materials and the alteration of features that characterize the property.

3. The new gates will not resemble or replicate designs from the property’s historic period. 
These new features are contemporary and, for this reason, cannot result in a false sense 
of historical development.

4. Changes to the property that may have acquired significance in their own right are not 
affected by this project.

5. Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques, or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize this property, such as stone base and neoclassical 

Page 7 of 26

Page 131



  

2144 SHATTUCK AVENUE STRUCTURAL ALTERATION PERMIT - Findings and Conditions
Page 2 of 5 #LMSAP2023-0007

decorative building details, will be substantially retained and preserved with this limited-
scope project.

6. As conditioned herein, if deteriorated historic features will be affected by this request, then 
they would be repaired or replaced to match the materials, design, and finishes of the 
original items.

7. The applicant does not propose chemical or physical treatments. However, standard 
conditions of Structural Alteration Permit approval would require any chemical or physical 
treatments to be undertaken using the gentlest means possible.

8. The project does not have the potential to affect any archaeological resources because 
the applicant proposes no excavation.

9. The proposed new work is designed with complimentary, high-quality materials in 
simplified, contemporary style employing colors and finishes that harmonize with the 
historic design elements of the building. Owing to these aspects, new work will be 
sufficiently differentiated from the historic design.

10. If the proposed improvements were removed in the future, they would not permanently 
impair the integrity or essential form of the subject building.

FINDINGS REQUIRED UNDER LANDMARKS PRESERVATION ORDINANCE
1. As required by Section 3.24.260 of the Landmarks Preservation Ordinance, the 

Commission finds that the proposed work is appropriate for and consistent with the 
purposes of the Ordinance, and will preserve the characteristics and features specified in 
the designation for this property.  Specifically:

A. The proposed project will not adversely affect the architectural design of the City LM 
American Trust/Wells Fargo building. The limited scope of work will not destroy any 
the building’s character-defining features and materials. The gate installations are 
limited to only certain areas of the building façade and would feature high-quality yet 
compatible bronze or brass metal work. The features are designed to be distinct from 
the Neoclassical building yet are limited sufficiently so as to void competing with or 
drawing attention from the architectural building design.

B. The special character of the subject property may lie in its Neoclassical design and 
12-story scale. This project would not adversely affect these qualities because they 
would be retained with the proposed gate installation.

Page 8 of 26

Page 132



  

2144 SHATTUCK AVENUE STRUCTURAL ALTERATION PERMIT - Findings and Conditions
Page 3 of 5 #LMSAP2023-0007

STANDARD CONDITIONS

The following conditions, as well as all other applicable provisions of the Landmarks 
Preservation Ordinance, apply to this Permit:

1. Conditions Shall be Printed on Plans

The conditions of this Permit shall be printed on the second sheet of each plan set 
submitted for a building permit pursuant to this Permit, under the title ‘Structural 
Alteration Permit Conditions’. Additional sheets may also be used if the second sheet is 
not of sufficient size to list all of the conditions. The sheet(s) containing the conditions 
shall be of the same size as those sheets containing the construction drawings; 8-1/2” 
by 11” sheets are not acceptable.

2. Plans and Representations Become Conditions 

Except as specified herein, the site plan, floor plans, building elevations and/or any 
additional information or representations, whether oral or written, indicating the 
proposed structure or manner of operation submitted with an application or during the 
approval process are deemed conditions of approval.

3. Subject to All Applicable Laws and Regulations

The approved use and/or construction is subject to, and shall comply with, all applicable 
City Ordinances and laws and regulations of other governmental agencies.  Prior to 
construction, the applicant shall identify and secure all applicable permits from the 
Zoning Adjustments Board or Zoning Officer, Building and Safety Division, Public Works 
Department and other affected City divisions and departments.

4. Exercise and Lapse of Permits

A.  A permit for the construction of a building or structure is deemed exercised when a 
valid City building permit, if required, is issued, and construction has lawfully 
commenced.

B.  A permit may be declared lapsed and of no further force and effect if it is not exercised 
within one year of its issuance, except that permits for construction or alteration of 
structures or buildings may not be declared lapsed if the permittee has:  (1) applied 
for a building permit; or, (2) made substantial good faith efforts to obtain a building 
permit and begin construction, even if a building permit has not been issued and/or 
construction has not begun.

5. Indemnification Agreement

The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its 
officers, agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, 
judgments or other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness 
and consultant fees and other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, 
resulting from or caused by, or alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action 
or approval associated with the project.  The indemnity includes without limitation, any 

Page 9 of 26

Page 133



  

2144 SHATTUCK AVENUE STRUCTURAL ALTERATION PERMIT - Findings and Conditions
Page 4 of 5 #LMSAP2023-0007

legal or administrative challenge, referendum or initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, 
set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any or all approvals granted in connection with the 
Project, any environmental determination made for the project and granting any permit 
issued in accordance with the project.  This indemnity includes, without limitation, 
payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action specified 
herein.  Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, 
expert witness and consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.  City shall have 
the right to select counsel to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of 
any action specified in this condition of approval.  City shall take reasonable steps to 
promptly notify the Applicant of any claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a 
claim for indemnification under these conditions of approval.

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS 
The following additional conditions are attached to this Permit:

6. No changes can be made to these approved plans without prior approval.

7. CITY PERMITS.  This Structural Alteration Permit (SAP) approval is contingent upon 
approval of the requisite Use Permit and Public Work Permit for the project scope.

8. PLANS COMPLIANCE.  Construction and building permit plans shall substantially 
conform to the Structural Alteration Permit (SAP) project plans dated/received 
November 27, 2023.

9. REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT OF CHARACTER-DEFINING FEATURES.  
Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the 
severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature 
shall match the old or historic feature in design, color, texture, and, where possible, 
materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary 
and physical evidence.

10. Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest 
means possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials shall not be used.

11. COLORS.  Prior to Landmarks plan checker sign-off of the Building Permit set of 
drawings, the applicant shall submit color and materials information for review and 
approval by Landmarks staff, in coordination with the LPC Chair as needed.

12. DETAILS.  Prior to Landmarks plan checker sign-off of the Building Permit set of 
drawings, the applicant shall submit gate design and details for review and approval by 
the Landmarks plan checker.  

13. The applicant shall be responsible for identifying and securing all applicable permits 
from the Building and Safety Division and all other affected City divisions/departments 
prior to the start of work.

Page 10 of 26

Page 134



  

2144 SHATTUCK AVENUE STRUCTURAL ALTERATION PERMIT - Findings and Conditions
Page 5 of 5 #LMSAP2023-0007

14. The applicant is responsible for complying with all the above conditions. Failure to 
comply with any condition could result in construction work being stopped, issuance of 
citations, as well as further review by the Landmarks staff, which may modify or impose 
additional conditions, or revoke approval.

15. All building permit drawings and subsequent construction shall substantially conform to 
the approved plans as outlined in Condition #1. Any modifications must be reviewed by 
the Landmarks plan checker to determine whether the modification requires approval.

16. The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its 
officers, agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, 
judgments or other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness 
and consultant fees and other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, 
resulting from or caused by, or alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action 
or approval associated with the project.  The indemnity includes without limitation, any 
legal or administrative challenge, referendum or initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, 
set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any or all approvals granted in connection with the 
Project, any environmental determination made for the project and granting any permit 
issued in accordance with the project.  This indemnity includes, without limitation, 
payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action specified 
herein.  Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, 
expert witness and consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.  City shall have 
the right to select counsel to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of 
any action specified in this condition of approval.  City shall take reasonable steps to 
promptly notify the Applicant of any claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a 
claim for indemnification under these conditions of approval.   

 

Page 11 of 26

Page 135



Landmark Preservation Committee Review
2140 SHATTUCK AVENUE

11.27.23  

s_sk
studio skaggs kennedy 

architecture + urbanism

SHATTUCK AVE. SECURITY GATE

Page 12 of 26

Page 136

ATTACHMENT 1, PART 3



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.22140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA PROJECT DATA

Project Tabulations

Project Address:      2140 Shattuck Ave 
         Berkeley CA, 94704

Assessor’s Parcel No:    57-202300400

Zoning:        C-DMU Core

Existing Occupancy:     B

Proposed Occupancy:    No Change 

Building Area Allowed:    Unlimted

Building Area Proposed:    No Change

Area of Work:      146sf

Special Designation:     

City of Berkeley Designated Landmark; Listed in National Register 

Project Description:
This project proposes to add an “after-hours” security gate to protect 
the vestibule of 2140 Shattuck from vandalism. The proposed gate 
takes its design language from the existing material palette of the 
historic banking hall as well as the entry gate design for the recently 
approved Center Street entry around the corner of the building. 

Page 13 of 26

Page 137



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.32140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA

SHATTUCK AVE ENTRY

SITE PLAN

CENTER st

CENTER ST

SH
ATTU

C
K

 ave

SH
ATTU

C
K

  AVE

ELEV.

UP

DN

UP

STOR.

UP CLOS.

PROJECT SITE 

VICINITY MAP SCOPE DIAGRAM
FLOOR PLAN LEVEL 1

N.T.S

NORTH

NOT IN SCOPE

Page 14 of 26

Page 138



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.012140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA EXISTING PHOTOGRAPHS

EXISTING PHOTOGRAPHS
All photos taken by on 9.19.23

N.T.S

1

Graphic Appendix - DRAFT  2081 Center Street
Project Number 20010  Berkeley, California 

PAGE & TURNBULL 4 JANUARY 28, 2022

4

1
Center StCenter St Shattuck Ave

Shattuck Ave

2
3

587
6 9

Shattuck Ave
Shattuck Ave

Kala Bagai W
ay

Kala Bagai W
ay

IMAGES
EXISTING CONDITIONS

4. View of office tower, looking northwest from Shattuck Avenue. 1. Overall view looking northeast from Center Street. 

2. View of existing Center Street entrances. Accessible entrance is 
located immediately adjacent the vehicle entrance.

3. View looking northwest from Shattuck Avenue. 

Key Map: Existing Conditions

PROJECT

2

1

3

2

3PROJECT
KEY PLAN

PROJECT(E) BANING HALL ENTRY
TO REMAIN

Page 15 of 26

Page 139



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.022140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA SECURITY PHOTOS

CCTV STILLS
Recent unsafe behavior in the vestibule as 
captured on the security cameras.

Page 16 of 26

Page 140



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.032140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA

BA C D

E F G H J

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

EXISTING FLOOR PLAN AND ELEVATION 1/16” = 1’-0”

NORTH

NOT IN SCOPE

2,920 SF

AREA OF PROPOSED GATE

128 SF
AREA OF WORK

4.4% of Facade Altered

A.04

A.06

Page 17 of 26

Page 141



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.042140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA PROPOSED PLAN

5' - 7 12"

4'
 - 

2 
1 2"

6'-0"

5'-0"

5' - 5 12 "

6' - 4 14 "

6' - 2 14"

1'
-0

1 2"

3' - 7 12" 3' - 7 12"

N
O
R
TH

1/2” = 1’-0”

WINDOW SECURITY PANEL

GATE

SIDEWALK

VESTIBULE

LOBBY

WELLS FARGO BAKING HALL

NOT IN SCOPE

A.05

Page 18 of 26

Page 142



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.052140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA

5'-11 1/2"

0'
-8

 1
/2

"

1'
-1

 1
/2

"

3'-7" 3'-7"

WINDOW SECURITY PANEL

RECESSED GATE

SIDEWALK

VESTIBULE

NOT IN SCOPE

LOBBY

ALTERNATE OPTION

PROPOSED ENLARGED PLAN (ALTERNATE)

Page 19 of 26

Page 143



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.062140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA

180 HINGE TO HOLD DOOR 
DURING BUSINESS HOURS

ENLARGED PLAN 
3/4” = 1’-0”

GATE JAMB DETAIL
3” = 1’-0”

(E) WINDOW FRAME TO REMAIN

HSS POST

MOUNTING PLATE

180  HINGE
GATE (OPEN)

WINDOW SECURITY PANEL

INTERIOR

INTERIOR

EXTERIOR

EXTERIOR

PROPOSED ENLARGED PLAN

N
O
R
TH

Page 20 of 26

Page 144



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.072140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA

FIXED PANEL

HSS POST

EMERGENCY DOOR 
HARDWARE

FIXED PANEL
3’- 7 1/2”

1’- 2”

PANEL HEIGHT : 8’- 6” 

7” 7”

3’- 7 1/2” 5’- 7 1/2”
ENTRY GATE

W/ KEYLESS GATE LOCK

PROPOSED ENLARGED ELEVATION 3/4” = 1’-0”

GATE HEIGHT : 9’-10” 

Page 21 of 26

Page 145



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.082140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION

GATE OPEN
DURING BUSINESS HOURS

GATE CLOSED
AFTER BUSINESS HOURS

1/4” = 1’-0”

Page 22 of 26

Page 146



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.092140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA RENDERED VIEW - EXTERIOR

GATE OPEN
DURING BUSINESS HOURS

GATE CLOSED
AFTER BUSINESS HOURS

N.T.S

EMERGENCY DOOR 
HARDWARE

EMERGENCY DOOR 
HARDWARE

Page 23 of 26

Page 147



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.102140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA RENDERED VIEW - EXTERIOR (ALTERNATE)

GATE OPEN
DURING BUSINESS HOURS

GATE CLOSED
AFTER BUSINESS HOURS

N.T.S

EMERGENCY DOOR 
HARDWARE

EMERGENCY DOOR 
HARDWARE

Page 24 of 26

Page 148



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.112140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA MATERIAL / DESIGN 

 EXAMPLES OF CONTEMPORARY BRASS AND BRONZE WORK

2081 CENTER ST ENTRY DESIGN

N.T.S

Page 25 of 26

Page 149



11/27/23 studio skaggs kennedy |  2315 Prince St, Berkeley, CA  |  415.235.9205A.122140 Shattuck Ave, Berkeley CA RENDERED VIEW - INTERIOR

GATE OPEN
DURING BUSINESS HOURS

GATE CLOSE
AFTER BUSINESS HOURS

N.T.S

Page 26 of 26

Page 150



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

INFORMATION CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning and Development Department

Subject: LPO NOD: 2274 Shattuck Avenue, #LMIN2023-0003

INTRODUCTION
The attached Landmarks Preservation Commission Notice of Decision (NOD) is 
presented to the Mayor and City Council pursuant to Berkeley Municipal 
Code/Landmarks Preservation Ordinance (BMC/LPO) Section 3.24.240.A, which 
requires that “a copy of the Notice of Decision shall be filed with the City Clerk and the 
City Clerk shall present said copy to the City Council at its next regular meeting.”

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The Landmark Preservation Commission (LPC/Commission) approved City Landmark 
designation status for the United Artists (UA) Theater built in 1932, which is also listed 
on the California Register of Historical Resources. This action is subject to a 15-day 
appeal period, which began on March 5, 2024. 

BACKGROUND
BMC/LPO Section 3.24.300 allows City Council to review any action of the Landmarks 
Preservation Commission in granting or denying a Landmark application. For Council to 
review the decision on its merits, Council must appeal the NOD. To do so, a Council 
member must move this Information Item to Action and then move to set the matter for 
hearing on its own. Such action must be taken within 15 days of the mailing of the 
Notice of Decision, or by March 19, 2024. Such certification to Council shall stay all 
proceedings in the same manner as the filing of an appeal.

If the Council chooses to appeal the action of the Commission, then a public hearing will 
be set. The Council must then rule on the designation within 30 days of closing the 
hearing, otherwise the decision of the Commission is automatically deemed affirmed.

Unless the Council wishes to review the determination of the Commission and make its 
own decision, the attached NOD is deemed received and filed.

Page 1 of 106 12

Page 151

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


  
LPC NOD: 2274 Shattuck Avenue/#LMIN2023-0003 INFORMATION CALENDAR

March 19, 2024

Page 2

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY & CLIMATE IMPACTS
Landmark designation provides opportunities for the adaptive re-use and rehabilitation 
of historic resources within the City. The rehabilitation of these resources, rather than 
their removal, achieves construction and demolition waste diversion, and promotes 
investment in existing urban centers.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
The Council may choose to certify or appeal the decision, setting the matter for public 
hearing at a future date.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
There are no known fiscal impacts associated with this action.

CONTACT PERSON
Fatema Crane, Principal Planner/LPC Secretary; Planning and Development 
Department, 510-981-7410
Reina Kapadia, AICP, Senior Planner; Planning and Development Department,
510-981-7485

Attachments:
1: Notice of Decision – 2274 Shattuck Avenue, #LMIN2023-0003

Page 2 of 106

Page 152



Attachment 1, Part 1  

L A N D M A R K S

P R E S E R V A T I O N

C O M M I S S I O N

N o t i c e  o f  D e c i s i o n

DATE OF BOARD DECISION: February 1, 2024
DATE NOTICE MAILED: March 4, 2024

APPEAL PERIOD EXPIRATION: March 19, 2024
EFFECTIVE DATE OF PERMIT (Barring Appeal or Certification): March 20, 20241

2274 Shattuck Avenue – United Artists Theater
City Landmark designation status for a theater completed in 1932 and 
listed on the California Register of Historical Resources (APN: 57-2028-3)

The Landmarks Preservation Commission of the City of Berkeley, after conducting a public 
hearing, APPROVED the Landmark application request (#LMIN2023-0003).

 Initiated by: Verified Application of 55 Berkeley residents

 Application Authors: Anastasia Rose Ellis and Laura Linden
Save the UA Berkeley
1627 Grant St., Apt. A
Berkeley, CA 94703

 Property Owner: 2274 Shattuck QOZB LLC
c/o JP Walsh
2539 Telegraph Avenue, Suite 101
Berkeley, CA 94704

ZONING DISTRICT:  Commercial Downtown Mixed-Use Corridor (C-DMU) Zoning District

1 Pursuant to BMC Chapter 3.24, the City Council may “certify” any decision of the LPC for review, which has the 
same effect as an appeal. In most cases, the Council must certify the LPC decision during the 14-day appeal 
period. However, pursuant to BMC Section 1.04.070, if any portion of the appeal period falls within a Council 
recess, the deadline for Council certification is suspended until the first Council meeting after the recess, plus the 
number of days of the appeal period that occurred during the recess, minus one day. If there is no appeal or 
certification, the Use Permit becomes effective the day after the certification deadline has passed.

Page 3 of 106

Page 153



  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMIN2023-0003
2274 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 2 of 5

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW STATUS: Categorically exempt from further environmental 
review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061.(b)(3) Review for Exemptions.

The application materials for this project is available online at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/zoning-projects or 
https://permits.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Default.aspx

FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL AND APPLICATION MATERIALS ARE 
ATTACHED TO THIS NOTICE 

COMMISSION VOTE: 5-4-0-0 

YES: CRANDALL, LEUSCHNER, MONTGOMERY, ORBUCH, TWU

NO: ENCHILL, FINACOM, LINVILL, SCHWARTZ

ABSTAIN: NONE

ABSENT: NONE

TO APPEAL THIS DECISION (see Section 3.24.300 of the Berkeley Municipal Code):
To appeal a decision of the Landmarks Preservation Commission to the City Council you must:

1. Submit a letter clearly and concisely setting forth the grounds for the appeal to the City 
Clerk, located at 2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley. The City Clerk’s telephone 
number is (510) 981-6900.
a. Pursuant to BMC Section 3.24.300.A, an appeal may be taken to the City Council by 

the application of the owners of the property or their authorized agents, or by the 
application of at least fifty residents of the City aggrieved or affected by any 
determination of the commission made under the provisions of Chapter 3.24.

2. Submit the required fee (checks and money orders must be payable to ‘City of 
Berkeley’):
a. The basic fee for persons other than the applicant is $1,500. This fee may be 

reduced to $500 if the appeal is signed by persons who lease or own at least 50 
percent of the parcels or dwelling units within 300 feet of the project site, or at least 
25 such persons (not including dependent children), whichever is less.  Signatures 
collected per the filing requirement in BMC Section 3.24.300.A may be counted 
towards qualifying for the reduced fee, so long as the signers are qualified.  The 

Page 4 of 106

Page 154

https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/zoning-projects
https://permits.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Default.aspx


  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMIN2023-0003
2274 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 3 of 5

individual filing the appeal must clearly denote which signatures are to be counted 
towards qualifying for the reduced fee.

b. The fee for appeals of affordable housing projects (defined as projects which provide 
50 percent or more affordable units for households earning 80% or less of Area 
Median Income) is $500, which may not be reduced.

c. The fee for all appeals by Applicants is $5,520.
3. The appeal must be received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the "APPEAL PERIOD 

EXPIRATION" date shown above (if the close of the appeal period falls on a weekend 
or holiday, then the appeal period expires the following business day).

If no appeal is received, the Landmark designation will be final on the first business day 
following expiration of the appeal period.

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS:
If you object to this decision, the following requirements and restrictions apply:
1. If you challenge this decision in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you 

or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the Landmarks Preservation Commission at, or prior to, the 
public hearing.

2. You must appeal to the City Council within fifteen (15) days after the Notice of Decision of 
the action of the Landmarks Preservation Commission is mailed.  It is your obligation to 
notify the Land Use Planning Division in writing of your desire to receive a Notice of 
Decision when it is completed.

3. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b) and Government Code Section 
65009(c)(1), no lawsuit challenging a City Council decision, as defined by Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 1094.6(e), regarding a use permit, variance or other permit may be filed 
more than ninety (90) days after the date the decision becomes final, as defined in Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b).  Any lawsuit not filed within that ninety (90) day period 
will be barred.

4. Pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(d)(1), notice is hereby given to the applicant 
that the 90-day protest period for any fees, dedications, reservations, or other exactions 
included in any permit approval begins upon final action by the City, and that any challenge 
must be filed within this 90-day period.

5. If you believe that this decision or any condition attached to it denies you any reasonable 
economic use of the subject property, was not sufficiently related to a legitimate public 
purpose, was not sufficiently proportional to any impact of the project, or for any other 
reason constitutes a “taking” of property for public use without just compensation under the 
California or United States Constitutions, your appeal of this decision must include the 
following information:
A. That this belief is a basis of your appeal.

Page 5 of 106

Page 155



  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMIN2023-0003
2274 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 4 of 5

B. Why you believe that the decision or condition constitutes a "taking" of property as set 
forth above.

C. All evidence and argument in support of your belief that the decision or condition 
constitutes a “taking” as set forth above.

If you do not do so, you will waive any legal right to claim that your property has been 
taken, both before the City Council and in court.

PUBLIC COMMENT:
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will 
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, 
will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other 
contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do not want 
your contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in 
your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or 
committee for further information.

FURTHER INFORMATION:
Questions about the project should be directed to the project planner, Reina Kapadia, at (510) 
981-7485 or rkapadia@berkeleyca.gov. All project application materials may be viewed at the 
Permit Service Center (Zoning counter), 1947 Center Street, 3rd Fl., during regular business 
hours.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Findings and Conditions
2. Application Materials 

                                                                                     ATTEST:  
Fatema Crane, Secretary

Landmarks Preservation Commission

cc: City Clerk

Application Authors: Anastasia Rose Ellis and Laura Linden, Save the UA 
Berkeley, 1627 Grant St., Apt. A, Berkeley, CA 94703

Page 6 of 106

Page 156

mailto:rkapadia@berkeleyca.gov


  
LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF DECISION
#LMIN2023-0003
2274 Shattuck Avenue
Mailed: March 4, 2024
Page 5 of 5

Property Owner: 2274 Shattuck QOZB LLC, c/o JP Walsh, 2539 Telegraph 
Avenue, Suite 101, Berkeley, CA 94704

 
Interested Parties: Anthony Verruso; Arlene Owseichik; M.E. Lawrence; Robin 

Baral

Page 7 of 106

Page 157



  

A t t a c h m e n t  1 ,  P a r t  2

 F i n d i n g s  f o r  D e s i g n a t i o n  

FEBRUARY 1, 2024
  

2274 Shattuck Avenue – United Artists Theater
Landmark application #LMIN2023-0003 for the consideration of City 
Landmark or Structure of Merit designation status for a theater completed 
in 1932 (APN: 057-2028-0023)

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

City Landmark designation of the property at 2274 Shattuck Avenue – United Artists Theater.

CEQA FINDINGS

1. The project is found to be exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 
15061.b.3 of the CEQA Guidelines (activities that can be seen with certainty to have 
no significant effect on the environment).

LANDMARK PRESERVATION ORIDNANCE FINDINGS

2. Pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Section 3.24.110.A.1.(c) of the 
Landmarks Preservation Ordinance (LPO), the Landmarks Preservation Commission 
of the City of Berkeley (Commission) finds that the subject property is an architectural 
example that is worthy of preservation for the exceptional value it adds as part of the 
Downtown Berkeley neighborhood fabric. The City’s 2015 intensive survey evaluation 
of this property concluded that the United Artists Theater is an important Contributor to 
the establishment of a historic district in the greater Shattuck Avenue area.

3. Pursuant to BMC Section 3.24.110.A.4, the Commission further finds that the subject 
property expresses and embodies the history of Berkeley through its direct 
associations with the development of Downtown Berkeley as a center of commerce 
and transportation. The Shattuck Avenue Commercial Corridor Historic Context and 
Survey (2015) determined that this building, in its extant condition, continues to 
represent commercial forms and materials that were prominent in the Downtown 
during the period of historical significance.

Page 8 of 106

Page 158



  
FINDINGS for DESIGNATION 2274 Shattuck Avenue – United Artists Theater
Page 2 of 2 February 1, 2024

 

FEATURES TO BE PRESERVED 

This designation shall apply to the subject property and the following distinguishing features 
of the main building shall be preserved, and missing features shall be restored to the extent 
possible:

1. The upper portion of the Shattuck Avenue building façade in relation to the overall 
height and massing of the façade.

2. The architectural and decorative features of the upper portion of the Shattuck Avenue 
building façade, including: 

 stepped-parapet front wall;
 central horizontal beam that once supported a blade sign;
 original Art Deco Works Progress Administration-style cast concrete wall;
 wall frescos and bas relief;
 “Artistry” and “Unity” relief slogans; 
 stylized imagery of leaves and globes, gears and levers, musical instruments, 

and male and female forms;
 tower plume, half arches, and scroll patterns.

Excluding: the 1980s storefront and 1970s marquee on the lower building facade.

Page 9 of 106

Page 159



Page 10 of 106

Page 160

Attachment 1, Part 3



Page 11 of 106

Page 161



Page 12 of 106

Page 162



Page 13 of 106

Page 163



Page 14 of 106

Page 164



Page 15 of 106

Page 165



Page 16 of 106

Page 166



Page 17 of 106

Page 167



Page 18 of 106

Page 168



Page 19 of 106

Page 169



Page 20 of 106

Page 170



Page 21 of 106

Page 171



Page 22 of 106

Page 172



Page 23 of 106

Page 173



Page 24 of 106

Page 174



Page 25 of 106

Page 175



Page 26 of 106

Page 176



Page 27 of 106

Page 177



Page 28 of 106

Page 178



Page 29 of 106

Page 179



Page 30 of 106

Page 180



Page 31 of 106

Page 181



Page 32 of 106

Page 182



Page 33 of 106

Page 183



Page 34 of 106

Page 184



Page 35 of 106

Page 185



Page 36 of 106

Page 186



Page 37 of 106

Page 187



Page 38 of 106

Page 188



Page 39 of 106

Page 189



Page 40 of 106

Page 190



Page 41 of 106

Page 191



Page 42 of 106

Page 192



Page 43 of 106

Page 193



Page 44 of 106

Page 194



Page 45 of 106

Page 195



Page 46 of 106

Page 196



Page 47 of 106

Page 197



Page 48 of 106

Page 198



Page 49 of 106

Page 199



Page 50 of 106

Page 200



Page 51 of 106

Page 201



Page 52 of 106

Page 202



Page 53 of 106

Page 203



Page 54 of 106

Page 204



Page 55 of 106

Page 205



Page 56 of 106

Page 206



Page 57 of 106

Page 207



Page 58 of 106

Page 208



Page 59 of 106

Page 209



Page 60 of 106

Page 210



Page 61 of 106

Page 211



Page 62 of 106

Page 212



Page 63 of 106

Page 213



Page 64 of 106

Page 214



Page 65 of 106

Page 215



Page 66 of 106

Page 216



Page 67 of 106

Page 217



Page 68 of 106

Page 218



Page 69 of 106

Page 219



Page 70 of 106

Page 220



Page 71 of 106

Page 221



Page 72 of 106

Page 222



Page 73 of 106

Page 223



Page 74 of 106

Page 224



Page 75 of 106

Page 225



Page 76 of 106

Page 226



Page 77 of 106

Page 227



Page 78 of 106

Page 228



Page 79 of 106

Page 229



Page 80 of 106

Page 230



Page 81 of 106

Page 231



Page 82 of 106

Page 232



Page 83 of 106

Page 233



Page 84 of 106

Page 234



Page 85 of 106

Page 235



Page 86 of 106

Page 236



Page 87 of 106

Page 237



Page 88 of 106

Page 238



Page 89 of 106

Page 239



Page 90 of 106

Page 240



Page 91 of 106

Page 241



Page 92 of 106

Page 242



Page 93 of 106

Page 243



Page 94 of 106

Page 244



Page 95 of 106

Page 245



Page 96 of 106

Page 246



Page 97 of 106

Page 247



Page 98 of 106

Page 248



Page 99 of 106

Page 249



Page 100 of 106

Page 250



Page 101 of 106

Page 251



Page 102 of 106

Page 252



Page 103 of 106

Page 253



Page 104 of 106

Page 254



Page 105 of 106

Page 255



Page 106 of 106

Page 256



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

INFORMATION CALENDAR
March 19, 2024

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Andrew Murray, Interim Director of Public Works

Subject: Audit Status Reports: Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions & Rocky 
Road: Berkeley Streets At Risk and Significantly Underfunded

INTRODUCTION
On November 19, 2020, the City Auditor published the Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at 
Risk and Significantly Underfunded Audit Report, reviewing the funding resources to 
sufficiently maintain City streets, and asking if Public Works has clear policies and 
processes to guide paving decisions. On June 2, 2021, the City Auditor published the 
Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions Audit Report, reviewing the solvency of the fund 
to sufficiently replace vehicles and asking if Public Works has key information 
necessary for managing the fleet program.

This is the second status report to City Council on the efforts made to implement the 
Audit Report’s recommendations for both streets paving and fleet. A previous report 
was issued on November 3, 2022.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The street paving audit report included two findings and five recommendations for the 
Public Works Department and its Engineering Division and Administrative & Fiscal 
Services Division to review, implement and report to Council. As of this report, three 
recommendations have been implemented and two recommendations have been 
partially implemented. All recommendations currently tracking as partially implemented 
require funding source availability for appropriation to streets.

The fleet audit report noted two findings and twelve recommendations for the Public 
Works Department and its Equipment Management Division and Administrative & Fiscal 
Services Division to review, implement and report to Council. As of this report, there are 
updates to the status of all twelve recommendations. The first set of seven 
recommendations were related to the underfunding of the Equipment Replacement 
Fund. One recommendation has been partially implemented, the remaining six 
recommendations have been started. The second set of five recommendations focused 
on Public Works having critical information available to inform management and 
decision making. All five recommendations under this finding have been started. 

Page 1 of 13 13

Page 257

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Audit Status Reports - Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions INFORMATION CALENDAR
& Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets At Risk and Significantly Underfunded March 19 2024

Page 2

The attachment provides a detailed table of audit report recommendations, steps 
towards corrective action, and implementation progress updates. The next status report 
for the fleet street paving audit are expected to be presented September 10, 2024.

BACKGROUND
Public Works’ Engineering Division is responsible for capital projects to maintain over 
216 centerline miles of streets in the City, while the Streets & Utilities Division handles 
day-to-day maintenance of those streets. Public Works’ Equipment Management 
Division manages the maintenance, purchase, and replacement of the City’s 730 fleet 
vehicles, heavy duty trucks and large equipment, including public safety, fire, and 
alternative fuel vehicles and equipment. The Administrative and Fiscal Services Division 
is responsible for the Department’s budget and fiscal oversight and analytical support 
for routine and special projects in all Public Works operating divisions.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Public Works replaces vehicles with alternative fuel, hybrid and electric vehicles
whenever possible given availability of fleet technology, available budget and charging
infrastructure. Improved streets benefit all users help encourage more bicycling and 
walking, which lowers greenhouse gas emissions. Improved streets include green 
infrastructure help reduce pollution and clean stormwater before it reaches the Bay.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
Public Works will continue to address the remaining two partially implemented
recommendations in the street paving audit and the twelve started and partially 
implemented recommendations in the fleet audit. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
In the biannual budget adoption for FY 2023 and FY 2024, Council approved a funding 
guideline to approve an $8,000,000 annual increase to street paving funding in future 
fiscal years (plus annual CPI adjustments). This funding is intended to raise paving 
funding to levels sufficient to maintain current pavement condition. Significant additional 
funding would be needed to be allocated over several years to raise the pavement 
condition index (PCI) to 70-75 or “Good” status.

CONTACT PERSON
Sean O’Shea, Administrative & Fiscal Services Manager (510) 981-6306
Ron Nevels, Manager of Engineering (510) 981-6439
Greg Ellington, Equipment Management Superintendent (510) 981-9469

Attachment: 
1. Fleet Audit Findings and Recommendations Response Report 
2. Street Audit Findings and Recommendations Response Report 

Page 2 of 13

Page 258



Audit Title: Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions
Finding Recommendation Lead

Depart
ment

Expected or 
Actual 
Implementation 
Date

Status of Audit 
Recommendations, Corrective 
Action Plan, and Progress 
Summary

Last 
Period: 
Status

The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.1 Calculate the dollar value of 
the City’s replacement needs. 
Use results from the recent 
rate study to adjust 
departments’ replacement 
fees to cover their share of 
the costs associated with
vehicle replacement, 
including customization and 
personnel.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Partly Implemented: 
Public Works annually updates 
the fleet replacement costs in 
the FUND$ Fleet Management 
System. This cost replacement 
data has also been validated 
for the upcoming switch to the 
Assetworks Fleet Management 
software, expected to go live 
Spring 2024. Public Works is 
also evaluating costs for 
adjustment in the FY 25-26 
biennial operating budget and 
the five year replacement 
schedule communicated in the 
FY 25-29 CIP. A proposed rate 
adjustment for the Equipment 
Replacement Fund that would 
account for Public Works staff 
time supported by the fund is 
under consideration for 
adoption in the FY 25-26 
Budget Development cycle.

Partly 
Implemented

Page 3 of 13

Page 259



The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.2 Conduct an analysis of the 
City’s current fleet and 
determine the optimal fleet 
size to provide services 
efficiently and effectively. 
This analysis should include 
fleet units identified as 
reserve,
backup, and “pool” vehicles. 
The outcome of the analysis 
should be a plan to achieve 
and provide funding for the 
optimal fleet size.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
City Council approved a 
contract for Mercury 
Associates to conduct the fleet 
assessment study on 
November 21, 2023. The 
contract was executed in 
February 2024, and the study is 
expected to be completed by 
September 2024.

Started

The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.3 Work with the City Manager’s 
Office to adjust the funding 
model of the Equipment 
Replacement
Fund or adopt a new one to 
ensure appropriate funding 
for timely fleet replacement, 
such as annually transferring 
money from the General Fund 
based on an assessment of 
the City’s overall fleet needs 
and priorities. Expand the 
current vehicle and 
equipment replacement
policy to ensure transparency 
of key provisions of the new 
or updated model.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The City decided to defer 
implementation of the 
Equipment Replacement Fund 
and Equipment Maintenance 
Fund rate models to the FY 25-
26 Biennial Budget 
Development process. Public 
Works has since updated its 
fund rate models based on FY 
23 actuals and is presenting the 
new rates for adoption during 
the next budget cycle. The new 
Public Works executive 
leadership is reviewing the 
draft Equipment Replacement 
Policy, and will complete the 
final departmental review in 
Spring 2024. The policy will 
then be reviewed by the City 
Manager's Office.

Started

Page 4 of 13

Page 260



The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.4 Revise the vehicle and 
equipment replacement 
policy to include that Public 
Works should regularly assess 
the personnel expenditures 
related to vehicle and 
equipment replacement and
ensure that they are 
appropriate and proportional 
to their duties.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The draft Equipment 
Replacement Policy is being 
reviewed by the new Public 
Works executive leadership 
staff for final departmental 
review. It includes language 
supportive of the listed 
recommendation. Next step 
will be review with the City 
Manager's Office, then it will 
be shared with citywide 
departments in Spring 2024.

Started

The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.5 Revise the vehicle and 
equipment replacement 
policy to prevent replacing 
unfunded vehicles by 
ensuring that contributed 
funds are available for the 
purchase.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The draft Equipment 
Replacement Policy is being 
reviewed by the new Public 
Works executive leadership 
staff for final departmental 
review. It includes language 
supportive of this 
recommendation.

Started

The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.6 Develop an Administrative 
Regulation that clarifies 
Public Works’ responsibilities 
to manage the fleet and 
maintain sufficient fleet 
replacement funding.  

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The draft Equipment 
Replacement Policy is being 
reviewed by the new Public 
Works executive leadership 
staff for final departmental 
review. It includes language 
supportive of this 
recommendation.

Started

Page 5 of 13

Page 261



The Replacement 
Fund is underfunded 
by millions of dollars.

1.7 To help secure the funding 
needed for transitioning to 
electric vehicles by 2030, 
work with the City Manager’s 
Office to develop a budgetary 
plan to purchase electric 
vehicles. The plan should 
align with the City’s fleet 
electrification goals and take 
into consideration the current 
economic downturn, funding 
availability, available 
infrastructure, and electric 
vehicle availability.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The Fleet Division is meeting 
with EV manufacturers to 
demo and discuss potential 
future purchase options, and 
has a demo for medium and 
heavy-duty EV vehicles on site 
at the Corp Yard scheduled for 
late March 2024. The Fleet 
Division is also meeting with 
other manufacturers of EV 
vehicles directly. Staff is 
proposing a funding request to 
support installation of 
additional EV charging stations 
for the city fleet in the FY 25-26 
budget development cycle and 
the FY 25-29 Capital 
Improvement Plan as well as 
researching possible grant 
opportunities.

Started

Public Works lacks 
information on 
vehicle and 
equipment 
replacement for 
decision making.

2.1 Conduct a needs assessment 
of vehicles overdue for 
replacement and create a 
plan that documents a 
timeline and cost for 
replacement. Report the 
findings to City Council.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
Funding for backlog vehicle 
purchases was included in the 
FY 23 and FY 24 budgets along 
with scheduled replacements in 
those years. Similarly, an 
expenditure budget to cover 
future projected backlog 
vehicles will be included in the 
FY 25 Public Works budget. A 
formal needs assessment 
document has not been 
completed and will be 

Started

Page 6 of 13

Page 262



scheduled, drafted and 
presented to Council in 
calendar year 2024.

Public Works lacks 
information on 
vehicle and 
equipment 
replacement for 
decision making.

2.2 Update the vehicle and 
equipment replacement 
policy to include criteria for 
prioritizing fleet replacement. 
The policy should include a 
requirement to communicate 
a delay in replacement of 
their fleet to affected 
departments. In 
Administrative Regulation 
described in recommendation 
1.6, specify that the vehicle 
and equipment replacement 
policy should include
such criteria.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The draft Equipment 
Replacement Policy is being 
reviewed by the new Public 
Works executive leadership 
staff for final departmental 
review. It includes language 
supportive of the listed 
recommendation. The next 
step will be review with the 
City Manager's Office, then it 
will be shared with citywide 
departments in Spring 2024.

Started

Page 7 of 13

Page 263



Public Works lacks 
information on 
vehicle and 
equipment 
replacement for 
decision making.

2.3 Work with the vendor of the 
new fleet management 
system to configure it to 
address the data issues 
identified in this report, 
including:
• Tracking Replacement 
Funds collected and leftover 
funds by department;
• Zeroing out the balance 
after a vehicle is replaced;
• Adjusting the replacement 
date and reporting the 
rationale if a replacement is 
deferred;
and
• Displaying any information 
needed to prioritize 
replacements based on 
specified criteria.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
Public Works is gathering data 
for the AssetWorks fleet 
management software and 
expects the system to go live in 
April 2024. Reporting on 
vehicle replacement will be 
more thorough as the vehicle 
usage and maintenance costs 
will be more readily available. 
User departments will be 
consulted to verify 
replacement schedules as part 
of the annual budgeting 
process.

Started

Public Works lacks 
information on 
vehicle and 
equipment 
replacement for 
decision making.

2.4 Clean and update the vehicle 
and equipment database 
before migrating it to the new 
fleet management system to 
ensure accuracy and data 
integrity.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
Data gathering for the 
AssetWorks fleet management 
software is nearing completion 
with end user training 
anticipated in April 2024. The 
system is expected to go live 
shortly thereafter.

Started

Page 8 of 13

Page 264



Public Works lacks 
information on 
vehicle and 
equipment 
replacement for 
decision making.

2.5 Update the vehicle and 
equipment replacement 
policy or develop a separate 
policy to require staff manage 
the City’s data appropriately 
to ensure accurate complete 
information to support
management decisions.

Public 
Works

Ongoing Started:
The draft Equipment 
Replacement Policy is being 
reviewed by the new Public 
Works executive leadership 
staff for final departmental 
review. Reporting on vehicle 
replacement will be more 
thorough as the vehicle usage 
and maintenance costs will be 
more readily available, and 
user departments will be 
consulted to verify the 
replacement schedule as part 
of the annual budgeting 
process following the criteria 
identified in the replacement 
policy. The policy will then be 
reviewed by the City Manager's 
Office and citywide 
departments in Spring 2024.

Started

Page 9 of 13

Page 265



Audit Title: Rocky Road: Berkeley Streets at Risk and Significantly Underfunded
Finding Recommendation Lead 

Department
Expected or 
Actual 
Implementation 
Date

Status of Audit 
Recommendations, Corrective 
Action Plan, and Progress 
Summary

Last Period:
Status

Without significant 
additional funding, 
Berkeley streets 
will continue to 
deteriorate and 
deferred 
maintenance costs 
will increase.

1.1 Annually, conduct a budget 
analysis, based on the 
deferred maintenance 
needs at that point in time, 
to determine what level of 
funding is necessary to 
achieve the desired goals 
of the Street Rehabilitation 
Program. Report findings to 
City Council. This 
information will be helpful 
during updates to the Five-
Year Street Rehabilitation 
Plan and during the 
budgeting process.

Public Works Ongoing Partly Implemented:
The City conducts a survey of its 
pavement condition index (PCI) 
every two years. The Street 
Saver software constantly 
updates a model of pavement 
condition based on the lifecycle 
and accounting for the paving 
treatment applied. PCI 
condition was last reported to 
City Council at the adoption of 
the current Five-Year Paving 
Plan on November 28, 2023. 
Public Works will propose its 
budget needs to achieve paving 
all of the street segments listed 
in the Five-Year Paving Plan in 
the FY 25-29 CIP Budget 
Development process.

Partly 
Implemented

Without significant 
additional funding, 
Berkeley streets 
will continue to 
deteriorate and 
deferred 
maintenance costs 
will increase.

1.2 Identify funding sources to 
achieve and maintain the 
goals of the Street 
Rehabilitation Program.

Public Works Ongoing Partly Implemented:
Council adopted a policy in 
2022 that commits $8 million 
annually in General Funds to 
address street paving: The 
Adequate General Fund 
Contribution for Street 
Maintenance to Prevent 
Deterioration of Pavement 
Condition. The Five-Year Plan 

Partly 
Implemented

Page 10 of 13

Page 266



assumes this elevated General 
Fund contribution will be 
allocated. Second, Council has 
adopted new Zero Waste rates 
and a budget that included $1-
$2 million annually in rate 
revenue from the Zero Waste 
Fund to offset the impact of 
Zero Waste collection vehicles 
on the City’s pavement. This 
revenue will transfer from the 
Zero Waste Fund to the City’s 
annual paving project. 
Additionally, funding from the 
Clean Stormwater Fund will 
support green infrastructure 
street project elements given 
the new Municipal Regional 
Permit (MRP) requirements. 
According to PEI's analysis, an 
additional amount of 
approximately $12,000,000 per 
year until 2037, averaging a 
total of $30,000,000 in annual 
paving funding, is needed to 
reach a PCI of 75

Page 11 of 13

Page 267



The Streets 
Rehabilitation and 
Repair Policy is 
out-of-date and 
Public Works is not 
following it.

2.1 Update the Street 
Rehabilitation and Repair 
Policy annually and define 
who is responsible for 
ensuring the Policy is 
updated, as stated in the 
Policy.

Public Works January 2022 Implemented

The Streets 
Rehabilitation and 
Repair Policy is 
out-of-date and 
Public Works is not 
following it.

2.2 When updating the Street 
Rehabilitation and Repair 
Policy, incorporate equity 
to align with Vision 2050 
and clearly define how it 
will be applied to the street 
maintenance and 
rehabilitation planning 
process.

Public Works January 2022 Implemented

Page 12 of 13

Page 268



The Streets 
Rehabilitation and 
Repair Policy is 
out-of-date and 
Public Works is not 
following it.

2.3 Define goals and 
performance measures to 
guide the Street 
Rehabilitation and Repair 
Policy and Street 
Rehabilitation Program 
that align with other plans 
and policies relevant to 
street paving (e.g., 
Complete Streets Policy, 
Vision 2050, etc.). Regularly 
report to Council on 
performance measures.

Public Works January 2022 Implemented

Page 13 of 13

Page 269



Page 270



   

 

 
 

Communications 
 

 
 
 
 

All communications submitted to the City Council are 
public record.  Communications are not published directly 
to the City’s website.  Copies of individual communications 
are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department and 
through Records Online. 
 
City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900 
 
Records Online 
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/ 
 
To search for communications associated with a particular City Council 
meeting using Records Online: 



   

 

1. Select Search Type = “Public – Communication Query (Keywords)” 
2. From Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting 
3. To Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting (this may match the 

From Date field) 
4. Click the “Search” button 
5. Communication packets matching the entered criteria will be 

returned 
6. Click the desired file in the Results column to view the document as 

a PDF 
 


	2024-03-19 Revised Agenda - Council
	2024-03-19 Item A Acquisition of Real Property
	2024-03-19 Agenda - Council
	2024-03-19 Item 01 Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals
	2024-03-19 Item 02 Contract No. 32200150 Amendment Range Maintenance Services
	2024-03-19 Item 03 Contract No. 108090-1 Amendment  IPS Group, Inc. for Parking Management System
	2024-03-19 Item 04 Contract No. 115731-1 Amendment  SKIDATA, Inc
	2024-03-19 Item 05 Grant Application  GFO-23-606 - Charging Infrastructure for Government Fleets
	2024-03-19 Item 06 Purchase Order Extension Authorizations
	2024-03-19 Item 07 Purchase Order  Owen Equipment Sales
	2024-03-19 Item 08 East Bay Hills Wildfire Prevention Coordinating
	2024-03-19 Item 09 Adoption of a Master License Agreement Template
	2024-03-19 Item 10 Audit Status Report Response  Code Enforcement
	2024-03-19 Item 11 LPO NOD 2144 Shattuck Avenue- LMSAP2023-0007
	2024-03-19 Item 12 LPO NOD  2274 Shattuck Avenue,  LMIN2023-0003
	2024-03-19 Item 13 Audit Status Reports  Fleet Replacement Fund Short Millions
	2024-03-19 Communications



